# CLINICAL REASONING PERCEPTIONS AND SELF-EFFICACY OF STUDENTS IN A PATIENT-CENTERED POST-PROFESSIONAL DEGREE PROGRAM: A DISSERTATION OF CLINICAL PRACTICE IMPROVEMENT

A Dissertation

Presented in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the

Degree of Doctor of Athletic Training

with a

Major in Athletic Training

in the

**College of Graduate Studies** 

University of Idaho

by

Lindsay Warren

May 2014

Major Professor: Russell T. Baker, DAT

### Authorization to Submit Dissertation

This dissertation of Lindsay Warren, submitted for the degree of Doctor of Athletic Training with a Major in Athletic Training and titled "Clinical Reasoning Perceptions and Self-Efficacy of Students in a Patient-Centered Post-Professional Degree Program: A Dissertation of Clinical Practice Improvement" has been reviewed in final form. Permission, as indicated by the signatures and dates given below, is now granted to submit final copies to the College of Graduate Studies for approval.

Major Professor:		_Date
, 	Russell T. Baker, DAT	
Committee Members:		Date
	Alan M. Nasypany, EdD	
		Date
	Nicole J. MacDonald, DrPH	_Dutc
		Data
	Tim Speicher, PhD	_Date
Chair Manager (Chinager		Dete
Chair, Movement Sciences:	Philin W Scruggs PhD	_Date
		_
Dean, College of Education:	Corinno Montlo Bromloy DhD	_Date
	Comme Manue-Bronney, Fild	
Final Approval and Acceptance		
Dean of the College		
of Graduate Studies:		_Date
	Jie Chen, PhD	

#### Abstract

A dissertation of clinical practice improvement (DoCPI) is a comprehensive document that will signify the evolution of a scholarly practitioner and progress toward advanced practice. The DoCPI will include a Plan of Advanced Practice (PoAP), which is indicative of critical reflection and professional development. The PoAP will detail patient care, teaching, and research philosophies, as well as a measurable plan for attaining advanced practice in chosen areas of focus. The DoCPI will also include a summary and analysis of clinical outcomes and residency findings, illustrating a transformation of clinical practice, development of decision-making, and advancement of clinical skill and aptitude. A literature review of clinical reasoning in the health professions will represent foundational knowledge of a focus area. Finally, research products will provide evidence of development as a scholar.

### Acknowledgements

I would like to acknowledge the members of my committee, who were instrumental in completing my dissertation. Dr. Alan Nasypany and Dr. Jeff Seegmiller, for having the vision of the Doctor in Athletic Training program, and the courage to see it realized. Thank you for challenging me through this journey. Dr. Nicole MacDonald, for her understanding and support of my growth as an educator and professional. Dr. Tim Speicher, for generously providing his expertise and exemplifying advanced practice in athletic training. Finally, Dr. Russell Baker, for being my mentor, friend, and inspiration. Thank you for believing in me, sharing your wisdom and your patience, and blazing the trail. Thanks also to Matt Larkins and Tiffany Duran, for your invaluable friendship, support, and love.

## Dedication

I would like to dedicate this document, and all of the work that it represents, to my parents for their unending love and support, and my sisters for sharing with me a passion for life and incessant thirst for knowledge. I hope to make you proud.

Authorization to Submit	ii
Abstract	iii
Acknowledgements	iv
Dedication	v
Table of Contents	vi
List of Charts	X
List of Tables	xi
List of Figures	xii
CHAPTER 1. NARRATIVE SUMMARY	1
CHADTER 2. DI AN OF ADVANCED DRACTICE	7
Current Clinical Competence	7
Reflection on Professional Experience and Development	,
Reflection on Current Knowledge	
Reflection on Strengths	11
Reflection on Weaknesses and Areas for Improvement	20
Goals for My Professional Future	20 22
Athletic Training Philosophies	
Patient Care Philosophy	23
Teaching Philosophy	26
Research Philosophy	20
Justification of the Plan of Advanced Practice	20
CHAPTER 3: OUTCOME SUMMARY AND FINAL RESIDENCY FINDINGS	31
Narrative Evolution of Patient Care Philosophy	31
Residency Findings and Outcomes Summary	40
Summer 2012 Semester	40
Goals for the Fall 2012 Semester	41

## **Table of Contents**

Fall of 2012 Semester Results and Discussion	43
Goals for the Spring 2013 Semester	51
Spring 2013 Semester Results and Discussion	51
Goals for the Fall 2013 Semester	56
Fall 2013 Semester Results and Discussion	56
Residency Impact	73
Final Reflection	75
CHAPTER 4: LITERATURE REVIEW	
Clinical Reasoning Frameworks	79
Clinical Reasoning Styles	
History of Clinical Reasoning in the Medical Literature	82
The Novice-Expert Continuum	
Assessment of Clinical Reasoning	92
Future Research	97
CHAPTER 5: APPLIED CLINICAL RESEARCH PROJECT	
Methods	
Design	100
Participants	
Instrument	
Procedures	
Data Analysis	
Results	104
Self-Efficacy	
Perceived Confidence in Clinical Reasoning	
Perceptions of Clinical Reasoning Ability	
Discussion	
Self-Efficacy	
Confidence in Clinical Reasoning	
Perceptions of Clinical Reasoning Ability	111
Limitations	112

Future Research113
Conclusion114
References116
References
Appendices
Appendix 1: Plan of Advanced Practice-1, December, 2012129
Appendix 2: Poster Presentation: Functional Restoration from Trochlear
Dysplasia using the Selective Functional Movement Assessment: A Case
Study135
Appendix 3: Poster Presentation: Knowledge and Readiness of Inter-
Professional Education in Athletic Training and Nurse Practitioner Students: A
Pilot Study137
Appendix 4: Poster Presentation: Utilizing Contralateral Exercise to Decrease
pain and Increase Range of Motion in Four College Athletes: A Case
Series139
Appendix 5: Poster Presentation: Positional Release Therapy and its Affect on
Running Economy in Male Collegiate Runners141
Appendix 6: Poster Presentation: Arythmatic Right Ventricular Dysplasia
Treatment and Management: A Case Report143
Appendix 7: Poster Presentation: Injury Rate of Dancers and Need for Athletic
Trainers in Dance Programs145
Appendix 8: Poster Presentation: Treatment of Iliotibial Band Friction
Syndrome Utilizing Positional Release Therapy147
Appendix 9: Poster Presentation: The Effectiveness of Hip Muscular
Strengthening to Address Patellofemoral Pain Syndrome in the Active
Population149

Appendix 10: Core Concepts: Understanding the Complexity of the Spinal	
Stabilizing Systems in Local and Global Injury Prevention and	
Treatment	151
Appendix 11: Lasater Clinical Judgment Rubric	166
Appendix 12: Clinical Reasoning Perceptions Survey	169

## **List of Charts**

Chart 1. Patient 101 Pre/Post Treatment Active SLR Range of Motion	48
Chart 2. Patient 101 DPA Scale	49
Chart 3. DPA Scale Summary Fall 2012	50
Chart 4. DPA Scale Summary Spring 2013	52
Chart 5. Patient 302 Pain	57
Chart 6. Patient 301 Pain Free Shoulder ROM	60
Chart 7. Patient 301 Pain	62
Chart 8. Patient 304 DPA Scale Scores	64
Chart 9. Patient 304 Girth by Location	64
Chart 10. Perceived Comfort Level	70
Chart 11. Percent of Total Comfort	71

## **List of Tables**

Table 1. Sampling of Reflections	54
Table 2. Lasater Clinical Reasoning Rubric Self Scores	68
Table 3. Perceived Success with Patient Care	72

## List of Figures

Figure 1. Participant Demographic Information Detail	101
Figure 2. T-Test of Self-Efficacy	106
Figure 3. Summary of CRP	106
Figure 4. Descriptive Statistics of LCJPS-mod	108
Figure 5. Correlations of LCJPS-mod, SE, and CRP	111

### Chapter 1

#### **Narrative Summary**

One purpose of the Doctor of Athletic Training (DAT) program is to provide athletic training (AT) professionals with an opportunity to receive formal training and mentorship towards advanced practice. The degree is unique from traditional doctoral degrees in AT because it is focused in professional practice. The DAT curriculum includes both practical emphasis and theoretical emphasis, and is designed to prepare an athletic trainer as a researcher and advanced practitioner. In the program, students develop academically, while maintaining a clinical focus; creating relevant knowledge to advance their patient care, as well as contribute to the body of health care literature. The requirements of the program include: mentored clinical practice, purposeful and regular written reflection, identified advanced practice focus areas, and research products, including a dissertation, that should be disseminated to the profession.

To become an advanced practitioner, one must first identify the characteristics necessary to reach advanced practice. In the context of AT and emphasized in the DAT, advanced practice may include action research (AR) minded reflective practice, clinical skill and aptitude, commitment to continued learning, professional responsibility, focus or specialty areas, and scholarly practices (Knight and Ingersoll, 1998; University of Idaho, 2011). Combined success in each of these areas provides the foundational support for advanced practice.

Action research is essentially a problem solving process to develop wellinformed action. Action research begins with awareness and exploration of a problem within a specific context. The problem can be of the self, the environment or team, or the greater society (Koshy, Koshy, and Waterman, 2010). No matter the problem, there is stakeholder motivation for change. Reflection on the problem is performed, and a plan to address the problem and measure any change is established. The plan for change is put into action, the results of the change are analyzed, and necessary adjustments are determined through reflection. The AR cycle repeats as many times as necessary. The practitioner, with a deepening understanding of the problem, continues to identify issues and thoughtfully responds. (Koshy et. al., 2010).

The strength of AR is in its purpose to generate meaningful solutions to practical problems and, in doing so, empowers practitioners to become researchers in their context (Meyer, 2000). Action research is participatory in nature as researchers become participants themselves, working together with patients and the community to shape and design solutions (Koch, Kralik, 2006). In clinical practice, AR allows athletic trainers to remain in their natural role as clinician to produce practical knowledge and create new forms of understanding. Clinical practice is more complex and presents more realities than can be captured by theory alone. Action research promotes the testing of theory in real life clinical practice, creation of practice-based evidence, in the pursuit of better patient care and ultimately, best practice (Meyer, 2000).

Theory without action is meaningless, just as action without reflection and understanding is empty (Reason, Bradbury, 2001). Clinicians who research their clinical context may reduce gaps between theory and practice by analyzing and critically reflecting upon the implementation of theories in practice. Not only does scholarship within a clinician's practice enhance the information available to the profession, it promotes development of the clinician's clinical reasoning, enhances decision-making, and changes the clinician's practice (Wilding, Curtin, and Whiteford, 2012).

Critical reflection within the DAT requires clinicians to test assumptions and prior knowledge, explore new evidence, ask questions, and generate new ideas. In AT, reflection is a critical professional skill that engages the clinician in character development (e.g., analysis of perceptions, habits of thought, emotional engagement), as well as skill development (e.g., evaluation of skill acquisition, effectiveness, efficiency) (Benner, Hughes, Sutphen, 2008). An example of critical reflection for character and professional development in the DAT is the Plan of Advanced Practice (PoAP). The PoAP is a reflective and adaptable plan to guide the scholarly practitioner to advanced practice throughout the course of a career. Chapter 2 of the dissertation is a product of my own critical analysis and self-reflection throughout the DAT program. The result is my PoAP, which includes my strengths and weaknesses as a professional, a clinician, and a scholar. The PoAP also contains an evaluation of my clinical competence, as well as an outline of my current knowledge and past professional experience. My clinical practice philosophies and goals for my professional future are also identified. The PoAP provides a plan for attaining advanced practice that is measurable, and allows for continued reflection and assessment as it is implemented.

The first iteration of my PoAP, completed in the summer of 2012, revealed that my professional path prior to the DAT was exclusively focused on acquiring clinical skills. All of my continuing education was directed toward manual therapies, new interventions, and patient care. Although I perceived myself to be a well-rounded clinician with several skills, I was unable to say with any concrete evidence that I was adept at any of the skills I claimed to know, or that I was able to help my patients. Not only was I lacking in scholarly activity, I could not provide any proof of my utility as a clinician (i.e., my clinical skill and aptitude) beyond anecdotal evidence.

Clinical skill and aptitude are qualities of advanced AT practice (University of Idaho, 2011). One method for determining clinical skill is through the collection and analysis of global patient outcomes. Global outcomes are often assessed through clinician or patient oriented measures (Hostetter & Klein). Clinician or patient reported outcomes could be performance based (e.g., functional status), physiologically based (e.g., radius of infection), or clinically based (e.g., range of motion). Patient reported outcomes attempt to measure whether an intervention or service actually improved a patient's health or sense of wellbeing. The focus of patient reported outcomes is the needs of the patient and what they feel is important (Hostetter & Klein, 2012). Patient reported outcomes measures might be simple, such as the Numerical pain Rating Scale (NRS), or more complex like the Disablement in the Physically Active Scale (DPAS).

In the spirit of AR, with a focus on my clinical practices, I began collecting and analyzing individual patient outcomes to identify common themes and trends, recognize areas of weakness, establish a plan for change, enact change and measure improvement. Chapter 3 provides a summary and analysis of my clinical outcomes and the residency impact findings. Personal reflection, performance assessment, and analysis of global outcomes, illustrate the evolution of my clinical practice philosophies, the development of decision-making, and advancement of my clinical skill and aptitude. The collection and analysis of global outcomes data provided necessary evidence for me to reflect, identify a need for change, and adapt. The insights I gained from the PoAP, as well as the analysis of global outcomes and products of my residency, motivated me to pursue clinical reasoning (CR) as an area of focus. Clinical reasoning requires clinicians to use their critical thinking ability, decision-making style, knowledge and experience, as well as the concerns of the patient, and any surrounding context, to inform action (Benner, Sutphen, Leonard & Day 2010). Clinical reasoning is a varied and complex system of processing information and making decisions that has an effect on every clinician's diagnostic and treatment abilities (Banning, 2008).

Chapter 4 contains a review of the literature that establishes a history of CR in healthcare, discusses current concepts in CR, and explores the prevalence of CR research in the context of AT. The review of literature forms the foundational context for the action research product found in Chapter 5. Chapter 5, a mixed-methods research study, serves as evidence of the skills developed in the research classes and my development as a researcher examining clinical reasoning. Though this is only a small piece of my research activity over the past two years, it is the foundation of a line of research that I will continue for the duration of my career. Together, Chapter 4 and 5 provide evidence of my knowledge growth, development and refinement of an area in which to pursue advanced practice, and the creation of scholarly products, driven by my professional responsibility to discover and share AT relevant information.

The chapters of the DoCPI create evidence of my transformation into a scholarly practitioner on a path toward advanced practice, in fulfillment of the requirements of the DAT. By utilizing an AR philosophy, I have become a reflective clinician with the ability to analyze my patient care to achieve improved outcomes. My PoAP has established my path toward advanced practice, on which I have already accomplished several goals. Through the review of literature, I have demonstrated my foundational knowledge of my chosen area of focus. Finally, my research products (Chapter 5, Appendices 2-10) provide evidence of my development as a scholar. The end result of the DoCPI is a comprehensive document expressing the impact the DAT has had on my clinical practice, development as a scholar, and professional life.

### **CHAPTER 2**

## Plan of Advanced Practice: Accepted Version of March 1, 2014 Current Clinical Competence

**Reflection on Professional Experience and Development** 

My journey into AT began as an injured athlete in high school. Without knowledge of the medical system, I visited an orthopedist for my chronic shoulder pain, and surgery was the only treatment option presented to me. I chose not to pursue surgery and took it upon myself to search out other avenues of treatment. My treatment included physical therapy, chiropractic care, strengthening programs, and several other manual therapies I sought out on my own. During that period of searching, I experienced treatment options alternative to what an orthopedic surgeon could offer, and I gained an interest in manual therapies.

Ultimately, a combination of interventions helped me return to the pool, but it was exposure to Muscle Activation Techniques (MAT) that directed my future toward health care. In 2004, I took a 12-week intensive course to become a MAT practitioner. The instruction introduced me to isolated manual muscle testing, palpatory examinations, and postural screening for the first time. Retrospectively, it was my first experience to the clinician side of a therapeutic intervention, and a glimpse into the allied health profession. As a 17 year old at the time, I was too focused on the educational content to realize that I was comfortable in the role of a clinician and was naturally skilled at handling the human body. I was unfamiliar with muscular origins and insertions, angles of pull, and arthrokinematics, so my attention was focused on procedure. I did not consider pursuing manual therapy as a career at the time; I considered the experience part of the foundation for my upcoming education.

When I entered college in 2005 and competed at the National Collegiate Athletic Association (NCAA) Division I level, I discovered AT for the first time. The moment I walked into the AT Clinic at the University of Southern California (USC) and received specialized treatment I knew my life-long calling would be AT. There was not an AT program (ATP) offered at USC, but the Bachelor of Science in Kinesiology curriculum was focused in physiological, biochemical, biomechanical, neurological, and psychological principles. The specific coursework was the ideal foundation for my future in AT.

My undergraduate education as a Kinesiology major and athlete at USC provided me with the opportunity to see the world from both patient and clinician viewpoints. Participating in athletics at an elite level provided me first-hand knowledge of the commitment, pressures, and physical toll required of my future patients. I also gained valuable experience in the performance center with hundreds of hours spent training with strength and conditioning specialists over the course of my four-year career.

As an injured athlete, I also learned valuable lessons about health care from a patient's viewpoint. I learned that pain is personal, trust between clinician and patient is imperative, and quality care is obvious to a patient. From the clinician viewpoint, my course work in anatomy, advanced physiology, and biomechanics began laying a sound foundation for future clinical knowledge. The comprehensive nature of my foundational knowledge made me inclined to prefer whole patient care. The Advanced Biomechanics curriculum, one of the foremost in the country, taught me to consider the entire kinetic chain when performing an evaluation. I was also introduced to the original research process for the first time and was given the opportunity to work under Dr. Jill McNitt-Gray to complete my own directed research entitled "Kinematic Analysis and Comparison of the Body Weight Squat and the Freestyle Flip Turn in Elite Male Distance Swimmers."

Completing my degree at USC, however, also had its limitations. Primarily, because there was no formal ATP and very few courses emphasizing sports medicine, I was not able to learn basic AT skills offered at other institutions. Second, due to my full-time participation in athletics, my free time was significantly limited and I was not able to simultaneously apprentice as an athletic training student (ATS). Furthermore, the AT staff felt it was a conflict of interest for me to gain clinical experience while participating as an athlete. For these reasons, I decided to continue my education at USC for an additional semester after receiving my diploma in 2008. I used this extra time to gain hours of experience in the clinical setting and become eligible to apply for an AT program.

I applied for, and was accepted to, the California Baptist University (CBU) professional Master of Science in Athletic Training (MSAT) Program in 2011. The program was only 2 years old and had just attained its accreditation with the Commission on Accreditation of Athletic Training Education (CAATE). Even in its infancy, the CBU ATP had a strong curriculum focused on providing sound orthopedic evaluation skills to its students. Courses provided me additional knowledge on which to further build my educational foundation, with specific learning objectives in line with the 4<sup>th</sup> edition Educational Competencies as created by the Professional Education Council (PEC) and required by CAATE. Didactically, the program prepared me to evaluate athletic related injuries at the same level as other entry-level students in the country. Philosophically, however, the CBU ATP encouraged critical thinking, developed clinical decision-making skills, and fostered personal development and growth. The authentic and caring nature of the faculty allowed for one-on-one mentorship that I had not previously experienced in my education or athletic career.

A benefit of the CBU program was the small class size. My cohort totaled 11 students, which meant the faculty were dedicated and highly involved in our experience as students. The faculty created an environment of high expectations that pushed my fellow students and me to challenge ourselves in the classroom and in clinical experiences. The small class size also meant Preceptors, then termed Approved Clinical Instructors (ACIs), and clinical sites were not overwhelmed with too many students. As a result, I was able to have individual learning opportunities, gain experience traveling as an AT student (ATS), and had ample access to patients to build my skills as an athletic trainer. The clinical rotation opportunities provided to me through CBU's program helped me gain experience with several types of electronic medical records (EMR) software, rehabilitation philosophies, personality types, and patient demographics.

In my fifth and final semester at CBU, I was assigned to the ACI of the University of California, Riverside's Baseball team for the duration of their season. Due to the distance between the field and the AT clinic on campus, I was able to "play athletic trainer" so to speak, by maintaining a presence at the field during practices each day.

10

My responsibilities were to prepare the team, keep track of injuries and rehabilitation, communicate directly with the coaching staff, and provide manual therapies, stretching, and triage at the field.

I was also responsible for communicating the details of my, and the players', actions to my ACI each day. In reflection, since I was not directly supervised at all times, and did not get as much feedback as I could have, it was not the ideal situation. However, I was able to practice skills, make decisions, and manage a team with a fair amount of autonomy. The experience gave me a passion for working with baseball athletes and a deeper understanding of the mechanics of the upper extremity. For the first time, I personally felt the pressure of a team looking to me for help, guidance, and healing. I was given a glimpse at the real picture of AT.

Opportunities to learn new techniques were also provided to me during my time at CBU. Prior to graduation, I completed Kinesio Taping and Tecnica Gavilàn Instrument Assisted Soft Tissue Mobilization (IASTM) certification courses, and obtained Certified Strength and Conditioning Specialist (CSCS) status through the National Strength and Conditioning Association. Upon graduation, I felt ready to perform as an athletic trainer in a manner that would make CBU proud.

Shortly after passing the Board of Certification (BOC) exam, and due largely to the professionalism, awareness, and mentorship I was introduced to at CBU, I was hired by the Medical Director of the CBU ATP, Dr. Greggory Heinen, as his physician extender. Dr. Heinen was part of a 13 physician orthopedic clinic in Riverside, CA. We were able to see between 40-65 patients per day, 4 days a week. My duties were to take patient histories, document using the EMR software, and perform full evaluations, including ordering films if needed, before transferring care to Dr. Heinen. I was able to gain a significant amount of experience working with physicians in a direct care setting and adjusted to the higher level of professionalism expected in the office setting. In the 5 months that I was under Dr. Heinen's employment, I honed my patho-anatomical evaluation skills and learned the basics of reading diagnostic images (e.g., magnetic resonance imaging, radiographs). However, as I reflected on my happiness in the physician extender role, I was not content being unable to treat patients. I felt my manual therapy and therapeutic intervention skills were not being utilized. Oddly enough, it was around that time that I received a call from Pepperdine University in reference to an application I had filled out several months prior.

I chose to pursue the employment opportunity at Pepperdine, and began working there in February of 2012, so that I could return to treating patients as a clinical athletic trainer. I felt immediately comfortable working in the familiar NCAA Division I athletic setting. Working with sand volleyball, tennis, basketball and crosscountry was exciting and fun, but I was not being stimulated as a professional. I found ways to challenge myself by taking on additional patients, volunteering to complete additional duties in the clinic (e.g., elements of the budget, editing the policies and procedures manual, etc.), and serving as a Preceptor for four undergraduate students from California State University, Northridge.

In April 2012 I received a call from my mentor, who was in the DAT program at the time. He helped me to realize that I was taking on additional responsibilities because I was not feeling challenged in my patient care, specifically. As we discussed the DAT and a possible future career path into academia, I found myself, at least initially, uninterested in pursing these options as the answer I was searching for at the time. I was more intrigued by a technique he mentioned, a Mulligan Mobilization with Movement (MWM) for treating an anterior fibular positional fault in lateral ankle sprains. After researching the technique and contemplating a career shift towards academia, I was reaffirmed in my belief that better patient care was possible. As a result, I decided to apply for the DAT and began in the summer of 2012.

Honest reflection of my weaknesses and struggles in my first year of the DAT, which will be addressed in *Reflection on Weaknesses*, led me to leave Pepperdine University after 18 months of employment and pursue a position at California Baptist University in a teaching capacity in August of 2013. I began teaching the clinical courses of the core curriculum, including upper and lower extremity evaluation, manual therapies, and integrated rehabilitation courses. Starting a new job, in an area of specialty of which I had no prior training, has been challenging and fun. I have enjoyed teaching, and while I miss being a full time clinician, my patient care (on a referral basis) has improved dramatically.

As a professor, I have been encouraged daily by the brave enthusiasm that my students and I share. I have also discovered a new sense of responsibility to upholding best practice, to searching out and critically appraising clinically relevant literature, and to providing my students with the professional responsibility of pursuing advanced practice. As a clinician, I have found more time to spend reflecting on my patient cases and in search of evidence based practice (EBP) in the literature. Having time to be introspective has increased my cognitive capacity and the depth of my understanding of techniques and paradigms. I have been able to carry this into my clinical practice and my teaching.

### Reflection on Current Knowledge

To rate my knowledge and clinical ability on a continuum of novice/entry-level to expert, I would first need to define novice, expert, and the area in between. To create definitions, characteristics and elements of novice and expert need to be identified. What are the determining factors of expertise? Is an expert someone who has many years of experience? Are newly certified athletic trainers automatically novices because they have only just begun their professional journey? Do experts have better patient care, better patient outcomes, and/or more knowledge? Researching these questions helped me to discover one of my focus areas and helped me reflect more appropriately on my current knowledge.

When I first decided to apply for the DAT as a young professional (i.e., less than 3 years of experience), I believed my knowledge at the time to be intermediate, or above entry-level, in most areas. My foundational knowledge was sound and grounded heavily in biomechanics and anatomy. I had more manual therapy skills than my peers and most of my more experienced colleagues. I was practicing with ease at the Division I level, a level many ATs work their whole careers to reach, with good knowledge of emergency management and administrative duties needed to practice in the university setting. I was also confident in my evaluation skills because of my previous experience as a physician extender.

My reference for determining my clinical competence at the time, was the core competencies of AT as set forth by the PEC. I thought that if novice athletic trainers were competent, then expert athletic trainers were proficient in the skills outlined by the PEC. After the first summer's coursework in the DAT, however, I was made aware of how much more there was to learn than what was in the competencies. I realized that the core competencies, the reference point I was using to rate ability level, were meant as the most basic requirement for acquiring and maintaining certification (National Athletic Trainers' Association, 2006), and the NATA's agreed upon definition of entry-level, novice practice. Therefore, on this scale, I ranked myself above entrylevel, because my knowledge and skills exceeded those outlined by the NATA.

Retrospectively, my ability upon entering the DAT was where I originally believed it to be, but expertise was much further down the continuum than I could initially see. I proposed that expertise is a fluid continuum. As I gained more information, learned different skills, and found new depth in the skills that I already practiced, I also realized how much more there was to know. To illustrate, imagine a 5point scale: novice= 1, and expert= 5. When I began the DAT I would have considered myself to be a 2.5, an intermediate level clinician. At the end of the first summer session however, I felt supremely unknowledgeable and inept compared to the professors, and the practicing athletic trainers they were referencing, and would have reconsidered myself a 1. Over the course of the next year as I reflected, named my strengths, identified my weakness, and learned more about expert practice, I affirmed that I was above entry level. I began to understand that as I take steps closer to reaching the 5 on the scale, the scale itself is expanding. Novice as labeled 1 on the scale is concrete and will never change; however expertise will continue to expand to a 10, 25, 100-point scale and so on.

The practitioners who I had thought would be categorized as expert athletic trainers, were actually novice athletic trainers with many years of experience. Only the novice end of the continuum is easily identifiable, and AT has yet to define expertise in our context or establish a path for its achievement. The DAT curriculum taught me that the choice of how to define expertise, and the task of creating a path toward it, is mine. During my second and third evolutions of the PoAP it became clear to me that one of the purposes of the DAT program was not only to expose me to some of the current information of advanced clinical practice, but to teach me the tools I would need to continue on a path toward expertise in my chosen areas of focus that have evolved from the first iteration (Appendix 1). My current PoAP includes themes beyond the procedural knowledge needed to implement new clinical interventions. Scholarly practices, such as publishing and presenting works at conferences, are included in my new goals. Ultimately, the DAT has allowed me to being the process of becoming an advanced practitioner. Following the principles and applying the lessons I have learned, I will create a living example of expertise in my individual chosen areas of focus. My journey in the DAT became the path toward advanced practice in AT that I did not previously know existed in the profession.

### **Reflection on Strengths**

As a clinician I like to practice whole person care, not simply treat the obvious location of pain. I enjoy seeking out factors that influence or contribute to a patient's complaint. I enjoy seeing things differently and asking questions to gain a new perspective. I find that my inquisitive nature has served me well in developing a decision making process that aims to create purposeful practice. I feel that doing things without purpose or understanding is futile, and so I try to avoid the "shotgun" approach to patient care entirely. I appreciate implementing interventions independently to gauge their utility. I am open to trying new things and feel I am a lifelong learner. I have pursued additional learning opportunities, attended several conferences and events per year, and applied several new techniques to my practice since completing my professional master's degree.

My clinical strengths are my evaluation and assessment styles, manual therapy skills, and clinical reasoning. I believe my knowledge of orthopedic evaluation and surgical treatment options is advanced intermediate for an athletic trainer. I have confidence in my referral choices, which is a strength when examining patients and communicating with other health care professionals. Because of my background in biomechanics, I also have a strong understanding of the kinetic chain. I am able to utilize regional interdependence in my evaluations and practice the Selective Functional Movement Assessment (SFMA) with confidence. I have become adept at identifying dysfunction more quickly and efficiently using the SFMA system, seamlessly integrating it with my previous biomechanical knowledge.

Having a more effectual evaluation style has also allowed me to strengthen the application of the manual therapy interventions I practice, as well as incorporate new interventions. Prior to the DAT, I was practicing Muscle Energy Techniques (MET), Active Release Techniques (ART), Gavilan Instrument Assisted Soft Tissue Mobilization (IASTM), Muscle Activation Techniques (MAT), Positional Release Therapy (PRT), Proprioceptive Neuromuscular Facilitation (PNF), McKenzie Mechanical Diagnosis and Treatment (MDT) of the Lumbar Spine, Kinesio taping and joint mobilizations. In the two years of the DAT I have also learned Dynamic Neuromuscular Stabilization (DNS), Mulligan Concept Mobilizations, McKenzie MDT of the Lower Extremity, Total Motion Release (TMR), and Primal Reflex Release Technique (PRRT). I have also learned several psychosocial interventions such as Reflexercize, Emotional Freedom Technique (EFT), and Grateful Heart Technique. As a result of my preference for and training in manual therapy, I feel I have an above average or intermediate ability to use my hands in treatment.

Sound clinical reasoning has also become a strength of my clinical practice. Having the ability to perform special tests or practice several interventions does not equate to good patient care or positive outcomes. Prior to the DAT, my professional path was heavily focused on acquiring clinical skill and sound evaluation techniques. My early PoAP draft is an example of my focus in skill acquisition carried over into my first set of goals. I had a myriad of skills, and the ability to evaluate my patients, but was lacking the evidence to connect my skill level to my patient care outcomes. Completing my research project in the DAT led me to pursue clinical reasoning as one of my chosen areas of focus so that I could remedy this problem. Through the collection and analysis of patient outcomes, and a close inspection of my decision making and reasoning, I was able to identify common themes. I now have a stronger awareness of my decision-making style, my attitudes, my patients' concerns, environmental factors, and other elements that influence my clinical reasoning. Heightened awareness has stemmed, in large part, to the metacognitive practice I have developed over my time in the DAT program.

Currently my scholarly strengths are few. Public speaking is a strength of mine, and I have spoken at several conferences, even as a student. In the past year, I made a goal to present at local, state, regional, and national conferences. Locally, I was asked to participate on an expert panel at the Cedars-Sinai/USC Judy Kauffman Dance Medicine Conference. At the state level, I presented at the California Athletic Trainers' Association State Meeting and Symposium sharing the intra-professional educational initiatives my colleagues and I had executed in tandem with the CBU School of Nursing. Regionally, I completed 3 poster presentations at the North West Athletic Trainers' Association Annual Meeting and Symposium (Appendices 2-4). I also worked with several students to have 5 poster presentations (Appendices 5-9) and 1 podium presentation accepted at the Far West Athletic Trainers' Association Annual Meeting and Symposium. June 2014 will mark the achievement of my goal, with my presentation of a learning lab session at the National Athletic Trainers' Association (NATA) Annual Conference and Expo on the regional interdependence model and movement systems in evaluation.

Recently, I have discovered a new set of academic strengths through my current teaching position at CBU. I have enjoyed sharing knowledge in a classroom setting and have received positive feedback from the students in the two semesters I have taught. I have much to learn about what it takes to be an effective teacher, and every day is both a learning opportunity and a chance to provide mentorship. My new position illustrates a strength I did not possess prior to the DAT: I have the ability to step into the unknown, represent and share my knowledge while recognizing my weaknesses in a genuine manner, and act mindfully. Specific strengths are listed as follows:

- 1. I approach each patient case as an opportunity to learn, and an opportunity to be an advocate for the best interests of my patient.
- 2. I enjoy a challenge and am willing to work hard to accomplish a goal.
- 3. I am dedicated to becoming the best clinician I can be for my patients.
- 4. I am passionate about the AT profession and am dedicated to its development in allied health.
- 5. I am dedicated to enthusiastically providing up to date, evidencebased information and cutting edge concepts to my students.
- 6. I have experience in a variety of clinical settings, with a variety of patient demographics.
- 7. I am a very "hands on" clinician, proficient in several manual therapy techniques, and chose patient care over patient management.
- 8. My understanding of biomechanics, anatomy, and regional interdependence helps me meet the needs of my patients, outside of the patho-anatomical model.
- 9. I understand the meaning and value of outcomes measures in patient care, to guide my own practice, to create practice-based evidence in AT, and to help the value of AT to be recognized in health care.
- 10. I am able to integrate several paradigms evaluate and treat to accomplish whole-patient care.
- 11. I have an awareness of my clinical reasoning styles, biases, and errors, as well as a system of check and balances for continued self-evaluation.
- 12. I have a natural ease when public speaking and enjoy sharing knowledge via presentations and conferences.
- 13. I recognize the value of criticism, I want to always pursue improvement, and know that I need help to accomplish the goals I have set for myself.

Reflection on Weaknesses and Areas for Improvement

Given the chance to reflect on my weaknesses, I firmly believe that I have, and

will always have, room for improvement in my patient care and in other aspects of my

professional life. My previous employment positions made it difficult to find the time I

needed to reflect appropriately, and did not foster an environment of professional,

personal, or clinical growth. I decided to pursue a working environment that allowed

me room to develop in those areas. When I accepted the position at CBU, I discovered a

greater depth in my reflections. I was further encouraged to actively pursue

professional and personal development, which has helped me to begin to address many of the weaknesses with which I started the DAT program.

During my first semester in the DAT I accepted that many of my past clinical decisions were not based in the most current literature or best practice. Instead, my decisions were blindly founded on my education and training, despite knowing new knowledge had been disseminated. Any EBP present in my clinical practice resulted from my education at CBU, but I tended to use anecdotal evidence from patient experiences as justification for my clinical choices; my treatment choices were often unfounded. Recognizing that I want to be a clinician who makes informed, effective choices in her patient care, I have made significant strides in the last two years towards more scholarly practice.

I quickly discovered that the clinical applications of scholarly practice (i.e., outcomes collection and analysis) were not difficult for me. I was able to implement measurement tools to assess the utility of my patient intervention choices and application. I was able to identify areas of my patient care that were lacking, such as psychosocial interventions, and take steps to strengthen areas of weakness. The critical appraisal and dissemination of research, however, was a weakness of mine. I had only presented at two local conferences in my 3 years as a professional, and I knew I was capable of contributing much more to my patients, my community, and the profession. Public speaking was not a weak area of mine, but scientific writing was something I have struggled with throughout my career. To begin strengthening this area of weakness I researched, wrote, and have submitted a manuscript for publication in the International Journal of Athletic Therapy and Training (Appendix 10). I need to continue writing to improve my ability to generate organized and thoughtful products to share with my peers. I also do not have significant experience in statistical analysis. I would like to learn to more effectively utilize statistics so that I can better create and share meaningful data.

I also recognize that, as a young professional, I have communication skills and political prowess to develop. I am a trusting individual and can sometimes struggle with the professional dynamics of an office setting. I do not yet have the experience in academia to understand the motives and expectations of the administration. While I feel that I have discovered a natural ability in teaching, I need the help of others around me to foster my growth in the academic setting, which is very different from what I have been accustomed to in my past experiences with athletics.

Specific areas I would like to improve:

- 1. Improve my knowledge of EPB, specifically related to evaluation and care of neuromusculoskeletal pain and injury.
- 2. Remain committed to chasing EBP and practice-based evidence.
- 3. Create research within my patient care and publish the findings in appropriate peer-reviewed journals.
- 4. Practice scholarship by attending and presenting at conferences.
- 5. Improve my scientific writing ability to produce clear, articulate, and informative pieces to submit for publication.
- 6. Ask for help from established scholars and clinicians, and gain mentorship from experts.
- 7. Improve knowledge and application of statistical analysis.
- 8. Study the leadership and communication styles of successful clinicians and academics.

### **Goals for My Professional Future**

My current position as a professor at CBU has been exciting and new. I am

enjoying the academic side of AT much more than I had initially expected. I would like

to continue teaching in this capacity for the near future, but desire to create more

opportunities for myself to practice as a clinician more frequently. I currently see patients on a referral basis, which has suited me well for the time being. The patients that I see are usually difficult cases so they challenge me and provide an opportunity to make profound change. However, I would like to ultimately return to a greater percentage of my time being spent in clinical practice, possibly in a part-time dual professor/clinician role. I miss full-time patient care, but I enjoy working to propagate excellent manual therapy skills, clinical reasoning, and reflective practices by instilling them in students who will become the next generation of clinicians. I believe there is a need in our profession, and in education, for clinicians who set an example of expert practice, and I would like to help meet that need.

Clinically I would like to continue pursuing advanced practice in manual therapies and in clinical reasoning. I would like to help share my knowledge of manual therapy interventions by inspiring clinicians to pursue additional training in various techniques that are effective in AT (e.g., PRT, PRRT, Mulligan Concept, DNS). I would like to produce evidence for the utility of techniques in AT by collecting data in my own patient care and teaching other clinicians to do the same. I want to highlight techniques that decrease pain and increase function quickly. Athletic training is traditionally practiced in fast-paced, high patient-volume clinics, so techniques that have profound immediate effects will be intriguing and clinically meaningful to athletic trainers I would also like to continue treating patients with several clinical paradigms and create research on the integration of various complimentary interventions. I would like to continue learning new techniques and understanding new paradigms, and cultivating my depth of understanding of the current tools that I utilize. I would like to become certified in the use of the SFMA and become an expert in the evaluation and treatment of neuromusculoskeltal dysfunction. I would also like to explore the pain neuromatrix, specifically ways that clinicians might be able to create a representation of a patient's neuromatrix to explore elements that are contributing to physiological regulation of the body due to pain.

The effectiveness of any treatment is determined by several factors, such as intervention choice, application (e.g., timing, order, and repetitions), the patient's mindset (e.g., mood, relationship with clinician), and even the clinical environment (e.g., wall color, noise level and characteristics, other people in the room); all elements of clinical reasoning. Clinical reasoning of athletic trainers has not been studied in the professional setting. I would like to continue studying clinical reasoning in the context of AT, with the goal to first discern the unique elements that set AT apart from other health care professions, and to then determine elements of novice and expert clinical reasoning in AT. Specifically, I would like to utilize the "Google Glass" camera system to study clinicians practicing in real time on patients in actual clinical settings. A definition of clinical reasoning in AT will then allow me to create an evaluation tool that can be used to identify the clinical reasoning ability of clinicians, students and professionals alike.

Finally I would like to begin providing service to the AT profession in a more official capacity. I feel that if I believe there are changes that need to be made, I should be a catalyst for that change. The leadership in AT, in the form of our NATA Board of Directors, and the district and state counterparts, acts to provide direction for the
future of AT. I would like to take a more active part in helping direct our future by participating in the leadership of our profession.

#### **Athletic Training Philosophies**

Patient Care Philosophy

My patient care philosophy maintains a heart for my patients, mind for best practice and integrated techniques, and spirit of purpose. The needs of my patient are at the forefront of every decision I make. I want to relieve pain, increase function, and help my patients better their quality of life in the most effective and efficient way possible. I want to be resolute in my decision-making and clinical reasoning, so that each intervention choice has a specific purpose and can be integrated with others seamlessly, at the correct time, to accomplish treatment goals more effectively. I also want to help educate my patients to participate in their healing. I will teach my patients ways to decrease their own pain through self-treatments and modifications of daily activities, and to illustrate for them the power of their actions in their own treatment.

To live out my philosophy, I will strive to attain the qualities and characteristics of a scholar within my chosen focus areas of practice. I need to be dedicated to appraising the literature and staying up to date on concepts of pain, function, and clinical practice. I will continue seeking learning opportunities, both formally (e.g., continuing education courses) and informally (e.g., patient care), and in collaboration with other clinicians. I will record and analyze the outcomes of my choices and the clinical application of the interventions I practice, to assess my abilities. I will continually reflect on my assessments and make informed changes to improve my patient care outcomes. I will share what I discover in my patient care and the knowledge I generate, by presenting at conferences and creating manuscripts for publication in appropriate peer-reviewed journals.

# **Teaching Philosophy**

As a young professional in her first year of teaching, I am currently developing my teaching philosophy. The courses that I am teaching are clinical in nature, so there is a large influence of my patient care philosophy on my teaching style. I am learning the profound responsibility I have to my students, and to my profession, in providing them with current and accurate information. I want to instill in my students a strong sense of professional responsibility, scholarly attributes, and passion for patientcentered care. I want to share the lessons and techniques I have learned in the DAT in my teaching to provide my students with the tools they need to practice reflectively, produce evidence in their patient care, and create their own path toward advanced practice.

## **Research Philosophy**

My responsibility as a clinician is to practice research in many forms. I need to conduct research on my own clinical practices to ensure reflective patient care grounded in evidence. If I can accomplish research in my patient care, I will continue to develop within my scope and will discover increasingly successful interventions. I also need to produce evidence for interventions and clinical practices for dissemination that will advance the profession of AT. Lastly, in the pursuit of evidence in my patient care, I will strive to continue the cycle of translational research. As a researcher, I want to have the courage to be creative, to ask questions, and to explore alternative treatments that might benefit my patients or other professionals. I want to be diligent in my pursuit of truth and development of new knowledge. I must admit my assumptions, recognize my limitations, and be willing to change my ideas as new evidence emerges.

## Justification of the Plan of Advanced Practice

The PoAP provides a blueprint, with measurable benchmarks and evidence of progress, for my unique path toward advance practice. Measurable and purposeful goals guide my progress and help keep me accountable. My goals, areas of focus, knowledge, and skill will change as I continue reflecting on my practice and narrowing my specific interests. The PoAP is a way to evaluate clinical competence, outline knowledge and experience, and allow for continual growth. I am happy with my progress and excited to continue using the PoAP as a catalyst for change in my practice.

By creating and implemtning my PoAP, I have diversified my clinical skills, improved my patient care, and helped me to identify and evolve my AT philosophies over the past two years. As a result, the PoAP has directly affected my patients, my students, and my colleagues. I have been able to provide more efficient and comprehensive healing to my patients. My students have also seen the direct results of the PoAP. I have expanded the relevant information I am able to share with my students, become more reliant on EBP, and given my students tools to do the same. I teach global outcome measures, provide opportunities for reflection, and speak passionately about the future of AT. I believe the curriculum of the DAT, including the PoAP, have immensely influenced the professional development of my students.

I believe there is a dire need for the DAT in AT. The DAT curriculum and faculty

provide the tools, motivation, direction, and mentorship athletic trainers need to reach

advanced practice. I am honored and humbled to be part of the groundbreaking

movement to advance AT in health care and am excited for the future, personally and

professionally.

# Plan of Advanced Practice Areas of Focus

- I. Evaluation of dysfunction in the regional interdependence model.
- II. Use of manual therapy interventions for the treatment of neuromusculoskeletal dysfunction.
- III. Clinical reasoning in AT.

# Plan of Advanced Practice Goals

- I. Evaluation of Dysfunction in the Regional Interdependence Model
  - a. Complete SFMA course work and certification
  - b. Incorporate SFMA into clinical practice
  - c. Exhaust the literature related to movement dysfunction
  - d. Exhaust the literature related to Regional Interdependence, specifically the works of Janda, Sahrmann, and Cook
- II. Manual Therapy Interventions for the Treatment of Neuromusculoskeletal Dysfunction
  - a. Complete Dynamic Neuromuscular Stabilization: Part A, B, C courses
  - b. Implement DNS into my clinical practice, record and analyze outcomes
  - c. Complete Mulligan Concept Upper Extremity, Lower Extremity, and Advanced Courses
  - d. Implement Mulligan Concept into my clinical practice, record and analyze outcomes
  - e. Complete Positional Release Technique coursework, pass Certification Exam and Practical to become a Certified Practitioner
  - f. Complete Primal Reflex Release Technique Seminars home study course

- g. Implement PRRT into my clinical practice, record and analyze outcomes
- h. Record and analyze patient outcomes of techniques already implemented into practice: PRT, McKenzie MDT for the Lumbar Spine and Lower Extremity, TMR, Kinesio Tape, MAT, ART, IASTM, PNF, and psychosocial interventions
- III. Clinical Reasoning
  - a. Exhaust the literature related to Clinical Reasoning
  - b. Seek experts in pedagogy and clinical reasoning for mentorship and guidance
  - c. Conduct informal inquiry of practitioners (e.g., colleagues, students), identify themes
  - d. Conduct formal research of clinical reasoning in the specific context of AT
  - e. Define clinical reasoning in the context of AT, identify the characteristics of an expert of clinical reasoning in AT
  - f. Create a clinical reasoning rubric that will assess the clinical reasoning ability of AT students and professionals on a novice-expert continuum
  - g. Implement outcomes measures of clinical reasoning in clinical practice
  - h. Record and analyze the use of known elements of clinical reasoning in my clinical practice (biomedical knowledge, comfort level with clinical case, ability to articulate clinical cases) and map clinical case decision making with flow charts
- IV. Scholarship and Research in Focus Areas of Advanced Practice
  - a. Assess outcome measures of interventions guided by the SFMA in my clinical practice
  - b. Assess outcome measures of singular interventions in my clinical practice:
    - i. PRT
    - ii. IASTM
    - iii. DNS
    - iv. PRRT
    - v. ART
    - vi. PNF
    - vii. Kinesio Tape
    - viii. McKenzie MDT
    - ix. TMR
    - x. Mulligan Concept
    - xi. Psychosocial Interventions
  - c. Assess outcome measures of integrating complimentary interventions in my clinical practice
  - d. Participate as a reviewer for peer-reviewed publications (i.e., journal, text books)
  - e. Present at local, state, regional, and national professional conferences

Plan of Advanced Practice Assessment

- I. Evaluation of Dysfunction in the Regional Interdependence Model
  - a. Analyze outcomes of clinical practice
  - b. Perform critical reflection, involve others in discussion
  - c. Adjust practice based on outcomes, create new treatment model
- II. Manual Therapy Interventions for the Treatment of Neuromusculoskeletal Dysfunction
  - a. Analyze outcomes of clinical practice
  - b. Perform critical reflection, involve others in discussion
  - c. Adjust practice based on outcomes, create new treatment model
- III. Clinical Reasoning
  - a. Conduct clinical reasoning research and create manuscript for professional publication
  - b. Present clinical reasoning research at professional conferences
- IV. Scholarship and Research in Focus Areas of Advanced Practice
  - a. Conduct clinical reasoning research and create manuscript for professional publication
  - b. Collect outcomes utilizing the singular therapeutic interventions in my clinical practice and present results at professional conferences
  - c. Collect outcomes utilizing complimentary therapeutic interventions in my clinical practice and present results at professional conferences
  - d. Collect outcomes utilizing the SFMA as a diagnostic tool for dysfunction in my clinical practice and present results at professional conferences

#### **Chapter 3**

#### **Outcome Summary and Residency Findings and Impact**

The Outcome Summary and Residency Findings and Impact provide evidence of the realization of my clinical practice philosophy, growth in my patient care, and evolution toward advanced clinical practice. The summary consists of three parts: 1) A narrative describing the evolution of my patient care philosophy, 2) A chronological exploration of the coursework and residency findings from each semester, and 3) A final reflection summarizing the residency's impact for the future. In this chapter, I will discuss the global outcomes measures I collected in my patient care, share excerpts from reflections, and outline goals for each semester. The information is outlined to illustrate the cyclical nature of an action research philosophy in patient care and the compounding growth toward advanced practice throughout my time in the DAT program.

#### Narrative Evolution of Patient Care Philosophy

Learning new ways to assess a patient and apply new interventions is easy. Implementing new paradigms into an already established philosophy, however, is exceptionally challenging. I did not experience a true shift in my patient care until I studied and fully understood the philosophies behind the changes I was trying to make in my practice. For example, prior to the DAT and learning more about James Cyriax's style of evaluation, my procedures followed an approach similar to Magee's orthopedic model. David Magee, the author of "Orthopedic Physical Assessment", was a proponent of extensive and in-depth evaluations. His comprehensive style focuses on compiling facts in combination from clinical, physical, provocative, laboratory, and imaging studies. Magee's philosophy mirrored the biomedical model which pairs knowledge of the pathological process of tissue healing with information found in examination to determine the structure involved in a patient's complaint (Magee, 2013). My basic evaluation skills were initially in line with Magee and the biomedical philosophy.

Several of the special tests described in his textbook, and used in my clinical practice, have poor reliability and validity (Malanga, Andrus, Nadler, McLean, 2003; Cook, Beaty, Kissenberth, Siffri, Pill, Hawkins, 2012; Hegedus, Goode, Campbell, Morin, Tamaddoni, Moorman, Cook, 2008). Prior to learning Cyriax's philosophy I felt this oversight was just the nature of the biomedical model. After studying the model, I found that the patient care philosophy was much more in line with what I wanted mine to be. The philosophy was in line with my desire to be efficient, to not use superfluous tests, or waste time with portions of an exam that have limited reliability. I also felt that structures could not be entirely isolated and believe the clustering of several special tests is better practice for determining a diagnosis, as is part of the Cyriax philosophy (Cyriax, 1993).

Cyriax has been called the father of modern musculoskeletal diagnosis and treatment; not because he developed innovative tools, but because he was the first to take a comprehensive look at the clinical evidence and develop an integrated and systematic evaluation process (ETGOM, 2013). The purpose of the Cyriax evaluation was to assess the structural integrity of the locomotor system for lesions (Cyriax, 1993). Cyriax focused on diagnostic reasoning, placing emphasis on the importance of diagnosis in choosing the right course of treatment. In his time, primarily the 1940s-60s, clinicians could not rely on advanced diagnostic imaging (e.g., MRI, CT scan) for diagnosis, as only rather primitive radiographs were available. Inflammation was accepted as a response to tissue healing, and regarded as *the* cause for musculoskeletal pain. Cyriax's evaluative process was focused on the biomedical model, but included soft tissues and joint relationships, which was not the standard practice for orthopedists in his time. He was a strong proponent for manipulation and joint mobilization, injection therapies, and was the first to introduce transverse friction massage (Cyriax, 1993).

As medical science evolved, some of the information Cyriax used became outdated and his original evaluation processes were updated to include the new information (Pellecchia, 1996). The European Teaching Group of Orthopedic Medicine (ETGOM) has continued the tradition set forth by Cyriax by creating an evolving diagnostic tool meant to be as specific and valid as possible, a product of EBP, called Modern Orthopedic Medicine (ETGOM, 2013). I was relieved and excited to find this reference. I was not looking forward to spending more time researching best practice for the biomedical portion of my examination, on which I am relying less and less.

The biomedical examination model is valuable in part due to its terminology, which allows me to communicate with my patients in a manner with which they are comfortable. On several occasions, I have taken extra time with a patient to educate them the difference between the structural and functional integrity of their body. Patients seek to understand their injury, but often do not have any prior experience with certain terms (e.g., dysfunction) being used synonymously with diagnosis. The biomedical language also allows me to speak with other clinicians in a way that fosters understanding. When I began the DAT program, I used only biomedical terminology during class discussions and in blogs about patient cases. Slowly, a noticeable shift took place as I began to move away from this traditional labeling and started to use new terms (e.g., positional fault, motor control dysfunction, tissue extensibility) to articulate patient cases. I discovered that the biomedical model was not able to properly account for all of my patient presentations, in truth only a very small fraction, so it was of paramount importance to explore different classification systems. The more I practiced, the more complexity I recognized in my patient cases. Simultaneously, the more I was being exposed to new information, the more I discovered the underlying mechanisms for a patient's pain cannot be forced to fit nicely into a single category.

Part of my responsibility as a clinician is to decide how to best classify my patients within the paradigms that I practice. When I formally reflected on my practice, I realized that I could most patients under any most paradigms. For example, I could evaluate a patient presenting with signs and symptoms of lateral epicondylitis and treat them under the biomedical paradigm with non-steroidal anti-inflammatories (NSAIDS), progressive exercise, or simple rest (Johnson, Cadwallader, Scheffel & Epperly, 2007). Under the paradigm of PRT, I could assess tender points (TPs) and treat by releasing the TPs in the forearm, shoulder, and thoracic musculature. Under the Mulligan Concept, I could evaluate for a positional fault by laterally gliding the olecranon while the patient performed pain-free gripping (Miller, 2000). If I can classify and treat the same patient with several different paradigms (e.g., the biomedical model, PRT model, Mulligan Concept model) my choice as clinician to utilize one intervention paradigm over another must be grounded in evidence. I can document outcomes that serve as practice-based evidence in my patient care.

I also have the professional responsibility to identify weaknesses in my patient care and search for interventions that are the best fit. While reflecting on my weaknesses in my first PoAP, I discovered that I was not comfortable with my skill or knowledge in joint mobilizations. Prior to the DAT, I had not been exposed to the Mulligan Concept and was using a few isolated thrust manipulations for the thoracic and lumbar spine, and sacro-iliac joint; however, I was not utilizing the correct assessment procedures for determining whether a manipulation was warranted.I sought to remedy this by: 1) Attending the Upper Extremity and Spine Mulligan Concept course, 2) Researching clinical prediction rules for specific joint mobilizations, and 3) Implementing clinical prediction rules into my clinical practice.

Through research, collecting outcomes, and discussing clinical practice in the DAT, I learned that joint restrictions have several possible etiologies [e.g., genetic, articular, muscular, and neural](Sahrmann, 2002). My assessment must be able to determine the primary contributing factor so that my mobilization has a lasting effect. As a result, I have been more interested in Mulligan Concept mobilizations than any other mobilization paradigm because learning the concept caused a shift in my patient care philosophy regarding joint mobilizations. Upon reflection, I believe this is due mostly to the demographics of the patients I primarily see. One of the proposed mechanisms for a positional fault is the muscular and tendinous pull surrounding a joint that is imbalanced (Mulligan, 1993). Irrespective of if this is the cause or a

secondary symptom of other dysfunction, I believe most of my patients report with some kind of imbalance of this nature.

Before implementing the Mulligan Concept, I took an approach that was more in line with Sahrmann, and believed that the only way to treat this kind of dysfunction was with in-depth biomechanical analysis and weeks of corrective exercises. Several key pieces of Sahrmann's philosophy that I had previously applied in my practice were: 1) repetitive low level trauma or high magnitude stress of daily activities or deviations from normal activities can cause degenerative change, 2) balance and alignment of the joint ensure equal load and equal wear over time, lack of balance or precision in movement cause pain, 3) movements occur through the path of least resistance and there is usually a directional susceptibility of movement at each joint based on the balance of the tissues surrounding it (Sahrmann, 1998; Sahrmann, 2002).

Learning more about Sahrmann's paradigm, I realized that her view is biomedical in nature. She emphasizes using movement patterns to stress various structures to identify syndromes within her classification system. By using logically outlined diagnostic schemas, her paradigm diagnoses movement impairments, alignment and structural variations and acquired impairments, relative flexibility and stiffness impairments, and muscle and recruitment pattern impairments (Sahrmann, 1998). The four types of dysfunction are almost identical in definition to the dysfunctions of the SFMA (i.e., joint mobility dysfunction, tissue extensibility dysfunction, stability and motor control dysfunction) (Cook, 2010). I find that the SFMA is more applicable and easier to understand, though Sahrmann's procedures have inter-rater reliability (0.61 Kappa Coefficient, p<0.001) and the reliability of the SFMA has not been established (Trudelle-Jackson, Sarvaiha-Shah, Wang, 2009).

A common theme of the Mulligan Concept, the SFMA, and Sahrmann's paradigm, is the neuro-reprogramming component. Before the DAT, I did not consider the central nervous system (CNS) or the role of the primary motor cortex in my patient care. After attending my first Dynamic Neuromuscular Stabilization course (DNS, Part A), I had a better understanding of the spinal stabilizing system and the role that it plays in maintaining joint centration in the spine and the extremities. Additionally, if I had not taken this course, I do not think I would have understood neuroreprogramming and the relationship between the nervous system and coordinated muscular control.

The creators of DNS placed emphasis on coordinated muscular orchestration in the core and the effective transferring of loads. I gained an understanding of the importance of the timing and synergistic relationship of the diaphragm, pelvic floor, abdominal wall, and back muscles. Training the core for strength without first addressing proper nervous system control, may only serve to train existing nonoptimal patterns. Dynamic Neuromuscular Stabilization includes corrective exercises based in developmental kinesiology that activate the deep stabilizers to create coordinated co-activation of the entire stabilizing system by emphasizing proper breathing patterns during the exercises (Frank, Kobesova, Kolar, 2013). Clinicians practicing DNS also utilize reflex locomotion, awakening of intrinsic stabilizers and reprogramming of movement patterns by activating developmental reflexes that have gone dormant since ontogenesis (Kobesova, Kolar, 2014). Neuro-reprogramming has become an area of interest in my patient care. I realize that many of the techniques I utilize may have an underlying central mechanism, coming from the brain or spinal cord, which may not be fully understood. I feel that treating the central mechanism is the key to rapidly releasing old compensatory strategies and retraining the brain to use more efficient movement strategies. I would like to continue developing my knowledge and implementation of neuro-reprogramming tools, specifically to enact lasting change in my patients with motor control dysfunctions.

Researching the central mechanism has helped me better understand etiologies of pain and the mechanisms of interventions I was already using in my clinical practice. I believed I could make better intervention choices if I could understand the etiology of my patients' pain. When deciding how to supplement my knowledge I focused on the current scientific concepts of pain and Melzak's pain neuromatrix. In 1999, Melzak proposed the body-self neuromatrix, a neural network in the brain that integrates many inputs (e.g., sensory, visual, cognitive, instrinsic, stress-regulatory) and produces outputs (pain, sympathetic nervous system change) painting a picture of a multidimensional pain experience (Melzak, 1999).

Understanding the concept of a pain-processing framework made me more willing to adopt different clinical practices, such as psychosocial interventions. The pain framework directly affects the utility of any intervention choice I make. Sensorimotor implications, psychosocial strategies, cognitive characteristics, environmental, cultural, and socioeconomic effects are only a handful of factors that shape a person's pain processing framework, which paints the context around each injury (Melzak, 1999). Patients most likely have some form of dysfunction in every category, but it is up to me, as the clinician, to determine the primary and secondary drivers (causes) and treat accordingly.

I believe one of the keys to determining which interventions are warranted, including the timing and order of those treatments, is valuing the patient's pain. For example, one reason athletic trainers (over)use electrical stimulation is predicated on the gate theory of pain control (Melzak, Wall, 1965). While the gate control theory brings the brain in to the pain equation, it fails to label it as more than a passive observer, a simple processor of nociceptive signaling. The neuromatrix model is more comprehensive and appreciates the function of the brain in pain processing. After studying the pain neuromatrix and gaining a better understanding the peripheral and central mechanisms of pain, I have now implemented psychosocial interventions into my practice. I better understand the multi-dimensional behavior of pain and the benefit of influencing its behavior in treatment. My goal when implementing psychosocial interventions is twofold: to down-regulate the sympathetic nervous system's involvement in the physical expression of symptoms, and to confront the patient's pain neuromatrix by addressing fears, past experiences, and factors influencing the patient's processing of symptoms.

The evolution of my patient care philosophy is largely due to the knowledge I gained from the DAT course curriculum and research , and the application of that knowledge on my patient care. In the residency portion of the DAT, I collected, analyzed, and reflected upon my patient outcomes. The residency allowed me to apply new knowledge, test and assess my application, and compare my outcomes with those found in the literature. As each semester passed, I used lessons from the previous semester's residency, created goals for improvement, and incorporated steps to achieve better patient care and better understanding of my clinical reasoning.

## **Residency Findings and Outcomes Summary**

Summer 2012 Semester

During the first summer session of the DAT there was no direct patient care, but the lessons I learned unequivocally influenced my return to patient care in the fall. The lessons presented in first weeks of the program were exceptionally influential to me and provided me with the foundation I needed to enact change in my clinical residency. Prior to entering the DAT, I felt confident in my clinical ability to evaluate and diagnose under the biomedical model and to make treatment decisions based on tissue healing time frames, the inflammatory process, and the individual needs of the patient. The first summer session, however, highlighted what I did not know. I was challenged in a way that I had never experienced. One such challenge came in the form of a reading assignment, "Developing Scholarship in Athletic Training" (Knight & Ingersoll, 1998). Knight and Ingersoll presented the topic of scholarship and how it is essential to the growth and survival of the AT profession. Knight and Ingersoll defined knowledge, truth, and theory as they compile and share attributes of a scholar. More importantly, the article motivated me to reflect upon my current attitude of knowledge and truth. I came to the conclusion that I had not been as open to change as I could be which is demonstrated in an excerpt from my first reflection in the DAT on the article from July 5,2012:

While I consider myself to be open-minded, I know that I have biases. I now understand that the amount of knowledge I have is teeny tiny. For this reason I

tend to cling to it tightly and require significant proof and consistent pushing to change or meld it into something different (a nice way to say that if you are going to try to tell me that what I thought was right was actually wrong, you better come fully armed and ready to go toe-to-toe in order to change my mind). Admitting the problem is the first step to recovery: In the pursuit of scholarly attributes I cannot be only willing to hear the alternatives, but to take them as the new truth and implement them into my practice. Whether I ever attain scholarship status is irrelevant because the journey itself will make me the best practitioner I can be.

I concluded that it was my duty to challenge the assumptions that I make and to look past what I think I see and what I have learned in the past. I had to recognize my biases before I could make any change in my patient care. I decided that if I was to fully commit to the DAT program, I was going to have to challenge my biases and my choices. I had to take the responsibility of learning on myself, instead of relying on others to teach me or relying on my past education to carry me through my career. I was humbled to take such a responsibility upon myself and, in honest reflection, felt unready for such a challenge.

# Goals for the Fall 2012 Semester

My goals going in to Fall 2012 stemmed from the readings and class discussions from the summer session. I was introduced to the concept and significance of patient outcomes for the first time through several readings and I gained a better understanding of disablement models (McLeod, Snyder, Parsons, Bay, Michener, and Sauers, 2008; Hurley, Denegar, Hertel, 2011). The disablement models I chose would make the measures I was attempting to quantify more valid and reliable, as well as easier and more efficient to implement. McLeod et. Al (2008) outlined different models and explored how disablement models might become part of the foundation for enabling EBP in AT. My implementation of disablement models would help produce the bidirectional flow of information that outcome assessments create in translational research (McLeod, Snyder, Parsons, Bay, Michener, Sauers, 2008). The objective of translational research is to provide the connection between the laboratory setting and current clinical practice and clinical practice to the laboratory. Open communication in the form of research, both from the researcher to practitioner and from practitioner to researcher, helps create best clinical practices by ensuring effective use of laboratory findings in real world settings.

I accepted that outcomes, data, measurements, and analysis had all been missing from my patient care. Even when working under an orthopedic surgeon, with high expectations for correct and thorough documentation, disablement models and patient outcomes were never discussed. I knew that if I could not determine with certainty that the interventions I was prescribing were working, I might learn new skills, read new studies, practice new interventions, and, potentially, never improve my patient care.

One of my goals going into the Fall 2012 was to determine the efficiency of my treatments by collecting and analyzing patient outcomes of treatment. I planned to implement the Disablement in the Physically Active (DPA) Scale, at regular intervals during treatment, to gain a better understanding of my patient's perceived ability or disability in four main categories: impairments, functional limitations, disability, and quality of life (Vela & Denegar, 2011). My second goal was to prescribe one treatment at a time, avoiding the "shot-gun" approach of treatment with every tool possible, in the hopes that one might work. Using one treatment at a time would help me to assess each intervention singularly. Lastly, I wanted to develop an evaluation protocol that

was more inclusive of the regional interdependence paradigm, with less reliance on the biomedical model. My initial goals, while broad, demonstrated reflection, implementation of new information, and open-mindedness. I was motivated to expand my knowledge, instead of protecting my personal interpretation of information and demonstrated scholarly attributes and characteristics (Knight, Ingersoll, 1998). Fall 2012 Semester Results and Discussion

I began the DAT comfortable using several manual therapy interventions, but had never assessed their utility, or my ability in using each intervention in practice. Returning to clinical practice in the Fall 2012, I had a chance to start critically analyzing my practice. The sheer numbers of patients for whom I was responsible made it intimidating to consider collecting data. I began by experimenting with a new technique, exploring the McConnell fascial unloading technique, and collecting evidence with my outcomes of PRT. I also attempted to use the DPA Scale on all of my patients complaining of musculoskeletal pain, at their initial evaluation and one time each week until discharge.

The McConnell fascial unloading technique, presented to us by a second-year DAT student in the summer, was a taping application to unload the fascial tissue in the area of the hamstring muscle belly. I hypothesized that I could utilize the technique for the treatment of any minor fascial injury, not only injuries in the posterior thigh. In the first few weeks of Fall 2012, I had four cases of first-degree muscle strains in varying locations: distal adductor, vastus medialis, proximal quadriceps, and paraspinals. Each patient presented with localized point tenderness, pain without a loss of strength with manual muscle testing, and full range of motion (ROM) with pain at end range. I asked each patient to identify a functional movement that would aggravate their pain. I applied the tape, changing the tension, angle, shape, and location for each patient to best unload the fascia of the involved area. The patients would then reload their tissue by performing their aggravating functional movement. All four patients experienced full resolution of their symptoms on day one and were able to return to activity without restriction the same day.

I began studying PRT just two months before starting the DAT, so I had limited clinical experience with the technique. The nature of PRT as an indirect technique seems counterintuitive to traditional manual therapies that evoke pain during treatment (e.g., Active Release Technique, Rolfing, Instrument Assisted Soft Tissue Mobilization). I found I felt comfortable using an indirect intervention, especially for patients with very active TPs. One patient I treated successfully with PRT was a 22 year-old right-handed baseball pitcher with lateral elbow pain. While throwing during a game 2weeks earlier, he had experienced posterior and lateral elbow pain and removed himself from the game. At the time of my assessment, he complained of pain posteriorly and, most significantly, at his radiohumeral joint. He was also tender to palpation medially, along his flexor bundle. He noted that he had residual tightness from a previous flexor strain he had suffered over a year earlier. He displayed noticeable extension loss and was unable to extend without pain, passively or actively. The first day of treatment consisted of PRT to release TPs at the flexor/pronator musculotendinous junction (MTJ) and bicipital aponeurosis. He reported a resolution of his flexor tightness for the first time since his initial strain and that he "felt great," but stated he needed to throw to make sure. After throwing the next day, he reported

not having any pain, but admitted to being "careful." I re-examined for TPs and found one that elicited his first jump sign (an indication to prioritize treatment of the area), located about 1/3 the distance of his forearm distally, along his medial ulnar border. I treated the TP with PRT. After treatment, he gained 8° of elbow extension and, when compared bilaterally, had full pain-free elbow extension since his initial injury. He could not find a position or motion that elicited his pain. On Day 3, the patient had maintained half of the extension that was gained with PRT, had thrown without pain or stiffness, and did not present with a return of any of the previously treated TPs in the next 30 days while under my care.

I shared the previously mentioned cases in two blogs entitled: "Thoughts Upon Returning," August 6, 2012, and "Were not in Kansas Anymore," August 17, 2012. My anecdotal case series of the fascial unloading tape application and the case of lateral epicondylar pain treated with PRT were far from ideal examples of outcomes collection, but each situation provided exceptional learning points. I did not collect pain data using the Numerical Rating Scale (NRS) or patient-oriented evidence using an outcomes instrument (e.g., DPA Scale) to allow for in-depth assessment of my outcomes in any of my cases. I learned that, although I could reflect on the patient cases and find personal meaning, I could not create any clinical meaning without evidence. In the case of the baseball player with lateral elbow pain, I also fell short of collecting data prior to providing treatment. I had not formulated a plan before starting treatment with the patients, so I was unable to determine the effectiveness of the interventions across all of the relevant variables of patient care.

At the time, I was more focused on the clinical application of the technique than

the clinical implications of the technique. With reflection, I decided that I needed to be more purposeful in my evaluation and documentation if I wanted to create evidence supporting the therapeutic effects of my intervention choices and application. I devised a 6 step plan for my initial evaluation appointments with new patients that included: 1) Otaining an initial DPA Scale, 2) Identifying primary, secondary, tertiary complaints, 3) Documenting relevant data such as NRS and specific goniometric measurements, 4) Completing the SFMA and breakouts 5) Determining an outcome measure to utilize that is specific to the patient's complaint or limitation, 6) Performing an initial treatment for the patient's primary complaint and collecting post treatment measurements.

After implementing a specific plan for collecting pre-treatment outcomes, I was able to perform data collection with much more success. One case that exemplified the change was Patient 101, an 18 year-old basketball player who reported with left hip and low back pain. He first began experiencing pain 2 months prior to reporting in the clinic after falling from a moving golf cart onto a concrete surface, landing on his left buttock and hip. His primary complaint was pain with most ranges of motion, as well as sitting for long periods and any rapid movements. I performed a postural assessment of his pelvic alignment with the March Test, Forward Bend, and active and passive SLR in supine. The patient displayed a visibly posteriorly rotated left ilium in standing that was accentuated during the Forward Bend and March tests. The patient had a positive active straight leg raise (SLR) with 52° of right hip flexion, with pain over the left SI joint Passive SLR was pain-free through full ROM compared bilaterally. Slump test was also positive in the initial thoracic/lumbar slouch positions without added cervical flexion. Muscle testing of the psoas, iliacus, and deep spinal stabilizers was performed with slight weakness against resistance. He reported a DPA Scale score of 37 at the time of the initial assessment. He reported his pain was a 5/10 at worst and a 0/10 at best.

I began my evaluation with the McKenzie MDT methodology because I was unsure of the influence the spine might be having on his symptoms. The findings of the MDT screening were inconclusive, so I moved on to the SFMA. I performed an SFMA and discovered core and active hip flexion stability and/or motor control dysfunction (SMCD).

Treatment 1 was a lumbo-pelvic MET mobilization to restore positioning of his posteriorly rotated ilium. After treatment, he was pain-free and his active SLR increased to 61°. I taught the patient a self-mobilization that he could do throughout the day and asked that he complete the treatment at least 3 times daily, or with any return of his symptoms. The patient returned 3 days later with active SLR ROM increased to 65° (Chart 1). After myofascial decompression of his anterior hip, he further increased his active SLR to 74°.

Due to his newfound pelvic positioning and increased ROM, I felt it important to prescribe him a pelvic girdle stabilization exercise program. I was able to see him again ten days later. He did not report any pain with daily activities. His active SLR was 68° and increased to 83° after being treated by the team chiropractor with lumbar and left sacroiliac mobilizations. A week following chiropractic adjustment, after continuing with his home program, he was able to return to practicing with the team without any pain. His DPA Scale had decreased to a score of 10 (Chart 2) and he was able to



perform the SFMA movements without displaying dysfunction.

Chart 1. Asterix (\*) denotes range of motion returned to within normal limits.



Chart 2. Asterix (\*) denotes a minimally clinically important difference in DPA Scale score.

Patient 101's case represents a successful clinical intervention, but also improved outcomes collection, and successful implementation of my plan for initial evaluation procedures. I was able to perform the SFMA, collect ROM measurements before and after each treatment session, and be consistent collecting a DPA Scale score. During the Fall 2012 semester, I collected data from a total of 50 patients: 27 with acute complaints, 17 chronic complaints, and 6 illnesses. Of the 44 patients with musculoskeletal complaints, I was able to collect DPA Scale data on 24 (Chart 3).



Of the 24 patients with DPA Scale data, only 15 of them had more than a single DPA Scale recorded. Of the 80% (*n=12*) of the patients who experienced a decrease in their DPA Scale initially, 42% (*n=5*) subsequently experienced an increase. Only one patient ultimately reached a zero score. Overall, I was not happy with these results for two main reasons. Firstly, my interventions were not as effective as I had thought. Almost half of the patients who did have a decrease in DPA Scale had an increase thereafter, which could be due to several things: my initial diagnoses were incorrect, I was not choosing the correct interventions, I was not correctly utilizing the interventions, or there were other elements effecting patient cases that I was not addressing. Secondly, I felt that the data I collected was not complete. I did not feel that I was getting a true picture of my patient care because I did not collect complete data on more than half of my patients.

Goals for the Spring 2013 Semester

Moving forward to the spring semester, I wanted to continue collecting outcomes data and create more meaningful clinical reflection. My initial attempts at data collection were disorganized due to poor planning and being intimidated by the process. In contrast, I was fearless in implementing the new techniques. I was not afraid to attempt an intervention I had not tried before, or experiment with my patients, but I was afraid of collecting evidence of intervention results. To produce information with any depth, however, I needed to be more focused and consistent in my efforts to collect global outcomes and identify patient and clinician centered goals. Spring 2013 Semester Results and Discussion

In the Spring 2013 semester, I treated a total of 56 patients in the AT clinic. I collected data on 40 patients, but decided to implement exclusion criteria to get a more accurate glimpse of my direct patient care. I chose to exclude 5 patients who were treated by AT students, under my direct supervision or the supervision of another AT. I excluded an additional 5 patients who discontinued their treatment because they were either cut from their team or transferred to another university. I excluded 3 patients due to non-compliance issues, 2 patients who complained of general medical problems, and 1 that did not receive consistent care because I was traveling with another team. A total of 16 patients were excluded accounting for 40% of the global outcomes that I had collected, which left 24 patient data sets (Chart 4).

Of the 24 patients, I collected DPA Scale data on 13. Patient 223 was a soccer player suffering from post-concussion syndrome, which I inherited from a frustrated colleague. Patient 223 could be considered an outlier, because she was not suffering from neuromusculoskeletal pathology, and was being treated by a neuropsychologist. I included her outcomes because I was treating her main complaint, anxiety, with psychosocial interventions. Without her data included, the DPA Scale decreased in 75% (n=9) of the patients after the first treatment, with no patients experiencing a subsequent increase on the next treatment. Some patients did experience an initial increase in DPA Scale (33%, n=4), but several patients reached a 0 DPA Scale score (50%, n=6).



The negative trend of Chart 4, compared to Chart 3, illustrates positive patient outcomes. The efficacy of my intervention choices and application, coupled with the purposeful collection and analysis of outcomes data created is illustrated by the change in my outcomes. In Fall 2012, I was only able to resolve one patient's DPA Scale scores to 0 (6% of patients), but achieved a 0 DPA Scale score for 6 patients in the spring (50% of patients). In the Fall 2012 semester I was able to achieve initial decreases in DPA Score with 80% of my patients, but almost half of them (42%) subsequently increased. In the Spring 2013 semester I achieved initial decreases in 75% of my patients, and none saw a subsequent increase.

To address the weaknesses of my practice and outcomes collection identified in Fall 2012, I began completing more focused reflections of patient cases and attempting to group my patients into classifications. An example of my patient reflections is in the case of 5 patients who all reported to the clinic at different times complaining of knee pain (Table 1). The reflections were valuable because I was able to see the qualitative data I had created about my decision-making process alongside the patients' outcomes of treatment. I identified several patterns in my patient care by reflecting this way: 1) I made decisions based on the time constraints I had with each patient, 2) I continued to deepen my understanding of new interventions and was able to see how I would choose to implement a different treatment, and 3) I was able to identify the value of treatments I had not yet learned and saw a need in my patient care for additional paradigms/intervention strategies.

Patient ID	Reflection
217	"It should not take me 8 days to figure out that someone's IT band tightness is causing lateral knee pain. Especially because I have seen this before in patients with the very same complaint, and similar characteristics. Also knowing the patient's history with low back problems, I have seen a clear pattern in other low back pain patients having tight external hip rotators and tight IT bands, that can sometimes cause painful knees."
218	"Patient complained of very similar issues when compared to a previous patient. I was able to make the connection sooner and ask her to roll out her IT band to see if that helped. It did very much, enough that she added it to her daily cool- down routine and has not had problems since."
224	"This is yet another patient that I would have done some different things. Firstly, it took me until the third treatment to be able to SFMA her- this is a problem. Although I feel I reached the same conclusion, I should have done this at the start. Further, I am not sure the IASTM was warranted for this patient. I might have tried TMR first because much of her dysfunction was muscular as shown by the significant changes elicited with muscle energies. Looking back I do not believe the fascia played a large role and if I were to see the same patient again, I would not jump right to that as the course of treatment."
225	"With this patient, it is clear that I was looking for a quick fix. Because she was a key player and we were in the heat of conference play, there was not much time to dedicate to treating her (much of the problem came with her school schedule being very demanding and not having time to come in for treatment). I am disappointed in myself looking back on this patient for many reasons: 1) Por documentation. I was clearly rushed and did not take the time to note each encounter with her, and the ones that I did put down are of very poor quality. 2) I did not take the time to run her through the SFMA, nor did I record global outcome measures. 3) There is very little clinical reasoning going on with this patient. It seems as if I was stumbling around in the dark just trying to find what might work to get her to be pain free long enough to practice or play. Even with the McConnell taping, the reasoning was that nothing else we were doing was working, and her pain was mostly medial- in an attempt to decrease pull or stress on that area I tried the taping technique on a whim. It performed very well and after 4 days of wearing the tape she was actually completely pain free. She sustained this change through the last 5 games (while continuing with the rehab protocol). Her pain returned only after her season had ended and she was not coming in to rehab or get any treatment. Was there a positional fault? Possibly caused by her systemic hypermobility? Over all I am very disappointed in the course of treatment for this patient."
238	"This patient was a perfect example of a MDT dysfunction. It was really fun being able to try something new and have it work so profoundly. The patient was also surprised by the results. She did not have any other com- plaints and did not feel the crunching any longer throughout the rest of season."

Table 1. Sampling of Spring 2013 reflections; patients complaining of knee pain.

Even though my patient outcomes were displaying change, I felt the change was slower than what I considered necessary to achieve my goals in the DAT. In several blog posts I referenced my overwhelming workload and my struggle to find the time I needed to reflect on patient cases and invest in my DAT work. I was not reaching my potential and I needed to be honest about my limitations. During the Spring 2013 semester, I also began seriously researching clinical reasoning and decided to make it an area of focus on my path to advanced practice. An excerpt from a blog post entitled "Musings of a Reflective Noob", February 23, 2013, illustrates that I was starting to understand the importance of identifying the limitations of my context.

*In a previous journal entry about the DAT early last semester I lamented* that the process for each of us is in and of itself action research, not simply an avenue for learning action research, but a way to partake in it without having any knowledge of the fact. We are the experiment. Stepping into the classroom day one I had no idea what I was getting myself into. I did not think I was going to understand most of it. It has now hit home with such an incredible force, because the topic resonated with a deep internal struggle I didn't (and still don't) fully understand how to articulate even to myself. So much of this program for me is attempting to recognize and deeply understand every facet of what I believe; how it feels to me, what I choose to do with it, when and why and how I explain it to others, etc. All the while knowing that it is a living thing, ever changing, impossible to predict a year from now, and dependent on context. It is the task of defining and verbalizing what I believe in my own context (after recognizing that I live in a context unique only to myself), then being able to relay it to others in a way they may understand and relate to through their unique context, that will help me cement my truth before it inevitably like sand through my fingers turns into something new.

I recognized that I was making decisions in my professional life that were hindering my clinical growth and kept me from fulfilling my goals in the DAT. I was not performing to the standard I set for myself and needed to make a drastic change to redirect my path. I decided to leave the university clinical setting and pursue a new avenue in education that would foster my professional growth and provide me with more mentorship and accountability.

#### Goals for the Fall 2013 Semester

My goals for Fall 2013 were to change my context by changing jobs, streamline the organization of my data, and commit to more consistency in my data collection and reflection.

## Fall 2013 Results and Discussion

I began the Fall 2013 semester with a blank slate. I had just started a new job, was putting aside regular time for my coursework, and found the time I needed to appropriately reflect on my patient care. The depth of my understanding of the techniques I had been studying increased exponentially, as did my ability to use them in my patient care. To illustrate change, three patient cases of increasing complexity are described.

The first patient, Patient 302, was an AT student presenting with constant pain in the eyes and sub-occipital region. She went to bed the night before with a headache and woke up in the same amount of pain. She could not remember any external force mechanism, did not complain of aura, or report having a history of migraines. Upon examination, she was only slightly limited in her active cervical ROM and complained of some general stiffness. She had some tenderness throughout the sub-occipital region without directional preference (i.e., right or left side) and her pain increased with continued palpation. I applied the Mulligan headache sustained natural apophyseal glide (SNAG) for twenty seconds. The patient's pain decreased from a 7/10 on the NRS to a 4/10 in a single treatment (Chart 5). As she was in between classes, she was not able to stay for another treatment. The following day, she reported that her pain had continued to subside throughout the rest of the day until she was pain free. One month later she reported no recurrence of those headache symptoms.



Chart 3. Asterix (\*) denotes a minimally clinically important different for the NRS.

I was happy with the outcome for Patient 302, though I was disappointed that I did not have enough time to perform a second set of SNAGs. With a 43% decrease in her pain following a 20 second treatment, I was fully confident that additional treatments would abolish her pain during that treatment session. I was happy to hear her pain continued to decrease throughout the day and that she was pain free the following day. I believe this is a good representation of how effective treatment can be if the correct classification is made and an appropriate intervention is applied in a timely fashion.

Prior to the DAT, I would not have been equipped to effectively classify and treat patients presenting with headache symptoms. During the summer 2013 semester I had an opportunity to observe another clinician treat a patient with migraine headaches and felt unprepared to do so myself. I looked to the literature to learn more about evaluation and treatment of migraines and cervicogenic headaches. Jull, Bullock-Saxton, and Darnell (2007) reported the collective presence of restricted movement, palpable upper cervical joint pain, and impairment of the cranio-cervical flexion test is 100% sensitive and 94% specific to identify a cervicogenic headache (P<.001). The same impairments were not found in patients suffering from migraine or tension type headaches. With this new information, I felt much more capable to differentially diagnosing headaches. I believed Patient 302's headache was cervicogenic for four reasons: 1) No history of migraine symptoms, 2) Her symptoms were present from suboccipital region to eyes, 3) Palpation increased her headache pain, 4) Pain was not throbbing. All of these are major criteria set forth by the Cervicogenic Headache International Study Group (Sjaastad, Fredriksen, Pfaffenrath, 1998).

I chose to perform a Mulligan SNAG over PRT, which could have been warranted given her suboccipital tenderness, because there was no directional preference to her tenderness when compared bilaterally. Additionally, the TP pain with palpation was not 2 times more severe when compared to the surrounding tissues, which would have been an indicator for treatment with PRT . With more diffuse tenderness, I suspected the cause to be poor resting joint position. I also believed TPs may have arisen that would need releasing in order for the joint mobilization to be long lasting had her positional fault not been addressed. A single efficacy study has been performed on the self-sustained C1-C2 SNAG. Researchers took a sample of 32 subjects and randomly placed them in treatment (self-SNAG C1-C2 applied twice daily) or placebo groups. After 4 weeks, the treatment group reported significantly lower headache index scores than that of the placebo with an overall 54% greater reduction (Hall, Chan, Christensen, Odenthal, Wells and Robinson, 2007). I found it interesting that the measurements were taken so far apart, seeing as the effects of the Mulligan Concept mobilizations should be profound, immediate, and long lasting (Mulligan, 2004). Compared to this study, my patient experienced a more rapid resolution of pain and did so in less than 12 hours from a single clinician applied SNAG. Upon follow up one month later, she had not had any recurrence of headache. I was very happy with the outcome, as was my patient.

I experienced another influential interaction with Patient 301, a 43 year-old hockey player who had experienced 11 months of right shoulder pain following a violent check into the boards. He remembered experiencing a few days of intense pain immediately following the injury, but this pain decreased slowly with rest and ibuprofen. He did not seek any other evaluation or treatment and reported that while his pain had decreased in intensity, it had not subsided and had been constant since the initial incident. He was hesitant with his ROM and was limited due to pain. He experienced pain 6/10 (NRS) with 70° of forward shoulder flexion, pain 6/10 with 90° of abduction, and pain 2/10 at rest. Upon palpation, he had several point tender areas throughout the shoulder including pectoralis major and minor, supraspinatus, infraspinatus, upper trapezius, and posterior capsule. I conducted a biomedical exam and found minor posterior laxity, positive crepitation with active compression and rotation, but neither test increased his pain. I believed that he most likely suffered a labral tear, but that the tissue healing time frame had passed and he was no longer in an inflamed state. Based on my findings, I concluded that his CNS was causing guarding of the joint, resulting in restricted joint motion, and I began treating with TMR.



Chart 6. Asterix (\*) denotes within normal limits range of motion.

The patient's pain free range of motion (Chart 6) changed immediately from 90° of abduction and 70° of flexion, to 110° and 180° respectively, with a single round of TMR treatment. Subsequent repetitions of the TMR movements did not elicit any additional gains. I decided to incorporate a mechanical glide and the patient gained an additional 10° of abduction. The patient's NRS scores (Chart 7) decreased to 0/10 with flexion or at rest, and to a 2/10 with abduction. Pain with abduction further decreased (1/10) with an additional round of TMR. With the application of the final mechanical technique, the patient's pain in all motions and at rest was abolished and remained that
way through the following day. One month later, he reported maintaining the pain-free motion.

The key facets of Patient 301's case presentation that led me to my initial treatment choice of TMR were: 1) The tissue healing time frame for labral tear was long past and provocation tests to the labrum were not painful, indicating there was no inflammatory process occurring in the labral tissue, 2) Tests for posterior stability were more lax on the right, compared bilaterally. Posterior stability of the shoulder is not stressed during activities of daily living unless they include simultaneous flexion, adduction, and internal rotation of the shoulder. Posterior translation is dynamically resisted by the supraspinatus, which may explain his tenderness there (Tannenbaum and Sekiya, 2011), 3) Because of the duration of his pain, almost a year, he most likely developed compensatory patterns, and 4) The compensatory movement patterns were most likely causing the current pain, not the labral lesion.

I believed the initial plateau in the patient's improvement was due to the mechanical deformation of tissue in the labrum. Using the concepts of MDT and Mulligan, I decided to attempt move the deformed labral tissue to a better resting position by manipulating the joint while the patient performed active movement in the opposite direction of his aggravating motion. I then educated the patient to avoid movements that would oppose the natural resting position of the lesion.



Chart 7. Asterix (\*) denotes minimally clinically important difference for the NRS.

Dr. Tom Dalanzo-Baker's TMR has a myriad of anecdotal evidence of patient outcomes, including reduction in pain, increased strength, and increased ROM. Minimal research, however, has been published on the actual practice of the technique. The theory of the technique is grounded in the neurological study of cross-education (Munn, 2000; Uh, 2000; Pink, 1981), and more recently the application of fluid dynamics theory in physics to the fascial system (Schleip, 2003). Dr. Dalanzo-Baker shares several video testimonials of patients whose years of pain were resolved in one treatment. Comparatively, my results were equally profound. I am still amazed at the ease and speed of this treatment, along with the ability of patients to learn to self-treat. I was unable to get a DPA Scale on this patient because I was treating him outside of a clinical setting and I do not feel the absence of a DPA Scale score hindered my evaluation. Without a DPAS, however, I limited in my ability to assess my overall effectiveness and to compare this patient's outcome to others. Ultimately, I was happy with the outcome, especially incorporating two different paradigms in the same treatment session.

Patient 304 represents my most complex patient case of Fall 2013 semester and is a good example of my clinical growth. An 18 year old male college freshman with chronic patellar dislocation, due to bilateral trochlear dysplasia, presented to the clinic after complications following right trochleoplasty and surgical restoration of the medial patellofemoral ligament 3 years prior (Dec, 2009). Due to the procedure, he was unable to participate in his sport activities (i.e., baseball and football). While jump roping, four weeks after the initial surgery to his right knee, he sustained a patellar fracture. Two screws and a length of wire were used to repair the patella. Patient 304 suffered from chronic swelling and bursal irritation, so the wire was removed 3 years and 8 months after the patellar repair.

He reported to the clinic 4 weeks after the wire removal procedure. Examination revealed major atrophy of the right thigh musculature compared bilaterally. The patient did not report tenderness to palpation, but the patient rated his pain 4/10 on the NRS at the end range of his available active knee flexion (127°) and reported pain 7/10 with activity. Neurological screening was normal for strength and sensation, except for a small area of paresthesia immediately surrounding the surgical scar, which is to be expected. The remainder of the patho-anatomical exam was otherwise unremarkable. The Selective Functional Movement Screen (SFMA) was performed, and indicated: spinal weight bearing stability or motor control dysfunction, thoracic extension stability or motor control dysfunction, right knee joint mobility or

63

tissue extensibility dysfunction, and proprioceptive deficit at the right ankle. I also collected DPA Scale scores (Chart 8) and girth measurements (Chart 9).





Due to the complex case presentation, I chose to implement several paradigms to create an integrated plan to address the different needs of the patient. Treatment included Mulligan Concept mobilization with movement, core motor control training, instrument assisted soft tissue mobilization, and psychosocial interventions. Full restoration of function was achieved over 4 weeks and total of 7 treatments. The patient's DPA scale decreased from 28 to 2, and the patient gained a total of 10.5 cm of girth (Appendix 2).

Trochlear dysplasia is rare and considered to be an underdiagnosed cause of recurrent patellar dislocation, especially in children and adolescents. Treatment is usually surgical to restore the trochlear grove. Surgical reconstruction of the medial patellofemoral ligaments is also recommended in cases which medial knee stability has been compromised (Farr and Gomoll, 2014). In this case, the subsequent patellar fracture further complicated the case. As incidence rates of patellar fracture after surgeries are not documented in the literature, it is plausible to consider it a rare occurrence. Patellar fracture should be considered a risk factor in patients undergoing medial patellofemoral reconstruction.

The SFMA is also not currently well established in the literature. Due to the lack of evidence surrounding the utility of the SFMA, its sensitivity is not known. The patient experienced full restoration of range of motion, strength, and function, was pain free and able to return to activity without limitations, suggesting the value of the SFMA as an evaluation tool and patient outcome measure.

Lastly, the clinical integration of several treatment paradigms sets this case apart from others. Each of the interventions I used had a specific purpose in the whole-

65

person care of this patient. Clinically, patients are seldom treated using a single intervention. The purposeful use of several treatment interventions differs significantly from the "shot-gun" approach of using several treatments in the hopes that one might help. An integrated approach, such as this one, is focused on the individual problems/dysfunctions of the patient and each intervention is evaluated through specific patient outcomes measures. I was happy with this patient case because I was able to see how a more complicated rehabilitation program can still integrate several philosophies to treat multiple goals. In this patient case, there were a number of goals and causes of dysfunction, and many ways to treat each. I do not believe that I would have been able to treat this patient 12 or even 6 months ago. The approach that I took was so integrated; it took a clear mind and clear goals to create. I did not have the mental capacity or clinical strategies I needed to produce these outcomes with this patient prior to the DAT.

Prior to the DAT, I also would not have had the interest, or the knowledge or skill needed, to assess characteristics of my clinical reasoning. I implemented additional outcomes to study my own clinical reasoning style within my patient care, so I could learn more about my decision-making and the elements that were influencing my patient care. An excerpt from a reflection that I wrote as part of the semester's coursework describes the transformation:

Old Lindsay would have been happy with treating patients with whatever her brain thought would be the best intervention. That is no longer the case. Now every time my processor shoots me out an idea I want to know its origin, the reasoning behind it, three possible outcomes of that idea, and if that idea is part of a pattern...this has been one of the best semesters for me in my patient care, not because of amazing outcomes or grand discoveries, but because I was actually able to slow down, focus, and think. Within my area of focus, clinical reasoning, this chance to stop running full steam has been what I consider to be the determining factor of my progress this semester. Being able to space out the time between patient visits, and make purposeful changes in the nature of the work I am doing between them, has given me the necessary time to actually think indepth about each patient interaction and the facets therein. Before this semester I was very focused on the cause and effect relationships between my interventions and my outcomes. It was a want for more depth of understanding that drove me to choose clinical reasoning as my area of focus. It isn't enough to simply try new interventions and discover their outcome. I want, at the very least, to understand why I am choosing specific interventions with specific patients, and what my expected outcome will be. If I cannot do that then I am not a practitioner, I am a technician.

To facilitate reflection and learning, I incorporated several new outcomes into my data collection that were aimed at learning more about my clinical reasoning processes. I chose to focus on elements of clinical reasoning that are well studied in professional practice: the ability to articulate clinical cases, biomedical knowledge (Patel, Evans, Groen, 1989) and comfort level with clinical case (Jensen, 1992). With each patient case, I graded myself using the Lasater Clinical Reasoning Rubric (LCRR, Appendix A), attempted clinical reasoning flow charts using the reasons I made each decision with to map my train of thought, and rated my comfort level with each case on a scale of 0-5 (0=no understanding, total discomfort, 5= total understanding, entirely comfortable) with reasoning substantiating my feelings. Each outcome would help me identify context specific elements of my clinical reasoning that were influencing my patient care.

Lasater Clinical Reasoning Rubric											
	Patient	301	302	303	304	305	306	307			
DTICING	Focused Observation	4	4	2	4	4	N/A	4			
	Recognizing Deviations from Expected Patterns	N/A	4	2	4	3	N/A	N/A			
ž	Information Seeking	4	4	3	4	3	N/A	4			
INTERPRETING	Prioritizing data	4	4	3	4	3	N/A	4			
	Making Sense of Data	4	4	2	4	3	N/A	4			
SPONDING	Calm, Confident Manner	4	4	3	4	4	N/A	4			
	Clear Communication	4	4	3	4	4	N/A	4			
	Well Planned Intervention/Flexibility	4	4	3	4	3	N/A	4			
RE	Being Skillful	4	4	3	4	3	N/A	4			
REFLECTING	Evaluation/Self Analysis	4	4	4	4	4	N/A	4			
	Commitment to Improvement	4	4	4	4	4	N/A	4			
	Total Score (44 possible)	40	44	32	44	38	0	40			

Table 2. Self-assessed clinical reasoning rubric scores.

I utilized the LCRR at the very end of each patient case, once they had completed treatment. I scored each of the boxes with a potential number of points to get in each sub section (i.e., Exeplary=4, Accompished =3, Developing = 2, Beginning = 1). Point totals of the scoring system were as follows: 1) In the Noticing portion there was a range of 3-12 possible points, 2) In the Interpreting portion there was a range of 2-8 possible points, 3) In the Responding portion there was a range of 4-16 possible points, and 4) In the Reflecting portion there was a range of 2-8 possible points, which represents "Beginning" in all categories. The highest score would be 44, for marks of Exemplary in all categories. Because patient 306 was still being treated at the time of the analysis, I did not complete the LCRR scoring.

I recognize the limitation in scoring myself despite my attempts to be honest and provide evidence for my selection in each of the categories (Table 2). I did find the process beneficial because the implementation of the LCRR made me realize that it is impossible to grade yourself using this rubric. Even with the information necessary to mark each section of the rubric, it was difficult to remain true to each section without bringing in information from other sections to determine a final score.

The case of patient #303 was a tough case for me mentally. I really believed, at the time, that I was *noticing* as much as I could. I took the information the patient was giving me, asked appropriate follow up questions, and prioritized the relevant information. When I was able to reflect on what I had done in the evaluation and treatment, however, I realized I had made several mistakes, missed important data, and missed an opportunity to try an intervention that might have helped had I seen the pattern for it in the beginning. I was unable to recognize the pattern and I lost confidence in myself, which may have resulted in the patient losing confidence in my ability to help her. Grading myself and not letting the fact that I had wanted to do all of those things over shadow that I did not actually do them was very difficult. Interestingly, I scored myself "exemplary" with the patients I was able to treat over longer periods of time. I believe the increased scores may be due to the simple fact that I had more time to fulfill the criteria of each category. In hindsight, the LCRR would be more beneficial if an unbiased observer used it during a single patient-clinician interaction.

A clinician's comfort level with a patient case will change the type of reasoning he or she uses. I decided this would be easier to measure than the strategy itself. Trying to determine whether I was using pattern recognition, a subconscious action, or a deductive reasoning strategy seemed futile. Clinicians will default to deductive reasoning strategies when confronted with patient cases that make them uncomfortable. The case content or the clinician's lack of knowledge in specific area does not allow for efficient pattern recognition (Patel et. al, 1989; Eva, 2005). I hypothesized that if I could measure my comfort level with a case, I might be able to infer the use of one reasoning strategy over another. I recorded my perceived comfort surrounding aspects of each case using a 0-5 scale (0=no understanding, total discomfort, 10= total understanding, entirely comfortable). I recorded comfort with case presentation, patient interaction, intervention possibilities, and implementation of treatment (Chart 10).



Patient 303 had the lowest rankings in all categories while 301, 302, and 307 all had full marks in all categories. The Intervention Possibilities category was marked below 5 points with 57% of the patients, but I perceived total comfort in the remaining 43% of cases. I also examined my perceived comfort level as a percent of total comfort (Chart 10). Patients 303 and 305 were given the lowest comfort ratings of 40% and 85% respectively, while 3 of the 7 patients scored 100% comfort, and the remaining 2 scored 90%.



Lastly, I determined whether or not each patient case was successful (Chart 11). I used a simple yes or no answer to represent whether or not I was able to see the treatment of the patient through to the end, restoring them to full and pain free function. Patients' cases 303 and 305 did not receive successful treatment, while 301, 302, 304, and 307 received care that abolished their pain and restored their function.

	301	302	303	304	305	306	307
Intervention Success	yes	yes	no	yes	no	ongoing	yes

Table 3. Perceived success with patient case.

My perceived comfort with my intervention choices was surprising. After reflecting, I recognized there might be intervention choices, other than those I had performed, that would help my patients. I am still creating the evidence in my practice to identify a hierarchy of treatments, of what to implement when, and in what order. Recognizing that my comfort level with a case correlates to the intervention's success is also interesting. I have learned that my attitude toward an intervention or patient case will have an effect on the outcome. If I have an attitude of confidence and poise due to comfort in a case, my intervention outcomes are more positive. If I have an attitude of defeat and anxiety due to discomfort with a case, however, my intervention outcomes are poor.

To facilitate my ability to articulate clinical cases to others, I applied three steps. The first step was to share the case with my students, whether it was to treat patients in front of them or to discuss patient cases in class. The second step was to write more blog posts highlighting clinical cases on Wordpress. The third step was to map the cases with flow-charting. Flow-chart mapping is a proposed way to identify clinical reasoning skill and help build it in practice (Wheeler, Collins, 2003). I attempted the mapping on several patients, and found it to be very time-consuming and difficult. I gained insight into themes of my decision-making, such as contextual factors of the clinical environment and the patient's support groups and familial relationships. In addition to being able to spend more time with my patients, have more time to reflect about them, and incorporate new outcomes to collect, I also had more time to research and learn. So while I was limited in the number of patients I treated during the Fall 2013 semester, much of my growth was in knowledge and application. A clinician's knowledge base has the potential to influence their clinical reasoning proficiency significantly (Patel et. al, 1989; Boshuizen and Schmidt, 1992; Woods, 2007; Boshuizen, 1997). I experienced a change in my clinical reasoning because I was able to better understand the information presented in the previous semesters, I was able to apply that knowledge more effectively, and have a greater awareness of my clinical practice.

### **Residency Impact**

The impact the DAT residency had on my patient care, scholarship, and philosophies influenced the residency settings of both the Division I clinical setting in which I began the DAT, and the professional master's degree program in which I will complete the DAT. I believe my residency at the university directly affected my patients, and the patients of the clinicians around me. I was able to bring new ideas, new techniques, and a new attitude to the clinic. Unfortunately, the patients were more receptive to the change than my fellow clinicians. The DAT made me a more attentive, well-equipped, constructive clinician.

My residency at CBU has consisted of teaching in the professional master's program and treating patients on referral basis has influenced an entirely new set of stakeholders. I have incorporated the lessons I have learned from the DAT in to the curriculum for the students and continuing education for the preceptors. My clinical

73

philosophy, a product of the DAT, is infused into everything I do in the classroom. I teach primarily clinical courses that are focused on the patient care aspects of AT, my students have received lessons in clinical reasoning, psychosocial interventions, manual therapy techniques, action research and practice based evidence, the SFMA, interprofessional education and several other topics that were not part of the curriculum prior to my arrival in the program. In line with my philosophy, I have worked to share the technical knowledge I have gained by hosting several seminars and courses not previously offered. Dr. Tom Dalonzo-Baker of TMR, and Dr. Phil Plisky of SFMA conducted courses for my students and several preceptors. I believe the students have a better foundation on which to build their own path toward advance practice as a direct result of my residency and participation in the DAT.

My residency at CBU has also had an effect on the other program faculty. I believe that AT instructors should participate in patient care and outcomes collection in order to stay current, practice the skills being taught to the students, and to continue producing scholarship. As a result of my residency, the program faculty have participated in direct patient care for the first time since leaving clinical practice. The two faculty members have collected and reflected upon their patient outcomes, found weaknesses, and have pursued continuing education courses as a result. I believe they will better serve our students, and the profession, because they have again begun practicing direct patient care.

Lastly, my residency at CBU has directly affected my patients. The majority of the patients referred to me while practicing at CBU were puzzling cases for other clinicians. The patients I was provided often had chronically limiting conditions for which they had sought treatment from several practitioners over long periods of time. Treating patients who have a more complex history of pain meant that relieving their pain was more significant to them. Though I have treated a much smaller number of patients in the residency at CBU, the impact I have had on their ailments, because of the DAT, was magnified.

# **Final Reflection**

A clear evolution of patient care quality, successful outcomes collection, and depth of knowledge is demonstrated by the outcomes summary. Immense change is illustrated by comparing patient cases from Fall 2012 to Spring 2014. In the first fall, I was unable to integrate several paradigms with purpose; instead I was focused simply on testing interventions and observing the outcome. A poignant midterm reflection helped me to discover my areas for improvement and motivated me to implement steps to mitigate the weaknesses in my clinical processes. My ability to collect outcomes improved slightly over the course of the first semester, but organization and analysis left much room for improvement. The overall DPA Scale scores of the patient's I treated during Fall 2012 did not display a strong trend indicative of positive patient outcomes.

The specific goals I set for better organization and more consistent outcomes collection going into Spring 2013 helped establish a plan for continued clinical growth. My overall clinical effectiveness increased as illustrated by the clear trend of my collected DPA Scale score data. Patient cases further demonstrated clinical growth by displaying more complete clinical reasoning processes and definable patient and clinician-centered goals of treatment. By addressing the weaknesses of my clinical practice and being vigilant in seeking authentic reflection, I discovered additional contextual factors that were inhibiting my clinical and professional development. I was able to make new goals informed by the evidence I had collected and reflected upon from the previous semesters, and implement a new plan.

I experienced the most accelerated growth during the Fall 2013 semester residency. The sample patient cases indicated clinical decisions founded in literature and clinical evidence, a greater awareness of pertinent patient information, and a deeper understanding and more purposeful implementation of interventions. My goals for each patient were clearly established which allowed for a purposeful and seamless integration of several clinical philosophies. I was able to collect additional information related to my clinical reasoning processes that facilitated deeper reflection with evidentiary support of my decision-making, perception of success, and other elements that influence my patient care.

The DAT had an immense effect on my clinical practice as evident by the outcomes summary and the evolution of my clinical practice ability. I have incorporated several new techniques/paradigms and demonstrated my clinical competence through improved disease and patient-oriented outcomes in my patient care. I successfully utilized global outcomes to measure the utility of interventions and my ability to apply them. I know how to analyze results for meaning, and share clinically relevant information with other clinicians, students, patients, and faculty. I have increased my knowledge of EBP and become a translational researcher by testing interventions and reporting findings. I have been honest in my reflection and am willing to feel discomfort to continue authentic clinical and professional development.

The DAT has provided me the tools I need to pioneer my unique path toward advanced practice. I am proud of my change and humbled by the growth I have yet to experience in order to continue on the path toward advanced practice. I look forward to continued growth and the vigilant pursuit of better patient care.

### **Chapter 4**

#### **Review of Literature**

Currently, there is not an accepted singular definition of clinical reasoning (CR), pointing to its complex nature; therefore terminology must be specified in the interest of understanding. In the literature, many terms are used interchangeably to describe CR. For example, critical thinking, clinical judgment and CR may sound and be used similarly, but are very different in definition (Norman, 2005).

Critical thinking, as defined by the Annual International Conference on Critical Thinking and Education Reform, is "the intellectually disciplined process of actively and skillfully conceptualizing, applying, analyzing, synthesizing, and/or evaluating information gathered from, or generated by, observation, experience, reflection, reasoning, or communication as a guide to belief and action" (Paul, 2006). Critical thinking skills depend on a clinician's ability to ask discriminating questions and search for better ideas or decisions (Scott, Markert, Dunn, 1998). Clinical judgment, however, is the outcome of critical thinking and is the final decision about the course of a treatment or diagnosis. Clinical judgment requires critical thinking, logic, discernment, and professional self-management (Pesut, 2001).

Clinical Reasoning, in contrast, requires clinicians to use their critical thinking ability, decision-making style, knowledge and experience, as well as the concerns of the patient and any surrounding context, to inform decisions (Benner, Sutphen, Leonard & Day 2010). Clinical Reasoning is a complicated practice in cognition, metacognition, inductive and deductive cognitive skills, and the use of knowledge to gather and analyze patient information, determine significance, and take action (Simmons, 2010; Fowler, 1997). Clinical reasoning is more than decision-making and judgment alone; it takes the integration of the clinician's unique expertise and experiences (Levine, 2013), as well as comprehension and understanding of a patient's situation (Fowler, 1997). Jones (1992) defined CR in the scope of physical therapy as a process in which the therapist, interacting with the patient and others (e.g., family members), helped patients structure meaning, goals, and health management strategies based on clinical data, patient choices, and professional knowledge and judgment (Jones, 1992; Edwards, Jones, Carr, Braunack-Mayer & Jensen, 2004). Concisely, CR is a varied and complex system of processing information and making decisions that has an effect on every clinician's diagnostic and treatment abilities (Banning, 2008).

### **Clinical Reasoning Frameworks**

Various theoretical frameworks have been proposed in an attempt to describe CR and categorize the many factors that play a role in its application. One such framework identified the reasoning strategies occupational therapists (OTs) used to guide clinical practice. Fleming and Mattingly (1991) determined, through careful analysis of videotaped treatment sessions, that OTs working in a medical center employed at least four different types of reasoning: procedural, interactive, conditional and narrative. MacRay and Ryan (1995) further developed the framework to include pragmatic reasoning as well. While the reasoning types are distinctly different from each other, clinicians often used multiple types to address different facets of the same patient problem, with experienced clinicians being more adept at transitioning between different types of reasoning when interpreting a patient problem (Mattingly, 1991).

Procedural reasoning was used when the clinician was thinking about the disability or disease itself. Considering intervention options, determining diagnosis and prognosis, and patient prescription were components of the procedural piece. The sequence contained multiple elements, such as problem identification, problem-solving strategies, cue seeking, hypothesis generation, and goal setting, as the clinician participated in patient care (Mattingly, 1991 Newell and Simon, 1972; Elstien, 1978; Coughlin and Patel, 1987).

Interactive reasoning was applied when clinicians conversed with their patients. The goal of interactive reasoning was to get to know the patient better. The interactive reasoning process was patient-focused, instead of disease-focused, to gain information regarding the patient's feelings about a treatment or disability (Mattingly, 1989; Kleinman, 1980).

Conditional reasoning, considered a more complex type, involved complicated thinking and multiple dimensions of interpretation on the clinician's part. Conditional reasoning was an attempt to integrate information from both procedural and interactive standpoints through reflection and careful consideration of the successes and/or failures of the clinical encounter. To employ conditional reasoning, a clinician must think beyond immediate concerns and imagine possible futures, drawing upon clinical experience and expertise, to form a deeper understanding of the whole patient problem and create future goals (Flemming, 1991).

Narrative reasoning, which may be the most difficult to describe in this model, utilized all of the causal relationships and descriptions provided through procedural, interactive, and conditional reasoning; however, it also approached the patient problem from a different perspective. To investigate a case in a narrative fashion, the clinician must be concerned with human motivation. Narrative reasoning incorporated all of the patient's motivations, feelings, and relationships, and is used to provide the clinician with a greater understanding of the motives of the people involved in a patient case. A richer understanding of the case allows for more effective clinical decisions (Mattingly, 1991).

Pragmatic reasoning was the theoretical frame that surrounded the entire framework Pragmatic reasoning is the most comprehensive as it encompasses all of the others, but it is easy to identify because it is concrete. In addition to the elements present in the other reasoning types, pragmatic reasoning also includes practical elements. The treatment environment (e.g., clinic size, equipment available, privacy, etc.), the therapist's values, knowledge, and abilities (e.g., continued education, patient care philosophy, foundational knowledge, etc.), the patient's social supports (e.g., familial relationships, team dynamics, etc.), and other contextual factors are incorporated (Kingdom & Neufeld, 2003; MacRay and Ryan, 1995).

# **Clinical Reasoning Styles**

In addition to CR frameworks, styles of CR have also been identified. Hypothtico-deductive reasoning, for example, is the generation and testing of hypotheses to determine diagnosis. Hypothetico-deductive reasoning is also termed "backward" reasoning because hypothesis formation occurs before the gathering of information used to make a decision (Patel & Groen, 1990). Major critiques of the hypothetico-deductive reasoning style stem from the belief that hypothesis generation and testing is merely one part of thinking, and not a complete account of the CR process. Thus, it should be considered an element of, but not the process of, CR. (Bordage, 1994; Bordage & Lemieux, 1991; Patel & Groen, 1986; Schmidt, 1990). The hypothetico-deductive style has been studied at length, and is more frequently used by novices than experienced clinicians (Elstein, 1994; Kassirere & Kopelman, 1991).

Experienced clinicians tend to use pattern recognition and "forward" reasoning in clinical practice, which are two other CR styles. Pattern recognition requires the use of vast memory networks, utilizing both scientific and case specific knowledge, to pair elements of a current patient presentation to those of past patients to form patterns the clinician uses to make a diagnosis. "Forward" reasoning, the opposite of backward reasoning, is completed by using information at hand to formulate a hypothesis or diagnosis (Beullens, 2005). When an expert clinician is faced with a patient case that is unfamiliar to them, however, a decision to use the slower, and more error prone, hypothetico-deductive style is often made (Norman, Trout, Brooks & Smith, 1994; Norman, Brooks & Allen, 1989).

# History of Clinical Reasoning in Medical Literature

Early researchers concentrated on investigating the nature of reasoning with the goal of identifying a singular or best method of reasoning without much focus on clinical context (Eisenberg, 1979). Initial research focused on describing how physicians should make decisions, as opposed to examining how decisions were actually made. In the 1950s and 60s, the focus was on the Bayesian method of decision making, which analyzed the probability that the given information fit a specific diagnosis. Several assumptions resulted about clinical expertise (Elstein, 2009). The primary assumption at that time was that biomedical knowledge was a determining factor in a clinician's level of expertise; the more knowledge a clinician possessed, the more expertise the clinician was considered to maintain. Additionally, it was assumed that CR skill was simply something experts possessed and novices lacked (Feinstein, 1967; Lusted, 1968; Bennet & Barrows, 1972). The influence of other factors in a physician's decision making, such as patient interaction and sociocultural factors, were not widely studied until the early 1970s when research into CR grew immensely.

Throughout the 1970's, Arthur Elstein and colleagues began a shift in thinking through presentation of the initial results of The Medical Inquiry Project at the Annual Meetings of the American Psychological Association (APA), the American Medical Colleges, and the Conference on Research in Medical Education. The project was a funded study to identify the intellectual tactics of expert CR and to generate a psychological theory to explain CR features. The researchers related the findings to existing theories of thinking, and developed materials to assist medical students to refine problem-solving skills (Elstein, 1972). A selection of physicians, who were nominated by colleagues as expert diagnosticians, were asked to evaluate three simulated patients (actors) while being videotaped. The physicians reviewed the video for clarification, performed 8 paper and pencil problems, and underwent a battery of tests and questionnaires. The major finding of the project was that physicians tended to generate specific hypotheses well before all available patient data had been gathered. As a result of the study, four main components of the physician's CR process were identified: attending to initially available cues and identifying problematic elements, associating problematic elements to long-term memory, generating

suggestions for further inquiry, and informally estimating a ranking of several working hypotheses (Elstein, 1972; Elstein, 1990).

The final findings of the Medical Inquiry Project were published in 1978 in the book "Medical Problem Solving" (Elstein, 1978), now considered to be the foundation of CR research (Norman, 1978; Ericsson, Prietula & Cokely, 2007). Despite its importance, several significant limitations of the project have been identified. First, peer ratings were used to identify and accept expert clinicians without the use of other criteria, though such ratings are considered unreliable (Elstein, 2009; Elstein, 1972). Research of traditional peer ratings has provided empirical evidence that suggests nomination by peers does not correlate to exceptional performance on domain specific tasks (Ericsson, 2003). Second, critical assumptions were made regarding the reasoning process of clinicians: clinical reasoning is generalizable and singular, all cases and all physicians worked under the same problem solving process. Thirdly, the study was conducted without adequate sampling, as it did not include enough physician participants and each participant was not studied across enough patient cases. Despite these limitations, the study was still extremely significant as it was that it was first attempt to relate diagnostic problem solving to general problem solving, collect "think aloud" participant data, and indicate that experts employed hypotheticodeductive reasoning strategies.

Over the next decade, the work of Elstein et al. (1972) was supported and progressed by several research studies that utilized more multivariate methodology to qualitatively learn about the CR process. Various studies were conducted, using patient vignettes and standardized patients, to observe clinicians of differing levels of expertise reasoning through the same cases (Barrows & Bennett, 1972; Coderre, Mandin & Harasym, 2003; Doody & McAteer, 2002; Fuller, 1997), while others observed practitioners in real life clinical settings (Jones, 1992; Khatami & Macentee, 2001; Murphy, 2004; Wainwright, Shepard, Harman & Stephens, 2010; Wainwright, Shepard, Harman & Stephens, 2011).

Borrows and Bennett (1972) studied six neurology residents asked to complete a videotaped evaluation of the same standardized patient (an actress) portraying symptoms of multiple sclerosis. After the evaluation, each resident was also interviewed. Analysis of the residents' interviews and patient interactions revealed relationships between trends in the diagnostic process and problem solving methods. Multiple hypotheses were made early in the encounter with the patient. Key features of the initial presentation, decided upon by the clinician to be important or relevant, triggered further questioning for additional information (Bennett & Barrows, 1972). The neurology residents also used hypothetico-deductive reasoning strategies, confirming Elstein et al.'s previous work (Elstein et al., 1978).

Lusted (1972), like Elstein, instigated study in live clinical settings when he asked whether physicians might act under more than one set of criteria when making decisions. For instance, he suggested physicians may consider the implications of their decisions, and that their attitudes may affect diagnostic decisions (Lusted, 1968; 1972). While much of the text focused on the role of computer analysis to aide in diagnosis, a new line of research emerged. The concept that the medical decision making processes is not normative in nature, but in fact individual to the situation, patient, and practitioner, had not been addressed in previous research (Waitzkin & Stoeckle, 1972), In 1979, Eisenberg combined observations from sociology, clinical psychology, psychiatry, and medicine to gain a more comprehensive understanding of the influences on clinical decision-making. Characteristics of the patient (e.g., social class, income and ethnic background, sex, physical appearance, treatability, emotional behavior, familial relationships), characteristics of the physician (e.g., personality, philosophy, age, education, interaction with other professionals), characteristics of the environment (e.g., settings, nature of interactions, dynamics of the medical team, peer pressure, etc.), and the doctor-patient relationship were identified as elements effecting clinical decision-making (Eisenberg, 1979). Eisenberg (1979) called attention to the considerable evidence supporting the presence of sociologic factors that affect clinical decision-making. He indicated the need for a shift in the study of CR away from normative descriptions of how a physician should behave and toward a better understanding of how and why clinicians behave in a certain manner (Eisenberg, 1979).

The research trend of the 1970's was centered on problem solving. The model was very general and researchers made the assumption that expert clinicians did not generate more hypotheses or diagnoses faster than novices, but only generated the more accurate hypothesis. The distinction was considered related to experts having a greater content knowledge, instead of utilizing a unique process. The next decade of research emphasized expert knowledge, instead of expert processes due to these assumptions.

During the 1980s, researchers provided insight into the knowledge and memory of experts in several domains. For example, expertise in chess was highly studied. The most reliable measure of expertise in chess was the ability of the player to recall a specific game position. Experts were able to recall the position of approximately 80% of the game pieces after a 5 second exposure to the playing board (Simon, 1983). Chess masters were capable of memorizing an estimated 50,000 game positions and were able to recall each position to use in a given game situation. As a result, memory performance was recognized as a condition of expertise (Muzzin, Norman, Feightner & Tugwell, 1983). Similarly, specific knowledge appeared to be more related to expertise than general skill.

While appearing to be a good measure of expertise in several fields, memory performance was not found to be transferable to medicine (Patel & Groen, 1986; Schmidt & Boshuizen, 1988). Patel and Groen (1986) analyzed physician interpretation and treatment of specific patient pathophysiology. A prepositional analysis was performed on patient case descriptions created by the participants, in an attempt to bridge the gap between data and the running diagnostic process. Prepositional analysis allowed researchers to classify the antecedents and consequents of the participants' decision framework. The classification was used to create a "map" of the causal network (i.e., the ability to recall and use a vast collection of "if-then" rules) and explain diagnostic choices. By identifying the way in which available information was being linked to diagnostic decision-making, Patel and Groen (1986) reached the conclusion that it was not feasible to create an explicit mapping of expert recall. In short, it was impossible to capture all of the knowledge, situational, medical, or otherwise, needed to practice in medicine (Hughes, Benner, Hughes & Sutphen, 2008). Even though memory recall may be indicative of expertise in other disciplines, such as chess, memory recall was found to be a poor indicator of expertise in medical reasoning.

Since memory recall ability failed correlate to expertise in medicine, researchers again shifted focus to mental representations of knowledge. In the 1990s, a primary focus of the research studies was to identify types of knowledge organization. Through these studies, three types were identified: basic science and causal rules, representations of signs and symptoms and diagnoses, and examples based on direct experience with patient cases (Schmidt, Norman & Boshuizen, 1990; Norman, 2005). In the end, investigators agreed that the implications of CR research findings were that no singular process, or element, emerged as correlated to expertise (Guest, Regehr & Tiberius, 2001; Eva, 2003; Kalatunga-Moruzi, Brooks & Norman, 2004). Instead, expert CR was a consequence of an extensive knowledge base, effective mental organization, and the use of several integrated decision-making strategies. Despite more than 30 years of research studies, the analysis of CR has resulted in little progress towards identifying a singular best CR method, style, or framework (Norman, 2005).

Though no clear model has been unanimously accepted, investigators have postulated CR to be a dual process including analytic and non-analytic systems (Jones, Edwards, Carr, Braunack-Mayer & Jensen, 2004; Jones, Edwards & Gifford, 2002; Audetat, Dory, Nendaz et al., 2012; Audetat, Laurin, Sanche et al., 2013; Charlin, Lubarsky, Millette et al., 2012; Eva, 2005). Medical educators have traditionally focused on analytic models, which rely on the interaction between signs and symptoms and diagnosis as being paramount in establishing clinical expertise. The analytic model, also termed hypothetico-deductive reasoning, is the most commonly taught and used form of reasoning for medical students (Jones, Edwards & Gifford, 2002; Audetat, Laurin, Sanche et al., 2013). As the name implies, a clinician utilizing this model identifies cues from and about the patient to generate an initial hypotheses, then continues to collect data and modify the hypotheses until a single diagnosis is reached (Edwards, Jones, Carr, Braunack-Mayer & Jensen, 2004; Boshuizen & Schmidt, 2007; Mamede & Schmidt, 2007). The analytical model is similar to Beyes' theorem of regression analysis, in which he suggests clinicians analyze key signs and symptoms to determine their singular and collective probability to ascertain the likelihood that a specific diagnosis is correct (Edwards, Jones, Carr, Braunack-Mayer & Jensen, 2004).

The theory, however, has been deemed unrealistic because such information is likely unavailable to clinicians at the time of evaluation and the complexity of calculations needed to reach that conclusion are too difficult (Phua & Tan, 2007; Eva, 2007). Most investigators accept that students begin utilizing the analytic model primarily, though researchers have suggested it is error-prone, inefficient, and weak (Audetat, Laurin, Sanche et al., 2013; Groen & Patel, 1985; Patel, Groen & Norman, 1991). As young clinicians build cognitive archives of patient histories, signs, symptoms, and characteristics of diagnoses, termed 'illness scripts,' they develop the capability to recognize patterns and use non-analytic skills (Eva, 2007).

The non-analytic strategies, primarily scheme-inductive and patternrecognition, utilize the intuitive tacit system for generating initial hypotheses. In pattern-recognition problem solving, particularly when time constraints are present, there is immediate identification and analysis of patterns within a case (Audetat, Dory, Nundez et al., 2012). Pattern-recognition is unconscious (Phua & Tan, 2013) and is a result of the vast database of knowledge and experience a clinician possesses. The process is completed by combining knowledge and experience with a capacity to recognize patterns within that database (i.e., pairing key elements of a new case with the patterns seen in previous ones) (Edwards, Jones, Carr, Braunack-Mayer & Jensen, 2004; Pottier, Hardouin, Hodges et al., 2012).

Scheme-inductive reasoning is guided by a vast organizational structure of knowledge that differentiates between categories of conditions. A visual representation would be similar to an inductive tree with many branches representing potential paths for decision-making. The presence or absence of certain clinical findings leads the clinician to take a specific path following the branches to reach a conclusive diagnosis. The scheme-inductive reasoning method is thought to yield better outcomes, though there is not a consensus on whether analytic or non-analytic reasoning produce more error (Audetat, Laurin, Sanche et al., 2013; Charlin, Lubarsky, Millette et al., 2012).

Both forms of reasoning are not mutually exclusive and are carried out in tandem by novice and expert clinicians, though in varying degrees based on contextual factors. Novices have not had the experience necessary to develop a framework of past memories with which to associate learned information and are less likely to use the non-analytic forms of reasoning. Instead, novices must rely on the signs and symptoms to diagnose. In contrast, an expert is able to rely on the principles and relationships that exist amongst patient cases, identify patterns, and diagnose within their vast memory framework. Excessive reliance on non-analytic forms of reasoning alone may cause diagnostic error due to its intuitive nature and reliance on first impression (Edwards, Jones, Carr, Braunack-Mayer & Jensen, 2004; Eva, 2004). A combination of analytic and non-analytic reasoning yields the best diagnostic accuracy in both novice and expert clinicians (Eva, 2007), though novices are not likely utilize non-analytic reasoning unless prompted to do so (Speicher, Bell, Kehrhahn & Casa, 2012).

Benner (1992) was able to provide a more clear understanding of the influence that experience may have on expertise. Intensive care nurses (i.e., adult, pediatric, and neonatal) of varying expertise were categorized into three groups by assessing the qualities of their patient care decisions: advanced beginner, intermediate, and expert. The advanced beginner nurses made decisions guided by protocols and procedural knowledge, and felt their practice was unsafe when confronted with a complex or confusing patient problem. Intermediate nurses were further subcategorized into competent or proficient groups. A nurse became competent when he or she was able to gain clinical experience and learn from colleagues. The competent nurses continuously questioned each clinical situation in an attempt to learn as much as possible from each situation. When a competent nurse began interpreting information and analyzing situations instead of simply following orders or procedures, he or she transitioned into the proficient category. Expert nurses had a more fully developed grasp of clinical situations, higher confidence in knowledge of the situation, and the ability to quickly determine the precise clinical problem of each patient case. Once the nurses were categorized by decision-making qualities, experience level, in years, was determined.

Benner (1992) provided data that expressed and supported the existence of a novice-expert continuum (Hughes, Benner, Hughes & Sutphen, 2008). The nurses of

the advanced beginner category had up to 6 months of work experience. The competent and proficient nurses (intermediate group), as well as the expert group, had at least two years of intensive care unit experience, which indicated years of experience alone was not a predictor of expertise. Researchers have expanded on Benner's findings, concluding that experience is necessary to create competence, but is not sufficient for expertise; in short, all experienced clinicians are not experts (Ericsson, Whyte, Ward, 2007; Chrstensen, Hewitt-Taylor, 2006).

### **Assessment of Clinical Reasoning**

Several attempts have been made across health care professions to identify domain-specific measures for CR (Lasater, 2007). The most comprehensive literature on the measurement of CR is found in nursing and medical education. Unfortunately, the absence of a gold standard for assessing CR makes it difficult to analyze any instrument, since there is no standard with which to compare and determine statistical utility.

To measure construct validity and evaluate statistical utility, some researchers have employed different correlative methods. Beullens, Struyf and Van Damme (2005) have correlated students' reasoning acuity, as measured by a series of extended matching questions (EMQs), to their own think-aloud problem solving. Extended matching questions are a style of multiple-choice question, which include a theme, an option list, a lead in statement, and at least 2 item stems. While EMQs are meant to assess factual knowledge, Beullens et al. (2005) set out to test CR with EMQs as opposed to factual knowledge in isolation. By also testing the students' think-aloud problem solving, the researchers were able to gain insight into the cognitive processes (Van Someren, Barnard & Sandberg, 1994) of the students' decisions.

Murphy (2004) utilized focused reflection and articulation exercises to promote CR in first year nursing students (Beullens, Struyf & Van Damme, 2005; Murphy, 2004). Reflection is the act of looking back on an experience and evaluating it for meaning by comparing it with other experiences. Reflective writing increases learning and can be used to identify CR skill (McCaugherty, 1991; Mountford & Rogers, 1996; Lee & Hutchison, 1998). In those displaying expert clinical reasoning, reflections will be more fully descriptive, about the patient, the situation, and their feelings about learning; those with novice clinical reasoning will have reflections that read more like a sequential series of steps (Murphy, 2004; Wainwright, Shepard, Harman & Stephens, 2010; Epstein & Hundert, 2002). Students who struggle to ascertain the clinical implications or effects reflection may have on their professional development may initially need some provocation or guidance to write thoughtfully and analytically on their own (Kuiper, Pesut & Kautz, 2009; Speicher et. al, 2012).

Tanner (2006) completed an extensive review of the CR literature to create Tanner's Clinical Judgment Model (Tanner, 2006). The model was comprised of four overarching aspects of expert clinical judgment in nursing: 1) Noticing (perceptual grasp of the situation at hand), 2) Interpreting (sufficient understanding of the situation to respond), 3) Responding (deciding on a course of action appropriate for the situation), and 4) Reflecting (reflection-in-action, attending to patients' responses to the nursing action while in the process of acting; reflection-on-action, reviewing outcomes of the action). The model became the conceptual framework for Nielsen, Stragnell and Jester's (2007) Guide for Reflection. The Guide for Reflection directs students through examination and exploration of their own clinical situations, but did not provide a rating system from which to grade the products (Lasater, 2007).

The Lasater Clinical Judgment Rubric (LCJR) (Appendix 11) was created based on Tanner's model and the Guide for Reflection. Unlike the pervious instruments, the LCJR is used to assess student thinking through a specific criteria for evaluating CR (Lasater, 2007; Lasater & Nielsen, 2009). The LCJR contains 11 dimensions described under the four developmental levels outlined by Tanner (2006). Noticing incorporates focused observation, recognition of deviations from expected patterns, and information seeking. Interpreting includes prioritizing data and making sense of data. Responding effectively is through calm, confident manner, clear communication, wellplanned and flexible intervention, and clear mastery of necessary skill. Finally, reflecting includes evaluation and self-analysis and a commitment to improvement. Each dimension is ranked by comparing the student's performance with the beginning, developing, accomplished, and exemplary characteristics that were defined within each of the dimensions (Laseter, 2007)

The rubric created by Laseter (2007) clearly delineated areas for a student to be graded, with specific expectations for both the student and the educator. While it was created to assess any singular clinical experience, it is also had enough sensitivity to detect differences in students' perceived abilities from the beginning to the end of a semester's coursework (Lasater & Nielsen, 2009). To date, it is the only nursing specific CR rubric with relevance for all clinical contexts. In undergraduate medical school education, the Andersen CR Rubric was developed as a tool for measuring undergraduate medical students' CR through the careful grading by a medical educator of patient vignettes (Hughes, Benner, Hughes, and Sutphen, 2008). A patient vignette is a short description of a patient case complete with history, observation, and evaluation. Through development, validation and pilot testing, a rubric was established that included ten content areas: 1) Identifying relevant clinical information by incorporating it into a hypothesis, 2) Utilizing relevant information to weigh the hypotheses, 3) Detail the appropriate hypotheses, 4) take timeline considerations into account, 5) Hypothesize correct mechanisms for signs and symptoms, 6) Discuss ideas using logical steps in reasoning of hypotheses and mechanisms,7) Support individual steps in reasoning with relevant clinical information from the case, 8) Identify useful learning points, 9) Demonstrate medical knowledge of the issues in the case appropriate of the student's level, 10) The overall approach to the clinical case.

The value set for each content area was 10 points, with the total rubric being 100-points. The rubric contained a description that explained each of the ten content areas, the criteria for each area, and the performance expected by the student to be awarded marks, which increased the reliability of the scale. Inter-rater (r=0.84, p<0.05) and intra-rater (r=0.81, p<0.01) reliability were tested and found to be high when tested by independent graders, as well as the same graders, one year later (Andersen, Peterson, Tonkin & Cleary, 2008).

Rubrics and grading scales of this nature are relatively new in medical education and indicate attempts by educators to better understand the illusive "art" of

medical practice and apply it to the growing instruction of evidence-based medicine. Unlike nursing and medicine, AT has not yet identified the elements of CR and judgment that are specific to AT practice domains. Several educators have expressed the need for introducing a CR model so a more definitive approach to critical thinking during AT educational experiences may be produced (Fuller, 1997; Geisler & Lazenby, 2009; Knight, 2008a; 2008b). Athletic Training educators still struggle to understand how to facilitate the acquisition of CR skills in students, primarily because a structure in which to do so has not been identified (Heinerichs, Vela, Drouin, 2013).

The NATA currently hosts a webinar entitled, "The NATA's Strategies for Assessing and Teaching CR in Athletic Training Education," directed at providing educators with ways to incorporate reasoning and decision making skills into curriculum for undergraduate students (Vela, 2013). Independent researchers have also begun to study CR in AT education. Heinerichs, Vela, and Druin (2013) recently investigated the effect of formal learner-centered clinical reasoning instruction on undergraduate AT students' clinical reasoning, reflection, and case presentation attributes (i.e., length, conciseness, case summary, and expression of clinical reasoning). Heinrichs et al. (2013) concluded that formal clinical reasoning development allowed students to be more aware of their cognitive processes, create more concise and meaningful case presentations, and express clinical reasoning skills that facilitated learning and feedback .The publishing of this article served as evidence that educators have recognized the need for research in this area in AT.

96
#### **Future Research**

Clinical reasoning is a complex process and is difficult to assess, as is evident in the current body of literature. Continued research into the CR processes of health care practitioners is needed. As the health care environment changes and AT education evolves, studying CR will help AT join in inter-professional collaboration, produce evidence of better clinical practices, and produce more effective educational strategies with which to develop future practitioners.

From a foundational perspective, research in AT must be conducted to explore the fundamentals of didactic and CR unique to AT. Because of the context-specific nature of CR in any domain, it is imperative that future research identify elements unique to AT. Learning from previous research and recreating tested methodologies from other disciplines may help to better understand the CR approaches of both student and professional athletic trainers. With this, these research efforts would help to define CR terminology within the scope of AT.

Ultimately, theories for the CR process of athletic trainers must be created. Research should also examine the elements of CR, which includes critical thinking, decision-making, reflection, and knowledge organization. The aim of future research should also be to identify techniques that support the evolution of clinicians' abilities to evolve from novice to expert more effectively. To do so, AT needs to also create research in the area of CR skill assessment of both students and professionals. We need to begin creating a comprehensive perspective of CR. Eventually, we will be able to provide further insight into how the CR of athletic trainers relates to that of other health care professionals.

#### **Chapter 5**

#### **Applied Clinical Research Project**

Clinical reasoning (CR) is a dynamic and complex mental process of decisionmaking used in the evaluation and management of a patient.<sup>1</sup> More than the act of performing skills or memorizing information, CR is the ability to synthesize facts, assess informational value, and apply concepts while adjusting decisions and action as new information is gathered.<sup>2</sup> In recent years, health care educators have called for CR to be taught as part of curriculum, for the gap to be closed between didactic knowledge and clinical application, and for the mental laziness, created by high tech medicine, to be replaced with critical thinking.<sup>1,3-5</sup>

Previous research has primarily been focused on the different types of reasoning and the ways in which experts are distinct from novices. Novice clinicians predominately utilize hypothetico-deductive reasoning, a means of forming and testing hypotheses based on data derived from patient history and examination.<sup>6</sup> As professional experience is gained, novices begin to develop frameworks of clinical knowledge and are able to start recognizing common case patterns earlier in patient histories or evaluations.<sup>2</sup> Experts, in contrast, utilize non-analytical forms of CR, such as case-pattern recognition, as their frameworks of clinical knowledge are deeper and well-established. When presented with a novel case, however, experts will also utilize hypothetico-deductive reasoning to test plausible diagnoses.<sup>2,6-8</sup> In general, it is the ability to utilize several reasoning systems, to best serve the clinician from patient to patient, that differentiates expert from novice clinicians.<sup>6</sup> In athletic training (AT) education, there has been differing opinion regarding the transition from the internship model. Concerns have been expressed regarding AT students lacking CR skills and suffering from the inability to apply didactic knowledge to actual patient care.<sup>7-10</sup> Concerns regarding student development in these areas extend past professional education, however. Knight<sup>9</sup> has encouraged professionals to further critical thinking skills and set an example for students by acting as real models of how sound CR is applied in day-to-day patient care.

An assumption has been made that ATs will continue developing reasoning processes as part of a natural progression on the continuum from novice to expert clinician as professional experience is gained. Expertise, however, is not achieved by years of experience alone. Expertise in AT is dependent upon many elements (e.g., meaningful clinical and personal experiences, immediate feedback, outcomes, and mentoring)<sup>11-12</sup> and is also a highly self-regulated process.<sup>12</sup>

Currently, a formal way for athletic trainers to measure the development of clinical knowledge frameworks and assess evolution of reasoning systems at the professional and post-professional education levels does not exist. As the understanding of CR in healthcare evolves, the AT profession needs to determine how best to evaluate, teach, and mentor CR skills, or risk falling behind other health professions at the professional and post-professional level.<sup>4,6-8,13-19</sup>

The purpose of this study was to gain insight into the CR of athletic trainers participating in a post-professional, advanced practice doctoral program. The way in which the athletic trainers viewed changes in their CR ability through the first semester of the clinical residency component of the program was determined. A secondary purpose was to determine how the athletic trainers viewed their selfefficacy, the belief that one is capable of accomplishing a behavior or developing a competency,<sup>20</sup> compared to novice and expert clinicians in several content areas of AT. The research project was guided by the following questions: 1) Does the self-efficacy of Doctor of Athletic Training (DAT) students change; 2) Do DAT student perceptions of CR change; and, 3) Do DAT student perceptions of their CR abilities change?

#### Methods

#### Design

A within subjects design was employed with pre- and post- intervention surveys of students' self-efficacy and perceptions of clinical reasoning process and ability. The University of Idaho Institutional Review board certified this project as Exempt.

#### *Participants*

Seventeen students (4 males, 13 females; average age = 34.88 ± 10.28 years of age) volunteered to complete a survey from a pool of 20 students (85% participation rate) enrolled in their first year of the University of Idaho DAT program. Participants had varying years of experience, ranging from 2-5 years (n=4, 23.53%), to more than15 years (n=3, 17.65%). At the time of the survey, all participants were providing direct patient care and only 2 participants spent more than 50% of their time teaching in a classroom setting (Figure 1). Written consent was obtained from each participant. The survey was administered via an online survey creation and administration tool.

Demographic Responses		
	%	n (17)
Gender		
Male	23.53%	4
Female	76.47%	13
Age		
21-30	47.06%	8
31-40	29.41%	5
41-50	5.88%	1
51-60	17.65%	3
Highest Degree Completed		
Baccalaureate	11.76%	2
Professional Masters	5.88%	1
Post-Professional Masters	82.35%	14
Years Practicing as an AT		
2-5	23.53%	4
6-10	47.06%	8
11-15	11.76%	2
16+	17.65%	3
% Time spent Teaching in a C	Classroom	Setting
0-25%	70.59%	12
26-50%	17.64%	3
51-75%	11.76%	2
76-100%	0.00%	0

Figure 1. Participant demographic information in detail.

#### Instrument

A survey (Appendix 11) was developed to assess student perception of CR, perceived level of confidence with the clinical reasoning process, and self-efficacy in key standards of AT clinical practice as compared to practitioners at different levels (i.e., entry level, fellow colleagues of similar experience, and expert ATs). Each research element was assessed via separate portions of the survey.

Self-efficacy (SE) was defined as the belief that one is capable of accomplishing a behavior or developing a competency.<sup>20</sup> A self-report scale was created for use over 4

scaled-response questions ("very low" = 1, "very high = 4). Scales of this type have been found to be strong predictors of performance.<sup>20</sup> Self-efficacy of 12 line items was selfreported. The line-items included: 1-5) The 5 practice domains of AT as defined by the Board of Certification (BOC),<sup>21</sup> 6) Research implications in clinical practice, 7) Professional responsibility, 8) Patient outcomes, 9) Statistics, 10) Basic science, 11) Scholarship, and 12) Mentorship. Participants were asked to rate their self-efficacy across the 12 line-items multiple times: 1) SE compared to a recently certified athletic trainer, 2) SE compared to a colleague with the same amount of experience (in years), 3) SE compared to an expert. The data collected from this instrument was meant to help identify where along the continuum of novice to expert each participant perceived himself or herself to be.

Clinical reasoning perceptions (CRP) were assessed using a 10-item structured questionnaire developed by the Faculty of Medicine, University of Geneva, Switzerland.<sup>19</sup> The CRP was created to assess medical students' self-reported ease or difficulty with the steps of the hypothetico-deductive reasoning approach after an introduction to CR unit. Each item (Figure 2) is rated on a 4-point scale (1= "fully disagree", 4= "fully agree"). The internal consistency of the CRP (Cronbach's alpha coefficient) was high as calculated by the original researchers across 3 administrations of the survey at 0 ( $\alpha$  = 0.91), 6 ( $\alpha$  = 0.95), and 12 ( $\alpha$  = 0.94) months apart.<sup>19</sup>

Perception of the participant's clinical reasoning abilities was assessed using a modified version of the Lasater Clinical Judgment in Clinical Practice Survey (LCJPS). The LCJPS was developed by Lasater<sup>18</sup> to accurately assess nursing students' self-report of their confidence in applying clinical judgment to patient care. Several researchers have examined the face and content validity, construct validity, and several criterion-related validity of the LCJPS.<sup>18,22-23</sup> The LCJPS was determined to be sensitive enough to measure change in student perception over one semester.<sup>18,22</sup> Cronbach alpha reliability coefficients for the LCJPS were measured by the original researchers ( $\alpha$ =0.62),<sup>18</sup> in unpublished repeated studies ( $\alpha$ =0.72-0.82),<sup>24</sup> and in published works ( $\alpha$ =0.79).<sup>22</sup> While the initial reliability measures were low, subsequent data collections revealed higher reliability. The LCJPS was modified (LCJPS-mod) by the researchers of this study, with a simple substitution of terminology, to be directed at athletic trainers instead of nurses. The LCJPS in its original form was not created to assess content or context specific information<sup>18</sup> so the LCPJS-mod was well suited for the purpose of the study.

The survey, which included SE, CRP, and the LCPJS-mod, was examined for content validity, a measure of how appropriate the items seem to a set of knowledgeable reviewers. A panel of 5 athletic trainers, of varying years and types of professional experience, were given the survey to review, confirm form, wording, order, and understanding. After validity was established, the survey was administered to a sample of 4 students enrolled in their second year of the DAT. Reliability was determined by a retest of the same sample 7 days apart. A correlation coefficient was computed r=0.77 (n=4, df=2, p=0.05) to ensure that the test exceeded the recommended reliability coefficient of r>0.70.<sup>25</sup> Correlation coefficients were also computed separately for the LCJPS-mod (r=0.71), CRP (r=0.99), and SE (r=0.68) (n=4, df=2, p=0.05).

#### Procedures

An informational session was held prior to the start of the fall semester to inform the students that responses would remain confidential and would not have any effect on their academic standing within the DAT program. Potential participants were also informed that their participation in the study was voluntary and participants could withdraw at any time without penalty. The participants were then sent the online survey via email. The survey was administered prior to, and after the completion of, the first fall semester DAT coursework, approximately 4.5 months apart. *Data Analysis* 

A paired t-test was used to determine differences in SE, CRP, and LCJPS-mod scores from pre- to post- test. The effect of demographic variables on change in each portion of the survey was determined by ANOVA and ANCOVA. A value of p=0.05 was set *a priori* to indicate statistical significance. Data analyses were conducted using SPSS v. 16.0.1 (*SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL*).

#### Results

The results from each section of the survey were analyzed separately. The first section reports students SE across several items, compared to varying levels of AT ability. The second section reports students perceived confidence in the clinical reasoning process, determined by the results of the 10-item CRP. Finally, the perceptions of participant's clinical reasoning abilities are reported via their scores on the LCJPS-mod portion of the survey.

#### Self-Efficacy

Statistically significant change was found in the SE scores of the participants from the beginning to end of the semester in each of the 4 classifications (SE alone, p<0.004; SE compared to entry-level, p<0.001; SE compared to peer, p<0.010; SE compared to expert, p<0.000). Several of the domains and content areas were also found to have significant change after the semester (Figure 2). The highest and most significant change was calculated in treatment and rehabilitation (p<0.001), research implications in clinical practice (p<0.001), patient outcomes (p<0.002), and mentorship (p<0.017).

#### Perceived Confidence in Clinical Reasoning

The number of participants who responded, "fully disagree," "disagree," "agree," and "fully agree" to each of the CRP questions were summed (Figure 3). Prior to the semester, 100% (n=17) of the participants felt at ease with 'summarizing the main features of a patient's problem' and 94.12% (n=16) did not have any problem 're-evaluating hypotheses in light of new findings.' A slightly lower percentage (88.24%, n=15) felt at ease with 'applying newly acquired information' and 'familiarity with the problem-solving approach.' Some participants reported difficulty with 'organizing hypotheses hierarchically' (47.06%, n=8) and 'defining the context of a patient's problem' (29.41%, n=5).

Self Efficacy of	t(17)	d	95% CI	Pre-Mean	Post- Mean	Change
Prevention and Wellness	2.063	0.056	[-0.596, 0.008]	2.882	3.176	0.294
<b>Clinical Evaluation and Diagnosis</b>	2.073	0.055	[-0.714, 0.008]	2.882	3.338	0.456
Immediate Care	1.571	0.136	[-0.691, 0.103]	3.309	3.691	0.382
Treatment and Rehabilitation	4.243	0.001	[0.794, -0.265]	2.824	3.335	0.511
Organization and Administration	1.074	0.299	[-0.229, 0.700]	3.250	3.368	0.118
Professional Responsibility	0.643	0.529	[-0.758, 0.405]	3.412	3.603	0.191
Research Implications in Clinical Practice	4.243	0.001	[-1.323, -0.441]	2.176	2.868	0.691
Patient Outcomes	3.781	0.002	[-1.744, -0.491]	2.132	3.250	1.118
Statistics	0.808	0.431	[-0.853, 0.382]	1.971	2.235	0.265
Basic Science	2.384	0.030	[-0.778, -0.046]	2.441	2.794	0.353
Scholarship	2.167	0.046	[-1.047, -0.011]	2.250	3.029	0.779
Mentorship	2.678	0.017	[-1.159, -0.135]	2.882	3.515	0.632
Self Efficacy by Classification	t(17)	d	95% CI	Pre-Mean	Post- Mean	Change
Self-Efficacy	3.348	0.004	[-8.550, -1.920]	31.647	36.882	5.235
Self-Efficacy compared to entry-level clinician	4.237	0.001	[-8.624, -2.904]	38.235	44.000	5.765
Self-Efficacy compared to peer	2.945	0.010	[-9.372, -1.502]	37.125	42.563	5.438
Self-Efficacy compared to expert clinician	6.899	0.000	[-9.150, -4.849]	22.824	29.824	7.000

Figure 2 Two Tailed Paired t-test of self-efficacy in domains and content areas, and of self-efficacy classifications. Statistics highlighted in light grey were statistically significant, dark grey were not statistically significant.

	Agreement	(% u);	Disagreemer	tt (n %)	Me	E	Standard [	leviation	t(17)	Significance	95% CI
Question	Pre-	Post-	Pre-	Post-	Pre-	Post-	Pre-	Post-			
I feel generally familiar with the problem solving approach	15 88.24%	16 94.12%	2 11.76%	1 5.88%	3.06	3.12	0.430	0.490	0.566	0.580	[-0.28, 0.16]
I feel at ease with the different steps of the process	13 76.47%	14 82.35%	4 23.53%	3 17.65%	2.94	2.88	0.610	0.490	0.808	0.431	[-0.19, 0.43]
I have no problems defining the context of a patient's problem	12 70.59%	14 82.35%	5 29.41%	3 17.65%	2.82	2.88	0.640	0.490	0.324	0.750	[-0.44, 0.33]
feel capable of summarizing the main features of a patient's problem	17 100.00%	17 100.00%	0 0.00%	0 0.00%	3.29	3.29	0.470	0.470	0.000	1.000	[-0.33, 0.33]
feel competent generating working hypotheses	14 82.35%	16 94.12%	3 17.65%	1 5.88%	2.94	3.06	0.560	0.430	1.000	0.332	[-0.37, 0.13]
I have no problem in re-evaluating my hypotheses in the light of new findings	16 94.12%	14 82.35%	1 5.88%	3 17.65%	3.29	3.18	0690	0.730	0.808	0.431	[-0.19, 0.43]
I feel capable of organizing my hypotheses hierarchically	9 52.94%	14 82.35%	8 47.06%	3 17.65%	2.59	2.88	0.620	0.490	1.464	0.096	[-0.65. 0.06]
I have no difficulties in applying newly acquired information to a problem	15 88.24%	14 82.35%	2 11.76%	3 17.65%	ო	3.13	0.610	0.720	0.696	0.496	[-0.48, 0.24]
I feel at ease managing patient problems	13 76.47%	15 88.24%	4 23.53%	2 11.76%	2.88	2.94	0.600	0.430	0.368	0.718	[-0.40, 0.28]
I feel competent applying the clinical reasoning process in patient care	13 76.47%	12 70.59%	4 23.53%	5 29.41%	2.88	2.71	0.600	0.690	0.899	0.382	[-0.24, 0.59]

Figure 3 Clinical Reasoning Perceptions (CRP) summarized results. Agreement is represented by responses of "fully agree" and "agree". Disagreement is represented by responses of "fully disagree" and "disagree".

After the semester, positive change was reported in 7 of the 10 items. The most change occurred in the percentage of participants who reported ease with the 'capability to organize hypotheses hierarchically', which increased to 82.35% (n=14), a change of 29.41% (n=5). Ease with 'Defining the context of the patient's problem', 'generating a working hypothesis', and 'managing patient problems' were also reported by 11.76% (n=2) more participants after the semester.

Participants reported decreased ease with 3 items. The number of participants who felt at ease with 're-evaluating hypotheses in light of new findings' decreased from 94.12% (n=16) to 82.35% (n=14). 'Applying new information to a problem' and 'applying the clinical reasoning process in patient care' each decreased by 1 participant.

#### Perceptions of Clinical Reasoning Ability

All items in the LCJPS-mod were summed, according to the scoring procedure of the original survey researchers,<sup>18</sup> for total pre- and post- scores of 92.25 and 96.37 respectively. Scores ranged from 71-106 points prior to the semester, and 84-107 points after the semester. One participant did not complete the post- LCJPS-mod so his/her results were not included. Descriptive information of the pre- and post- scores is provided in Figure 4. The majority of participants (68.75%, *n=9*) experienced an increase in LCJPS-mod scores from beginning to end of semester. Correlation of beginning and end of semester LCJPS-mod scores was high, meaning that participants with high scores at the beginning of the semester also tended to have high scores at the end of the semester. Some participants experienced a decrease in score (25%, *n=4*) from beginning to end of semester, and one participant's scores stayed the same.

	Mean	n	Standard Deviation	Standard Error of the Mean
Pre-	92.250	16	8.497	2.124
Post-	96.375	16	6.702	1.676
	Mean	Standard Deviation	t(16)	Р
LCJPS-mod	4.125	7.402	2.229	0.042

Figure 4. Descriptive statistical summary with results of two-tailed paired t-test of LCJPS-mod scores.

#### Discussion

#### Self-Efficacy

Significant change was found in the participants' SE in the majority of the content areas assessed. The content areas that did not change significantly were immediate care, organization and administration, professional responsibility, and statistics. The pre-testing scores of SE in immediate care, organization and administration, and professional responsibility were the highest compared to the other domains; this may indicate the participants' already high level of SE in these areas upon entrance in the program. Practitioners with several years of clinical experience should be well versed in immediate care and organization and administration procedures as they are essential, mandatory expectations for all athletic trainers set forth by BOC Practice Standards (Standards 3,7).<sup>26</sup> The DAT is a voluntary postprofessional degree for athletic trainers looking to advance their clinical practice. Athletic trainers who are willing to commit the considerable time and effort to the DAT program most have a strong sense of inherent professional responsibility, substantiated by the high SE scores in professional responsibility. The last content area that did not significantly change was statistics, which may have resulted from the participants having not reached the statistics components of the program curriculum

at the time of the survey or because the content area may not have been a primary focus of the participants' post-professional training or clinical practice.

Outcomes of performance, not performance itself, have an effect on SE.<sup>20</sup> Positive outcomes increase SE, while negative outcomes decrease SE. Elements of the DAT curriculum include the instruction of new assessment methods and manual therapy techniques, research into several clinical paradigms, and collection and analysis of clinical outcomes. Students in the DAT evaluate their patient care on a daily basis and experience positive and negative clinical outcomes. Self-efficacy is affected by outcome of performance, so participants who experienced more positive outcomes in their patient care may have had more positive change in SE. The SE areas that may be most affected by the collection and analysis of clinical outcomes are prevention and wellness, clinical evaluation and diagnosis, treatment and rehabilitation, and patient outcomes. The verbal communication of confidence and faith in one's abilities also increases SE.<sup>20</sup> Patients may express more confidence in their clinician's abilities if they are experiencing positive change as a result of the clinician's performance. A clinician may have higher SE if they are having a greater positive effect on their patients.

In turn, high SE increases motivation, academic performance, and overall interest in subject matter.<sup>20</sup> The participants who experienced the most change in their SE over the semester may have experienced an increase in their clinical performance, motivation, confidence, and positive patient outcomes. If high self-efficacy beliefs equate to improved performance, developing post-professional programs that enhance learner self-efficacy may ultimately lead to improved clinical competence. Clinical outcomes were not collected in this study, so a correlation between actual clinical competence and SE could not be made. Until outcomes are compared to SE causation cannot be inferred, and the relationship between outcomes and SE cannot be determined with any certainty.

#### Confidence in Clinical Reasoning

The purpose of the CRP questions was to identify the aspects of the hypotheticodeductive process that the participants perceived to either facilitate or impede their acquisition of clinical reasoning. The DAT student scores conveyed much higher confidence in comparison to medical student scores in the original research. The items that most medical students reported ease with were 'summarizing the main features of a problem' (73%), 'generating working hypothesis' (68%), and 're-evaluating hypotheses' (63%),<sup>19</sup> compared to 100%, 94.12%, and 82.35% of the DAT students, respectively. The most difficult processes reported by medical students were 'feeling at ease with the clinical reasoning process' (46%), 'managing a patient's problem' (45%), and 'applying clinical reasoning in patient care' (44%).<sup>19</sup> The percentage of participating DAT students who reported ease with the same processes was 82.35%, 88.24%, and 70.59%, respectively.

Comparison between AT professional's and medical student's CRP scores was made possible through the CRP. The medical students were completing their professional education and had limited clinical experience,<sup>19</sup> while the DAT students were practicing professionals completing post-professional doctoral training. A comparison of the change the medical students made over the course of a semester would be more applicable. Unfortunately, the original researchers of the CRP did not collect data prior to the implementation of their CR unit and did not calculate the change that occurred.

#### Perceptions of Clinical Reasoning Ability

One aim was to determine if the DAT course work had an effect on participant perceptions of clinical reasoning over one semester. Respondents' LCJPS-mod scores indicated an overall statistically significant change in perceptions of clinical reasoning abilities over the semester (p<0.042, 95% CI=-8.06, -0.18). Researchers who have used the original LCJPS to assess nursing students' change after completing patient simulations or directed clinical reasoning courses reported average change over a semester to be 2.31 and 3.81 total points.<sup>18,22-23</sup> The total average change for the participants of this study was 4.12 points.

Significant correlations were found between the scores of the LCJPS-mod and the other portions of the survey, specifically the CRP, SE, SE compared to entry-level, and SE compared to expert (Figure 5). Correlation to an already validated tool establishes criterion validity; a measure of how well a set of variables predicts an outcome based on information from another set of variables. Powerful correlations between scores on each portion of the survey compared to the LCJPS-mod reflect successful assessment of CR perceptions.

Cor	relation					
				SE	SE	SE
		CRP	SE	compared to	compared to	compared to
				Entry Level	Peer	Expert
LCJ	JPS-mod	0.553	0.643	0.504	0.469	0.542
Sigr	nificance (P)	0.026	0.007	0.046	0.078	0.030

Figure 5. Correlation between the LCJPS-mod and the other portions of the survey.

A reasonable supposition may be that years of experience as an AT or highest degree completed will have an effect on a clinician's confidence in the CR process or their CR abilities. Correlation calculations were attempted to determine relationships between total CRP, LCJPS-mod, and SE scores and years of experience, age, gender, and highest degree completed. To protect the identity of the participants, demographic answers were stratified, resulting in too few participants representing demographic categories. Statistical significance was not detected between any demographic variable and the elements of the survey and no clear trends emerged. Further research is needed to determine relationships between CRP, LCJPS-mod, SE and demographic variables.

The effects of paired demographics on elements of the survey were calculated. To determine the effect of age (fixed-factor) and gender, degree, or years of experience (co-variants) on the elements of the survey, ANCOVA was calculated. No statistically significant relationships were found. The highest variance calculated was the effect of gender and age on SE compared to a peer of the same years of experience (0.085, F= 2.439). Additional studies, with larger and more normally distributed sample size, are needed to determine the effect that demographic variables have on the CRP, LCJPSmod, and SE.

#### Limitations

Confidence in clinical reasoning, perceptions of clinical reasoning ability, and self-efficacy of AT domain and content areas has not been previously studied in AT students or professionals in this manner. Therefore, there is not any research to compare with the results of this study for consistency. The LCJPS has not been modified to fit other health care professions, nor has it been used in AT specifically. Attempts were made to validate the CRP by correlating it to the LCJPS, which has well established validity. Due to the modifications made to the tool, however, validity of the LCJPS-mod would also need to be independently established.

The unknown influences of clinical and other professional experiences on the student's perceptions of CR skills also posed potential limitations. Specifically, in determining SE compared to an expert, the participants' definitions of expert may be varied. Since expertise has not been defined in AT, participants may perceive expertise differently, and their definition of an expert may change during the semester.

The small sample size of the study also lends to its limitations. Statistical analysis for correlation between demographic variables and elements of the survey could not be determined with sufficient power, so a larger and more varied sample would be ideal. The lack of control group is also a limitation. A control group would give additional information about the comparative scores between groups, for example students in another post-professional doctoral program or professionals not in a degree program.

#### Future Research

Future research is needed to validate the SE, CRP, and LCJPS-mod for a wider use in AT at the professional and post-professional education levels. Repeat administrations of the survey at regular intervals over the course of the DAT program may shed light on what periods of time students experience increased or decreased change, and how specific content or clinical/professional experiences affect the outcome. Correlation to curricular sequencing and other factors (e.g., practice setting, decision making skill, ethnicity, etc.) could be calculated once comparable data is established for students of the DAT program.

The survey could also be administered in programs of varying focus (e.g., theoretical, professional practice) and degree level (i.e., undergraduate, professional masters, post-professional masters, doctoral), as well as to professionals with a range of professional experience across several demographics. Comparing the scores of other participant groups could determine the influence of varying experiences on elements of CR. The distinction between degree types and students' resultant CR characteristics could be demonstrated.

The relationship between SE and clinical performance also needs to be studied. To determine if a relationship exists between actual clinical performance and SE, clinical outcomes or another measure of clinical performance need to be compared to clinician ratings of SE. Identifying a relationship between SE and clinical competence may allow clinicians to equate changes in SE to changes in clinical performance.

#### Conclusion

Clinical reasoning by athletic trainers is vital for effective and safe patient care,<sup>2</sup> as well as professional development toward advanced clinical practice. The findings of this study help us to better understand the change that occurs in the perceptions and confidence in CR of students in the University of Idaho DAT program. Students experienced a significant change in their perceptions of CR ability, perceived confidence in CR, and SE over the first full semester of DAT coursework and residency. High self-efficacy beliefs equate to improved performance so the development of postprofessional programs that enhance learner self-efficacy may lead to improved clinical competence. The results of this study demonstrate that students in a post-professional, clinically centered program experience increases in perceived CR abilities and self-efficacy. Further research is needed to compare the CR characteristics of students participating in a variety of degree programs. While no inference could be made to the types of reasoning being used in the students' practice, this study helps lay the foundation for future research in CR of AT, and represents the benefits clinicians experience toward advancement of their practice when completing coursework in clinically-centered post-professional doctoral program.

## References

- 1) Etheridge SA. Learning to think like a nurse: stories from new nurse graduates. Journal of continuing education in nursing. 2007;38(1): 24-30.
- 2) Banning M. A review of clinical decision making: models and current research. J Clin Nurs. 2008;17(2):187-195.
- 3) Shirrell D. Critical thinking as a predictor of success in an associate degree nursing program. Teach Learn Nurs. 2007;3(4):131-136.
- 4) Cruz EB, Moore AP, Cross V. A qualitative study of physiotherapy final year undergraduate students' perceptions of clinical reasoning. Man Ther. 2012;17(6): 549-53.
- 5) Epstein RM, Hundert EM. Defining and assessing professional competence. JAMA. 2002;287(2):226-35.
- 6) Eva, K.W., What every teacher needs to know about clinical reasoning. Med Educ. 2005;39(1):98-106.
- 7) Vela LI. Strategies for assessing and teaching clinical reasoning in athletic training education. Presented: Online. 2013 National Athletic Trainers' Association.
- 8) Geisler PR, Lazenby TW. Clinical reasoning in athletic training education: modeling expert thinking. Athl Train Educ J, 2009;4(2):52-65.
- 9) Knight KL. Progressive skill development and progressive clinical experience responsibility. Athl Train Educ J, 2008;1(1):2-4.
- 10) Massie JB, Strang AJ, Ward RM. Employer perceptions of the academic preparation of entry-level certified athletic trainers. Athl Train Educ J. 2009.;4(2):70-74.
- 11) Ericsson KA, Whyte J, Ward P. Expert performance in nursing: reviewing research on expertise in nursing within the framework of the expert-performance approach. Adv Nurs Sci. 2007 Jan-Mar;30(1):E58-71.
- 12) Gardin FA, Middlemas DA, Mensch JM, A qualitative description of selfregulatory behaviors of male expert and novice athletic trainers in collegiate settings. Athl Train Educ J. 2011;6(3):136-144.

- 14) Anderson K, Peterson R, Tonkin A, Cleary E. The assessment of student reasoning in the context of a clinically oriented PBL program. Med Teach. 2008;30(8):787-94.
- 15) Clark R, Harrelson GL. Designing instruction that supports cognitive learning processes. J Athl Train. 2002;37(4 Suppl):S152-S159.
- 16) Coderre S, Mandin H, Harasym PH, Fick GH. Diagnostic reasoning strategies and diagnostic success. Med Educ. 2003;37(8):695-703.
- 17) Kuiper R, Pesut D, Kautz D. Promoting the self-regulation of clinical reasoning skills in nursing students. Open Nurs J. 2009;3:76-85.
- 18) Lasater K. Clinical judgment development: using simulation to create an assessment rubric. J Nurs Educ. 2007;46(11):496-503.
- 19) Van Gessel E, Nendaz MR, Vermeulen B, Junod A, Vu NV. Development of clinical reasoning from the basic sciences to the clerkships: a longitudinal assessment of medical students' needs and self- perception after a transitional learning unit. Med Educ. 2003;37(11):966-74.
- 20) Bandura A. Self-efficacy. Wiley Online Library; 1994.
- 21) Board of Certification Athletic Training Practice Domains. Available at: http://www.bocatc.org/public/what-is-an-athletic-trainer. Accessed March, 2013.
- 22) Jensen RS (2010). The effect of curricular sequencing of human patient simulation learning experiences on students' self-perceptions of clinical reasoning abilities. (Doctoral dissertation). (Doctoral dissertation, Indiana University).
- 23) Mann JW (2010). Promoting curriculum choices: Critical thinking and clinical judgment skill development in baccalaureate nursing students. (Doctoral dissertation, University of Kansas).
- 24) Jensen, R. (2008). Reliability assessment of instrument to evaluate nursing students' perceptions of clinical judgment skills. Fort Wayne, IN.
- 25) Litwin MS. How to measure survey reliability and validity. Sage. 1995.

26) Board of Certification Standards of Professional Practice. Available at: http://www.bocatc.org/images/stories/resources/boc\_standards\_of\_profess ional\_practice\_1401bf.pdf. Accessed March, 2013.

# References

- 1) Bennett, K. S., & Barrows, H. S. (1972). An investigation of the diagnostic problem solving methods used by resident neurologists. *Mathematical Biosciences*, *15*(1), 163-181.
- 2) Lusted L. (1986). Introduction to Medical Decision Making. *Springfield, IL*. Thomas.
- 3) Amini M, Moghadami M, Kojuri J, Abbasi H, Abadi AAD, Molaee NA, Pishbin E, Charlin B. (2011). An innovative method to assess clinical reasoning skills: Clinical reasoning tests in the second national medical science Olympiad in Iran. *BMC research notes*, 4(1), 418.
- 4) Anderson, K., Peterson, R., Tonkin, A., & Cleary, E. (2008). The assessment of student reasoning in the context of a clinically oriented PBL program. *Medical teacher*, *30*(8), 787-794.
- 5) Arnold, B. L., Gansneder, B. M., & Perrin, D. H. (2005). *Research methods in athletic training*. FA Davis Company.
- *Athletic training educational competencies*. National Athletic Trainers' Association, 2006.
- 7) Audétat, M. C., Dory, V., Nendaz, M., Vanpee, D., Pestiaux, D., Junod Perron, N., & Charlin, B. (2012). What is so difficult about managing clinical reasoning difficulties?. *Medical education*, *46*(2), 216-227.
- 8) Audétat, M. C., Laurin, S., Sanche, G., Béïque, C., Fon, N. C., Blais, J. G., & Charlin, B. (2013). Clinical reasoning difficulties: a taxonomy for clinical teachers. *Medical teacher*, *35*(3), e984-e989.
- 9) Bandura A. *Self efficacy*. Wiley Online Library; 1994.
- 10) Banning, M. (2008). A review of clinical decision making: models and current research. *Journal of clinical nursing*, *17*(2), 187-195.
- 11) Benner, P., Sutphen, M., Leonard, V., & Day, L. (2010). Educating nurses. *A Call for Radical Transformation, San Francisco*.
- 12) Benner, P., Tanner, C., & Chesla, C. (1992). From beginner to expert: gaining a differentiated clinical world in critical care nursing. *Advances in Nursing Science*, *14*(3), 13-28.
- 13) Beullens, J., Struyf, E., & Van Damme, B. (2005). Do extended matching multiple-choice questions measure clinical reasoning?. *Medical education*, *39*(4), 410-417.
- 14) Board of Certification Athletic Training Practice Domains. Available at: http://www.bocatc.org/public/what-is-an-athletic-trainer. Accessed March, 2013.

- 15) Board of Certification Standards of Professional Practice. Available at: http://www.bocatc.org/images/stories/resources/boc\_standards\_of\_professio nal\_practice\_1401bf.pdf. Accessed March, 2013
- 16) Bordage, G. (1994). Elaborated knowledge: a key to successful diagnostic thinking. *Academic medicine*, *69*(11), 883-5.
- 17) Bordage, G., & Lemieux, M. (1991). Semantic structures and diagnostic thinking of experts and novices. *Academic Medicine*.
- 18) Boshuizen, H., & Schmidt, H. G. (1992). On the role of biomedical knowledge in clinical reasoning by experts, intermediates and novices. *Cognitive science*, 16(2), 153-184.
- 19) Boshuizen, H., Vleuten, C. P., Schmidt, H. G., & Machiels-Bongaerts, M. (1997). Measuring knowledge and clinical reasoning skills in a problem-based curriculum. *Medical Education*, *31*(2), 115-121.
- 20) Charlin, B., Lubarsky, S., Millette, B., Crevier, F., Audétat, M. C., Charbonneau, A., ... & Bourdy, C. (2012). Clinical reasoning processes: unravelling complexity through graphical representation. *Medical education*, *46*(5), 454-463.
- 21) Christensen, M., & Hewitt-Taylor, J. (2006). From expert to tasks, expert nursing practice redefined?. *Journal of Clinical Nursing*, *15*(12), 1531-1539.
- 22) Clark, R., & Harrelson, G. L. (2002). Designing instruction that supports cognitive learning processes. *Journal of athletic training*, *37*(4 suppl), S-152.
- 23) Coderre, S., Mandin, H., Harasym, P. H., & Fick, G. H. (2003). Diagnostic reasoning strategies and diagnostic success. *Medical education*, *37*(8), 695-703.
- 24) Cohen, S., Kamarck, T., & Mermelstein, R. (1983). A global measure of perceived stress. *Journal of health and social behavior*, 385-396.
- 25) Constantinou, M., & Brown, M. (2010). *Therapeutic taping for musculoskeletal conditions*. Elsevier Australia.
- 26) Cook, C., Beaty, S., Kissenberth, M. J., Siffri, P., Pill, S. G., & Hawkins, R. J. (2012). Diagnostic accuracy of five orthopedic clinical tests for diagnosis of superior labrum anterior posterior (SLAP) lesions. *Journal of Shoulder and Elbow Surgery*, *21*(1), 13-22.
- 27) Cook, G. (2010). *Movement: Functional movement systems: screening, assessment, corrective strategies*. On Target Publications.
- 28) Coughlin, L. D., & Patel, V. L. (1987). Processing of critical information by physicians and medical students. *Journal of Medical Education*, 62, 818-828.
- 29) Cruz, E. B., Moore, A. P., & Cross, V. (2012). A qualitative study of physiotherapy final year undergraduate students' perceptions of clinical reasoning. *Manual therapy*, *17*(6), 549-553.
- 30) Cyriax, J. H. (1993). *Cyriax's illustrated manual of orthopaedic medicine* (pp. 181-196). Oxford: Butterworth-Heinemann.

- 31) De Connick, Steven. (2012). Clinical Reasoning in Modern Orthopedic Medicine. 2<sup>nd</sup> ed. OMConsult-ETGOM Publications.
- 32) Doody, C., & McAteer, M. (2002). Clinical reasoning of expert and novice physiotherapists in an outpatient orthopaedic setting. *Physiotherapy*, *88*(5), 258-268.
- 33) Edwards, I., Jones, M., Carr, J., Braunack-Mayer, A., & Jensen, G. M. (2004). Clinical reasoning strategies in physical therapy. *Physical Therapy*, 84(4), 312-330.
- 34) Eisenberg, J. M. (1979). Sociologic influences on decision-making by clinicians. *Annals of Internal Medicine*, *90*(6), 957-964.
- 35) Elstein, A. S., Shulman, L. S., Sprafka, S. A., & Allal, L. (1978). *Medical problem solving: an analysis of clinical reasoning* (Vol. 2). Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
- 36) Elstein, A. S., Shulman, L. S., & Sprafka, S. A. (1990). Medical Problem Solving A Ten-Year Retrospective. *Evaluation & the Health Professions*, *13*(1), 5-36.
- 37) Elstein, A. S., Kagan, N., Shulman, L. S., Jason, H., & Loupe, M. J. (1972). Methods and theory in the study of medical inquiry. *Academic Medicine*, *47*(2), 85-92.
- 38) Elstein, A. S. (2009). Thinking about diagnostic thinking: a 30-year perspective. *Advances in health sciences education*, *14*(1), 7-18.
- 39) Elstein, A. S. (1994). What goes around comes around: Return of the hypothetico-deductive strategy. *Teaching and Learning in Medicine: An International Journal*, 6(2), 121-123.
- 40) Epstein, R. M., & Hundert, E. M. (2002). Defining and assessing professional competence. *Jama*, *287*(2), 226-235.
- 41) Ericsson, K. A., Prietula, M. J., & Cokely, E. T. (2007). The making of an expert. *Harvard business review*, *85*(7/8), 114.
- 42) Ericsson, K. A., Whyte IV, J., & Ward, P. (2007). Expert performance in nursing: Reviewing research on expertise in nursing within the framework of the expertperformance approach. *Advances in Nursing Science*, *30*(1), E58-E71.
- 43) Ericsson, K. A. (2004). Deliberate practice and the acquisition and maintenance of expert performance in medicine and related domains. *Academic Medicine*, 79(10), S70-S81.
- 44) Etheridge, S. A. (2006). Learning to think like a nurse: stories from new nurse graduates. *Journal of Continuing Education in Nursing*, *38*(1), 24-30.
- 45) Eva, K. W. (2003). On the generality of specificity. *Medical Education*, *37*(7), 587-588.

- 46) Eva, K. W., Hatala, R. M., LeBlanc, V. R., & Brooks, L. R. (2007). Teaching from the clinical reasoning literature: combined reasoning strategies help novice diagnosticians overcome misleading information. *Medical education*, *41*(12), 1152-1158.
- 47) Eva, K. W. (2005). What every teacher needs to know about clinical reasoning. *Medical education*, *39*(1), 98-106.
- 48) Farr, J., & Gomoll, A. H. (2014). Patellofemoral Considerations: Pain, Instability, Chondrosis, and Alignment. In *Cartilage Restoration* (pp. 71-93). Springer New York.
- 49) Feinstein AR. (1967). *Clinical Judgment*. Baltimore: Williams & Wilkins.
- 50) Fleming, M. H. (1991). Clinical reasoning in medicine compared with clinical reasoning in occupational therapy. *The American Journal of Occupational Therapy*, *45*(11), 988-996.
- 51) Fowler, L. P. (1997). Clinical reasoning strategies used during care planning. *Clinical Nursing Research*, 6(4), 349-361.
- 52) Frank, C., Kobesova, A., & Kolar, P. (2013). Dynamic neuromuscular stabilization & sports rehabilitation. *International journal of sports physical therapy*, *8*(1), 62.
- 53) Fuller, D. (1997). Critical thinking in undergraduate athletic training education. *Journal of athletic training*, *32*(3), 242.
- 54) Gardin, F. A., Middlemas, D. A., & Mensch, J. M. (2011). A Qualitative Description of Self-Regulatory Behaviors of Male Expert and Novice Athletic Trainers in Collegiate Settings. *Athletic Training Education Journal*, 6(3), 136-144.
- 55) Geisler, P. R., & Lazenby, T. W. (2009). Clinical reasoning in athletic training education: modeling expert thinking. *Athl Train Educ J*, *4*(2), 52-65.
- 56) Chapparo, C., & Ranka, J. (2000). Clinical reasoning in occupational therapy. *Clinical reasoning in health professions*, 128-137.
- 57) Groen, G. J., & Patel, V. L. (1985). Medical problem-solving: some questionable assumptions. *Medical Education*, *19*(2), 95-100.
- 58) Guest, C. B., Regehr, G., & Tiberius, R. G. (2001). The life long challenge of expertise. *Medical Education*, *35*(1), 78-81.
- 59) Hall, T., Chan, H. T., Christensen, L., Odenthal, B., Wells, C., & Robinson, K. (2007). Efficacy of a C1-C2 self-sustained natural apophyseal glide (SNAG) in the management of cervicogenic headache. *Journal of Orthopaedic & Sports Physical Therapy*, *37*(3), 100-107.
- 60) Hegedus, E. J., Goode, A., Campbell, S., Morin, A., Tamaddoni, M., Moorman, C. T., & Cook, C. (2008). Physical examination tests of the shoulder: a systematic review with meta-analysis of individual tests. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, *42*(2), 80-92.

- 61) Heinerichs, S., Vela, L. I., & Drouin, J. M. (2013). A Learner-Centered Technique and Clinical Reasoning, Reflection, and Case Presentation Attributes in Athletic Training Students. *Journal of athletic training*, *48*(3), 362-371.
- 62) Hendricson, W. D., Andrieu, S. C., Chadwick, D. G., Chmar, J. E., Cole, J. R., George, M. C., ... & Kalkwarf, K. L. (2006). Educational strategies associated with development of problem-solving, critical thinking, and self-directed learning. *Journal of Dental Education*, *70*(9), 925-936.
- 63) Hostetter, M., & Klein, S. (2012). Using patient-reported outcomes to improve health care quality. *Quality Matters*. The Commonwealth Fund.
- 64) European Teaching Group of Orthopedic Medicine. (2013). Mission. http://etgom.be.com.
- 65) Hughes, R. G., Benner, P., & Sutphen, M. (2008). Clinical reasoning, decisionmaking, and action: Thinking critically and clinically.
- 66) Jensen RS (2010). *The effect of curricular sequencing of human patient simulation learning experiences on students' self-perceptions of clinical reasoning abilities.* (Doctoral dissertation). (Doctoral dissertation, Indiana University).
- 67) Jensen, G. M., Shepard, K. F., Gwyer, J., & Hack, L. M. (1992). Attribute dimensions that distinguish master and novice physical therapy clinicians in orthopedic settings. *Physical Therapy*, *72*(10), 711-722.
- 68) Johnson, G. W., Cadwallader, K., Scheffel, S. B., & Epperly, T. D. (2007). Treatment of lateral epicondylitis. *American family physician*, *76*(6).
- 69) Jones, M., Edwards, I., & Gifford, L. (2002). Conceptual models for implementing biopsychosocial theory in clinical practice. *Manual therapy*, *7*(1), 2-9.
- 70) Jones, M. A. (1992). Clinical reasoning in manual therapy. *Physical Therapy*, *72*(12), 875-884.
- 71) Jull, G., Amiri, M., Bullock-Saxton, J., Darnell, R., & Lander, C. (2007). Cervical musculoskeletal impairment in frequent intermittent headache. Part 1: Subjects with single headaches. *Cephalalgia*, *27*(7), 793-802.
- 72) Kassirer, J. P., & Kopelman, R. I. (1991). *Learning clinical reasoning*. Baltimore: Williams & Wilkins.
- 73) Khatami, S., & MacEntee, M. I. (2011). Evolution of clinical reasoning in dental education. *Journal of dental education*, *75*(3), 321-328.
- 74) Kingdon, Neurfeld. (2003). Clinical reasoning- what is it and why should I care? Ottowa, CAOT Publications ACE.
- 75) KJeinman, A. (1980). *Patients and healers in the context of culture,* Los Angeles: University of California Press.
- 76) Knight, K. (2008). Editorial: Hyposkillia & critical thinking: What's the connection. *Athletic Training Education Journal*, *3*(3), 79-81.

- 77) Knight, K. L., & Ingersoll, C. D. (1998). Developing scholarship in athletic training. *Journal of athletic training*, *33*(3), 271.
- 78) Knight, K. L. (2008). Progressive skill development and progressive clinical experience responsibility. *Athletic Training Education Journal*, 1(1), 2-4.
- 79) Kobesova, A., & Kolar, P. (2014). Developmental kinesiology: Three levels of motor control in the assessment and treatment of the motor system. *Journal of bodywork and movement therapies*, *18*(1), 23-33.
- 80) Koch, T., & Kralik, D. (2009). *Participatory action research in health care*. John Wiley & Sons.
- 81) Koshy, E., Koshy, V., & Waterman, H. (2010). Action research in healthcare. Sage.
- 82) Kuiper, R., Pesut, D. J., & Kautz, D. D. (2009). Promoting the self-regulation of clinical reasoning skills in nursing students. *The open nursing journal*, *3*, 76-85.
- 83) Kulatunga-Moruzi C, Brooks LR, Norman GR. (2004) The diagnostic disadvantage of having all the facts: using comprehensive feature lists to bias medical diagnosis. *Journal of Experiential Psychology, Learning, Memory and Cognition*, 30, 563–72.
- 84) Lasater, K., & Nielsen, A. (2009). Reflective journaling for clinical judgment development and evaluation. *The Journal of nursing education*, *48*(1), 40-44.
- 85) Lasater, K. (2007). Clinical judgment development: Using simulation to create an assessment rubric. *Journal of Nursing Education*, *46*(11), 496-503.
- 86) Lee, A. Y., & Hutchison, L. (1998). Improving learning from examples through reflection. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: Applied*, 4(3), 187.
- 87) Levine, D., & Bleakley, A. (2013). Rethinking clinical reasoning. *Medical education*, *47*(7), 745-746.
- 88) Litwin MS. (1995). *How to measure survey reliability and validity.* Sage.
- 89) Magee, D. J. (2013). *Orthopedic physical assessment*. Elsevier Health Sciences.
- 90) Malanga, G. A., Andrus, S., Nadler, S. F., & McLean, J. (2003). Physical examination of the knee: a review of the original test description and scientific validity of common orthopedic tests. *Archives of physical medicine and rehabilitation*, *84*(4), 592-603.
- 91) Mamede, S., Schmidt, H. G., & Rikers, R. (2007). Diagnostic errors and reflective practice in medicine. *Journal of evaluation in clinical practice*, *13*(1), 138-145.
- 92) Mann, JW. (2010). Promoting curriculum choices: Critical thinking and clinical judgment skill development in baccalaureate nursing students. (Doctoral dissertation, University of Kansas).
- 93) Massie, J. B., Strang, A. J., & Ward, R. M. (2009). Employer perceptions of the academic preparation of entry-level certified athletic trainers. *Athl Train Educ J*, *4*(2), 70-74.

- 94) Mattingly, C. (1989). *Thinking With stories: Story and experience in a clinical practice.* Unpublished doctoral dissertation, Massachusetts Institute of Technology, Cambridge, MA.
- 95) Mattingly, C. (1991). What is clinical reasoning? *American journal of Occupational Therapy* 45, 979-986.
- 96) Mattingly, C., & Fleming, M. H. (1994). *Clinical reasoning: Forms of inquiry in a therapeutic practice*. Philadelphia: FA Davis.
- 97) McCaugherty, D. (1991). The use of a teaching model to promote reflection and the experiential integration of theory and practice in first-year student nurses: an action research study. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, *16*(5), 534-543.
- 98) McLeod, T. C. V., Snyder, A. R., Parsons, J. T., Bay, R. C., Michener, L. A., & Sauers, E. L. (2008). Using disablement models and clinical outcomes assessment to enable evidence-based athletic training practice, part II: clinical outcomes assessment. *Journal of athletic training*, 43(4), 437.
- 99) Melzack, R. (1999). From the gate to the neuromatrix. *Pain, 82*, S121-S126.
- 100) Melzack, R., & Wall, P. D. (1967). Pain mechanisms: a new theory. *Survey of Anesthesiology*, *11*(2), 89-90.
- 101) Meyer, J. (2000). Using qualitative methods in health related action research. *British Medical Journal*, *320*(7228), 178-181.
- 102) Miller, J. (2000). Mulligan concept–management of tennis elbow. *Canadian Physiotherapy Association Orthopaedic Division Review, May/June*, 45-46.
- 103) Mountford, B., & Rogers, L. (1996). Using individual and group reflection in and on assessment as a tool for effective learning. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 24(6), 1127-1134.
- 104) Mulligan, B. R. (1993). Mobilisations with movement (MWM'S). *Journal of Manual & Manipulative Therapy*, *1*(4), 154-156.
- 105) Mulligan, B. R. (2004). Manual Therapy:" nags"," snags"," mwms" Etc. Optp.
- 106) Munn, J., Herbert, R. D., Hancock, M. J., & Gandevia, S. C. (2005). Training with unilateral resistance exercise increases contralateral strength. *Journal of Applied Physiology*, *99*(5), 1880-1884.
- 107) Murphy, J. I. (2004). Using focused reflection and articulation to promote clinical reasoning: An evidence-based teaching strategy. *Nursing Education Perspectives*, *25*(5), 226-231.
- 108) Muzzin, L. J., Norman, G. R., Feightner, J. W., Tugwell, P., & Guyatt, G. (1982, December). Expertise in recall of clinical protocols in two specialty areas. In *Proceedings of the Annual Conference on Research in Medical Education. Conference on Research in Medical Education*. (Vol. 22, pp. 122-127).
- 109) Newell, A., & Simon, H. (1972). *Human problem solving.* Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice Hall.

- 110) Nielsen, A., Stragnell, S., & Jester, P. (2007). Guide for reflection using the clinical judgment model. *The Journal of nursing education*, *46*(11), 513-516.
- 111) Norman, G. (2005). Research in clinical reasoning: past history and current trends. *Medical education*, *39*(4), 418-427.
- 112) Norman, G. R., Brooks, L. R., & Allen, S. W. (1989). Recall by expert medical practitioners and novices as a record of processing attention. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: Learning, Memory, and Cognition*, *15*(6), 1166.
- 113) Norman, G. R., Trott, A. D., Brooks, L. R., & Smith, E. K. M. (1994). Cognitive differences in clinical reasoning related to postgraduate training. *Teaching and Learning in Medicine: An International Journal*, 6(2), 114-120.
- 114) O'Sullivan, P. (2005). Diagnosis and classification of chronic low back pain disorders: maladaptive movement and motor control impairments as underlying mechanism. *Manual therapy*, *10*(4), 242-255.
- 115) Patel, V. L., Groen, G. J., & Norman, G. R. (1991). Effects of conventional and problem-based medical curricula on problem solving. *Academic Medicine*, 66(7), 380-9.
- 116) Patel, V. L., & Groen, G. J. (1986). Knowledge based solution strategies in medical reasoning. *Cognitive Science*, *10*(1), 91-116.
- 117) Patel, V. L., Evans, D. A., & Groen, G. J. (1989). Biomedical knowledge and clinical reasoning. *Cognitive science in medicine: Biomedical modeling*, 53-112.
- 118) Paul, R, Scriven, M. (1996) Defining critical thinking: a draft statement for the national council for excellence in critical thinking. Retrieved January, 2014, from http://www.criticalthinking.org/university/univclass/Defining.html.
- 119) Pellecchia, G. L., Paolino, J., & Connell, J. (1996). Intertester reliability of the Cyriax evaluation in assessing patients with shoulder pain. *Journal of Orthopaedic & Sports Physical Therapy*, *23*(1), 34-38.
- 120) Pesut, D. J. (2001). Clinical judgment: foreground/background. *Journal of Professional Nursing*, *17*(5), 215.
- 121) Phua, D. H., & Tan, N. C. (2013). Cognitive aspect of diagnostic errors. *Annals of the Academy of Medicine, Singapore,* 42(1), 33-41.
- 122) Pink, M. (1981). Contralateral effects of upper extremity proprioceptive neuromuscular facilitation patterns. *Physical Therapy*, *61*(8), 1158-1162.
- Pottier, P., Hardouin, J. B., Hodges, B. D., Pistorius, M. A., Connault, J., Durant, C., ... & Planchon, B. (2010). Teaching with cognition: Exploring how students think: a new method combining think-aloud and concept mapping protocols. *Medical Education*, 44(9), 926-935.
- 124) Sahrmann, S. (2002). *Diagnosis and treatment of movement impairment syndromes*. Elsevier Health Sciences.

- 125) Sahrmann, S.A. (1998) Diagnosis by the Physical Therapist a prerequisite for treatment: a special communication. Phys Ther. 68, 1703-1706.
- 126) Schleip, R. (2003). Fascial plasticity–a new neurobiological explanation: Part 1. *Journal of Bodywork and movement therapies*, 7(1), 11-19.
- 127) Schmidt, H., Boshuizen, H. P. A., & Hobus, P. P. M. (1988). Transitory stages in the development of medical expertise: The "intermediate effect" in clinical case representation studies. In *Proceedings of the Tenth Annual Conference of the Cognitive Science Society* (pp. 139-145).
- 128) Schmidt, H. G., Norman, G. R., & Boshuizen, H. P. (1990). A cognitive perspective on medical expertise: theory and implication [published erratum appears in Acad Med 1992 Apr; 67 (4): 287]. *Academic medicine*, *65*(10), 611-21.
- 129) Schmidt, H., Boshuizen, H. P. A., & Hobus, P. P. M. (1988). Transitory stages in the development of medical expertise: The "intermediate effect" in clinical case representation studies. In *Proceedings of the Tenth Annual Conference of the Cognitive Science Society* (pp. 139-145).
- 130) Scott, J. N., Markert, R. J., & Dunn, M. M. (1998). Critical thinking: change during medical school and relationship to performance in clinical clerkships. *Medical education*, *32*(1), 14-18.
- 131) Shirrell, D. (2008). Critical thinking as a predictor of success in an associate degree nursing program. *Teaching and Learning in Nursing*, *3*(4), 131-136.
- 132) Simmons B. (2010) Clinical reasoning: concept analysis. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 66(5), 1151–1158.
- 133) Simon, H. A., & Chase, W. G. (1973). Skill in chess. American scientist, 61(4).
- 134) Sjaastad, O., Fredriksen, T. A., & Pfaffenrath, V. (1998). Cervicogenic headache: diagnostic criteria. *Headache: The Journal of Head and Face Pain*, *38*(6), 442-445.
- 135) Speicher, T. E., Bell, A., Kehrhahn, M., & Casa, D. J. (2012). Case-Based Analogical Reasoning: A Pedagogical Tool for Promotion of Clinical Reasoning. *Athletic Training Education Journal*, 7(3).
- 136) Tannenbaum, E., & Sekiya, J. K. (2011). Evaluation and management of posterior shoulder instability. *Sports health*, *3*(3), 253-263.
- 137) Tanner, C. A. (2006). Thinking like a nurse: A research-based model of clinical judgment in nursing. *Journal of Nursing Education*, *45*(6), 204-211.
- 138) Trudelle-Jackson, E., Sarvaiya-Shah, S. and Wang, S (2009) Interrater reliability of a movement impairment-based classification system for lumbar spine syndromes in patients with low back pain. The Journal of Orthopaedic and Sports Physical Therapy. 38(6):371-376.

- 139) Uh, B. S., Beynnon, B. D., Helie, B. V., Alosa, D. M., & Renstrom, P. A. (2000). The Benefit of a Single-Leg Strength Training Program For the Muscles Around the Untrained Ankle A Prospective, Randomized, Controlled Study. *The American journal of sports medicine*, 28(4), 568-573.
- 140) University of Idaho. (2011) Idaho State Board of Educaiton Approval and Full Proposal for University of Idaho Advanced Clinical Doctor of Athletic Training Program. http://www.boardofed.idaho.gov/meetings/board/ archive/2011/04\_01\_11/minutes.pdf. Accessed: August, 2013.
- 141) Van Gessel, E., Nendaz, M. R., Vermeulen, B., Junod, A., & Vu, N. V. (2003). Development of clinical reasoning from the basic sciences to the clerkships: a longitudinal assessment of medical students' needs and self-perception after a transitional learning unit. *Medical Education*, 37(11), 966-974.
- 142) Van Someren, M. W., Barnard, Y. F., & Sandberg, J. A. (1994). *The think aloud method: A practical guide to modelling cognitive processes* (p. 26). London: Academic Press.
- 143) Vela, L. I., & Denegar, C. (2010). Transient disablement in the physically active with musculoskeletal injuries, part I: a descriptive model. *Journal of athletic training*, *45*(6), 615.
- 144) Vela, L. I., & Denegar, C. R. (2010). The disablement in the physically active scale, part II: the psychometric properties of an outcomes scale for musculoskeletal injuries. *Journal of athletic training*, *45*(6), 630.
- 145) Vela LI. (2013) *Strategies for Assessing and Teaching Clinical Reasoning in Athletic Training Education*. Presented: Online. National Athletic Trainers' Association.
- 146) Wainwright, S. F., Shepard, K. F., Harman, L. B., & Stephens, J. (2011). Factors that influence the clinical decision making of novice and experienced physical therapists. *Physical Therapy*, *91*(1), 87-101.
- 147) Wainwright, S. F., Shepard, K. F., Harman, L. B., & Stephens, J. (2010). Novice and experienced physical therapist clinicians: a comparison of how reflection is used to inform the clinical decision-making process. *Physical Therapy*, *90*(1), 75-88.
- 148) Waitzkin, H., & Stoeckle, J. D. (1972). The communication of information about illness. Clinical, sociological, and methodological considerations. *Advances in Psychosomatic Medicine*, *8*, 180.
- 149) Wheeler, L. A., & Collins, S. K. (2003). The influence of concept mapping on critical thinking in baccalaureate nursing students. *Journal of Professional Nursing*, *19*(6), 339-346.
- 150) Woods, N. N. (2007). Science is fundamental: the role of biomedical knowledge in clinical reasoning. *Medical Education*, *41*(12), 1173-1177.

# Appendix 1

Plan of Advanced Practice, December 2012

# Plan of Advanced Practice

# Experience

As compared to most athletic trainers I got off to a slow start on my way to becoming an athletic trainer. I did not even know what an athletic trainer was until my second year of college as a division one athlete. However, looking back, nothing could have given me the ability I have to relate to my patients as much as the years I spent as an athlete competing at an elite level and dealing with injuries of my own. The experience I gained before I became conscious of my path to becoming an athletic trainer is more valuable to me than anything I have learned to this day. Not only do I have common ground to stand on with every patient that walks in my clinic door, but I have an unending supply of intrinsic motivation to learn and to provide the best care I can. However, my undergraduate degree did not leave me completely unprepared to begin pursuing athletic training. On the contrary, my emphasis in biomechanics and the research I was able to complete in the labs there absolutely shaped the way that I evaluate and treat my clients. I was able to build upon a sound foundation of anatomy and physiology, a growing passion for biomechanics, and hundreds of hours of strength and conditioning experience by beginning my masters degree and pursuing my certification in athletic training.

In my masters education I learned more about my professional self, or lack thereof, being on the other side of the profession for the first time. I was suddenly not being judged based on performance alone, but on politics, religion, personal beliefs, and every single word that came out of my mouth. It was a foreign environment and concept to me, and one that admittedly shattered me at times. However, it also gave me a new awareness and new goals, new things to work on. I found incredible mentorship that will outlast my career, and continued to grow my knowledge base. Ultimately it also gave me the ability to become a certified athletic trainer and to take my first job working alongside a renowned orthopedic surgeon. It was in his office that my very novice evaluation skills were quickly tested and improved, my patient communication became polished, my professionalism was appreciated, and my confidence was built back up. It was also while working in that setting that I realized how important it was to me to be part of the solution to people's complaints, and not just the identifier of them. I proceeded to take a job in my current setting among division one athletics. After a few short weeks I was bored with not learning anything. The opportunity arose to begin the DAT and while I was at first hesitant, I chose to make an investment in my future. Little did I know it would be the best decision for my present that I could have ever made. Now I am here: daily enlightened in a new way by simply testing hypotheses; daily challenged by questions I don't yet know the answers to; now with more tools than ever to reach my goals and continue making new ones.

#### Knowledge

I have completed certifications in the following areas: Certified Strength and Conditioning Specialist, Kinesio-taping, Muscle Activation Techniques, Instrument Assisted Soft Tissue Mobilization, Functional Movement Screen, McKenzie. I have pursued

131

knowledge and practice in the following areas: Myofascial Decompression, Proprioceptive Neuromuscular Facilitation, Active

Release Techniques. I have also presented at a few local conferences, authored a presentation for a colleague speaking at a national physicians conference, spoken as guest lecturer for two post-graduate programs, and been active politically at the state level as well as am pursuing NATA programmed training for those interested in serving within the governing body.

#### **Philosophy**

It is with the help of the DAT and a lot of reflection that I have been able to put my philosophy in to writing. While as a disclaimer I should note that it may evolve, and should, this at least is a start to better identifying my values, my vision, and my practice:

The philosophy of athletic training that I, Lindsay Warren, am going to adopt maintains a heart for my patients, mind for best practice and integrated techniques, and spirit of purpose. I want to relieve pain, increase function, and help my patients better their quality of life in the most effective and efficient way possible while educating them on how to do the same. In order to do this I will be dedicated to the close critical analysis of my practice. I will continue seeking learning opportunities. I will invariably test and share my knowledge, I will strive to attain the qualities and characteristics of a scholar within my chosen areas of focus as they develop, and I will maintain a personal/professional life balance.

#### Strengths

Currently I am able to meet some of the objectives in my philosophy and am struggling with others. The following strengths and weaknesses are based on my current self-perceived ability to meet the guidelines of my philosophy.

- Seeing the whole picture, not only the obvious or point of pain
- Purposeful practice/decision making
- Avoiding the shotgun approach and treating efficiently
- Unafraid to try new skills

#### Weaknesses

- Joint mobilizations
- Professional Maturity
- De-personalizing work
- Knowing and meeting the needs of the coaches and staff
- Political action/volunteerism

132

# **Professional Future!**

I want to ensure my dedication to each patient's individual needs and meet them where they are when they come to see me. I want to work in a multi-faceted way, incorporating different techniques and disciplines seamlessly, and truly utilizing integrated holistic medicine. I want to protect myself from my subjectivity by creating a checks and balances system centered around outcome measures in my evaluations and treatment. I also want to be accountable to other professionals that share my ideals and share the understanding that we are the key to bettering our profession. I want to better utilize my mentor. I want to become an advocate for change in our profession. I want to be available to other athletic trainers and students for help, discussion, learning.!

# Areas of Advanced Practice!

Regional Interdependence. I will study the Janda Approach as well as Dynamic Neuromuscular Stabilization. I will be researching other techniques that utilize RI and will continue to write the framework of my practice based in this model. I will use a protocol established in the SFMA, treat my patients accordingly (not solely based on complaint but based on findings), and record data to share.!

This is the weakest point of my PoAP right now. I need to figure out a defined set of goals to accomplish that will lead me in the right direction. I would love help in this area specifically.!

# Justification of Facilitating Goals!

Simply having to take the time to think about each section listed above is a huge step in the direction of obtaining my professional goals. This may have been the hardest part- identifying and owning up to what I want to accomplish. One of my biggest fears as a student was getting sucked into my job so much that I became obsolete as a human being in the profession. Even as a student I could tell that there was a problem and that I didn't want to be a part of it. After only a few months of experience at the Division I level I could feel it creeping in on me. The DAT was going to be a way of escaping that. This only solidifies that initial thought. My plan will evolve and change, additions and subtractions will happen, but at the very least I feel accountable to it now. I am taking ownership of my career and the change I want to see in our profession through the development of my Plan of Advanced Practice.!

# Timeline!

Daily: take time to reflect, utilize the SFMA in evaluations!

Weekly: Spend time reflecting, dedicate time to writing and sharing reflections on Wordpress, reflect on individual patient outcomes!

Monthly: phone/video conference with colleagues to discuss progress, patient care, etc.




Poster Presentation: Functional Restoration from Trochlear Dysplasia using the Selective Functional Movement Assessment: A Case Study



# Functional Restoration from Trochlear Dysplasia using the Selective Functional Movement Assessment: A Case Study

Lindsay Viarren, MS, ATC, CSC3\*, Pussell Baker, DAT. ATC†, Jolene Baker, EdD, ATC\*, Nicole MacDonald, DrPH, ATC, CSC3\* \*California Baptist University, Riverside, CA, †University of Idaho, Moscow, ID

ABSTRACT

Begenorden of solar 1, year der inder also eligiberten errollsaferse solarise posterio de la chiera eligiber of eligiberten of the mediation of the solarise and the solarise of the solarise solarise and the solarise and the solarise and the solarise of the solarise solarise and the solarise and the solarise and the solarise of the solarise solarise and the solarise and solarise and the solarise and accords a dopt accords a dopt science and accord science and accord science and accord science accord science accord science accord acc

# CASE REPORT

An 18 year old male college freshman reported to the dinic with a completed history to thiateral wine uses. Since a young age is suffered from dront of talgetal mole states. Since a young age is suffered from dront of talgetal mole states. Since a young age counceres being significant pain and operate juicing weiling that would resolve with 7-10 days of rest, arter winch leawould return to counceres being significant pain and agental pain weiling that would resolve with 7-10 days of rest, arter winch leawould return to counceres the significant pain transformer paints and soccertination. The would resolve which also data and soccertination and a state molecular elevant of the medial pation and pation of the molecular elevant of the medial pation and and the molecular elevant of the medial pation and and the medial and tatar menission, and merican a state of the pation of the medial patient state councertination and the pation of the medial patient and soccertination and the pation of the patient the patient patient schemet and the pation of the medial patient soccertication and the pation of the patient the patient schemet and the pation of the merical of the schemet approximation of the patient the soccertication and the patient the schemet patient of the schemet approximation of the schemet and the schemet approximation of the wire that the patient reported to the oline.

Barnination revealed major atrophy of the right thigh musculature when compared bitaterialy. No inclustness was a found upon papation, but the patient reported pain 4/10 on the Numerical Raing Scale (NStantheart) appoints have allowing before the pation stantistic asserts appoint NStwitch as atrovity. Findings of the pation-battomical examination was otherwise inclusion attropation asserts appoint of strength and strength and karclogical stream was normal for strength and strength and strang stream and and a strength and strength and karclogical stream was normal for strength and strength and which is to be superial minority. He also on present the attroory and strength of the lack on resolution, and his radiumy orient and the level herwould like.

Selective Functional Movement Screen (SRMA) wasperformed showing: stinat work of the stability or nance control (SAUCD), (NCD), right knee joint mobility or itssue earlensbility to its and proprioregitive derict at the right ankle. Disabenent in the Physically Active (DRA) scale and girth messurements were also recorded.

## TREATMENT

The patient-centered goal for treatment was to return to snowboarding by the uppointing sit season, approximately 6 monits from his initial visit. The cliniciar-centered goals for treatment were to read the somatic situation of the standard restriction and strength of the right by installing confidence in the patient to return to previously and be clinicia with the patient to return to previously and be adding a confidence in the patient to return to previously and the patient to previously and be clinicia with the patient to return to previously and the patient of the patient set of the patient set clinicia with a patient set of the patient set of the patient between the patient control and the patient set of the patients before a patient control and the patient set of the patients of the patient control and the patient set of the patients of the patient control and the patient set of the patients of restrictions with the patient set of the patients of the patient control and the patient set of the patients of restrictions and the patient set of the patient set of the patients of restrictions and the patient set of the patient set of the patients of restrictions and the patient set of the patient set of the patient set of the patient of restrictions and the patient set of the patient set of the patient set of the patient of restrictions and the patient set of the patient set o

A R R R R R R

Sweattreatment paradognsweau tabach Teatment and kulligan mobilization with movement (MVM), core motor control training, instrument assistd soft tissue mobilization (VSTM), a bite training porgam and two postoscial merentions its the Emotional Freedom Beofingue(ET), and the Gatacul Heart Teatmique.



Swentreatmentsessions over the ocurse of 4 weeks ledic olulirestoration of particle intraction. The startent experienced strength increasess and muscle growth, as measured by gifth. Gifth measurements were lated every 2 weeks several locations show each paloe with the measured Bin. above the carite of the patiella and 2, 4 and 81n. below the same point) (Figure 2). Because allow each paloe with the measured from the pathological leg (right). The lot of charge in gifth measured from the unatiended by subtracting the gans in grift measured from the unatiended by subtracting the gans in grift measured from the unatiended by subtracting the gans in grift measured from the unatiended by subtracting the gans in grift measured from the unatiended by subtracting the gans in grift measured from the patiend area over prevention of pain with (nee leavon. Patient associ to patient area served in on the pathological leg (right). The lot al charge of 25 measured from the start of each treatment from 12770 152° a. To tad charge of 25 measured from a minit at zone of 28 to a final szone of 2 cost the from weeks of them as minitial szone of 2 so a final szone of 2 cost the final work of the start from 12770 152° a. To tad charge of 155 measured from the start of each treatment from 12770 152° a. To tad charge of 25 measured from 2000 and the start of each treatment estart from 2770 152° a. To tad charge of 25 measured at the start of each treatment from 2770 152° a. To tad charge of 25 measured from 2000 and 2000 and 2000 and 25 measured at the start of a start and 2000 and 25 measured at the start of the start of each treatment estart from weeks of the start from 27 the start of each treatment estart from weeks of the start estart in the start of each treatment estart from weeks of the start estart estart and a stort as a start estart the from 2000 and 2000 and 3000 from 2000 and 3000 from 2000 and 3000 from from 2000 and 2000 and 3000 from 2000 and 2000 and 2000 and 2000 and a sto 1000 and 2000 and 2000 and 2000 and 2000 and



1/2/1

# DISCUSSION

1111111

Hgure 4

Trochlear dysplasa is rare and considered to be an under diagnosed cause of recurrant patient adjocation, respectation in children and adolescents. Treatment issually surgical noderito restore the incohen and prove. Surgical reconstruction of the medial patieloitomani ligaments is also recommended in cases which medial kneet scaling. Nas been compromised. In this case, the subsequent patieliar fracture after compromised the case. Because in close and a fore a scaling has been compromised the case. Because in close and the light fracture after comprehension cocommended to considered in the scale of this reconciliated the case. Because indicators reconstruction. More research is needed in this are.

Lastly, the clinical integration of several treatment paradigms sets this case apart from others table of the interventions used that a spacific purpose in the whole-person care of this patient. While research commonly realized is the use of a single intervention, table intervention offen requires more than a single intervention table used. The purposeful use of search attalent the intervention statical paradice purposed attalent intervention statical paradice pair approach dual general treatment in the hopes that one might help. An integrated approach, such as this one, is focused on which patient result evention statication is solved on which the patient case at deschingtvention is evaluated through specific patient outcomes measure.

# CONCLUSION

Lastly, the clinical integration of several treatment paradigmsets this case apart from chens. Each of the interventions used that a specific purpose in the whole-person care of this patient. While research commonly evaluates the use of a single intervention, clinical practice often requires more than a single intervention direct practice often requires more than a single intervention for the used. The purposition and several treatment interventions of resignificantly from the 'short-guire' approach of using several direct significant in the 'short-guire' approach of using several proach, such astribiones isforused on match ingin. The interventions operation problems or classifications in patient-centred approach to care.





Overhead squat overnent assessm



1Beker, R.T. Maspariy, A. & Sagmiller, J. G. (2013). Instrument-Aast ed. Shrf Tasae Monitation Tearment Transless Edensibility Distruction. International journal, 27. Garon, J.M. Hurchtoria monemit systems cannot be assessment. Concretexes atranspace. On target Holladrons. Concretexes and Agriment. In Grange Holladrons. Strate, J. K. Coroll, N. H. M. Chenno, J. G. (2015). Stratega New Wordsheet, B.R. (2004). Meetic terrate Constrainting. Research or excision and Agriment. In Grange Holladrons. Advisor and Res. Concol. N. H. M. Remon, J. & Hodfer, J. (2005). Farmenn, C. W. Zasetti, M. Remon, J. & Hodfer, J. (2006). Farmenn, C. W. Zasetti, M. Remon, J. & Hodfer, J. (2006). Farmenn, C. W. Zasetti, M. Remon, J. & Hodfer, J. (2006). Farmenn, C. W. Zasetti, M. Remon, J. & Hodfer, J. (2006). Farmenn, C. W. Zasetti, M. Remon, J. & Hodfer, J. (2006). Farmenn, C. W. Zasetti, M. Remon, J. & Hodfer, J. (2006). Farmenn, C. W. Zasetti, M. Remon, J. & Hodfer, J. (2006). Farmenn, C. W. Zasetti, M. Remon, J. & Javos, J. & Hodfer, J. (2006). Farmenn, C. W. Zasetti, M. Remon, J. & Javos, J. & Hodfer, J. (2006). Farmenn C. W. Zasetti, M. Remon, J. & Javos, J. & Hodfer, J. (2006). Farmenn C. W. Zasetti, M. Parekov, Storiki K. (2006). Meelle H. H. Remon, J. (2005). Tochtegatary for patient rateability useto trochest opsishas at antimum?/spatient endoxidy in protein rateability useto trochest opsishas at antimum?/spatient montarunerical ratio gradie for homologic states hystory trochest opsishas and antimumating state Erropean and Plan, (4), (28), 283-18. Baren, T. M. Dagasys, F. K. Reigo, P. (2005). Meella pateloteronal garment montarunerical ratio gradie for homologic states hystory trochest opsishas and antimumating states for homologic states for states for states for states of pression and a colorable states for montarial states for states for states for states of pression and antimumating states for states of the colorable states for states of pression and a colorable states for states of a colorable states for states of pre

Poster Presentation: Knowledge and Readiness of Inter-Professional Education in Athletic Training and Nurse Practitioner Students: A Pilot Study



# Knowledge and Readiness of Inter-Professional Education in Athletic Training and Nurse Practitioner Students: A Plot Study

Nicole MacDonald, DrPH, ATC, CSOS, Jolene Beker, EdD, ATC, Lindsay Warren, MS, ATC, CSOS, Dayna Herrera, MSNed, FN, Lisa Bursch, DNP, FN Department of Kinesiology and the School of Nursing, California Baptist University, Fiverside, CA

# ABSTRACT

General is the sub-part angle relation of the sub-part of the

# BACKGROUND

In 2003, the DM and the WHC called for the development of Interdespinary learners increases healthcare quality and stark randinged healthcare excludents and the proportional stark randinged healthcare excludents interprofessional opportunities and socialization are ordical features to the professional excludent of healthcare providers and are especially releast in today sheattrace environment in which no practitioners practice in Isolation.

The second secon

Recogniting the need to exulational changes in a fulled training the document future Directions in Antheir Training Guzanion Col 2 studies at byte MAX Beachine Committee for Calculation Col 2 studies and at those rescontineater in the contraining of Calculation Col 2 studies and the control of the collocation of the collection of cograms and the control of the collection of the collection of cograms at the control of the collection of the collection of cograms of the collection of the collection of the collection of cograms of the collection of the collection of the collection of the collection of collection of the collection collection of the collecti

## PURPOSE

The purpose of the present study was to determine athletic trainer (AT) and nuse practitioner (MS) studies knowledge and reactiness for IPE ability to define the roles and responsibilities of the respective disciplines, and work as part of an IPE team in carring for a patient.



The present study was apre-test, post-test intervention triat. The study was conducted acurual caralitated patient strandon or In Marsing simulationicia at California Beptist University. Twenty preventionated in the study. In the simulation, the AT students goal was to respond to the scanstor on the baselend is out, provide immediate avaluation and care of the patient, then transfer care to a NF'student at the ofine. The NF student would then perform their clinical evaluation and care of the patient, then transfer care to a NF'student at the ofine. The NF student would then perform their clinical evaluation and the scanstor on the baselend is an ordinate student would be the former their clinical evaluation and determine if any turitheir treatment was needed. All 33 students are three studients that the student was needed. All 33 students are the othic. The NF student would then perform their clinical evaluation and the student was needed. All 33 students are the student and before the simulation. The day of the simulation students were spin into would nor. The students in the intervention of students were spin three would nor. The students in the intervention of students were spin three would nor. The students in the intervention of a duration students are appredix of a previous goap. The questionnation the respectiventing which included a discussion of a written description the respectiventing in their intervention of a duration students and between the argued on and adentificants were given the RES questionnatic messaures in addition, students and between the addition students on a students and between the argued in addition students on the respectiventing in matiation astudents on the respectiventing in the student addition students and between the addition astudents on a students are addition and the respectiventing in addition on students device and between the addition and addition and data on the patient and addition students on and a devinication astudiation astudents and between the read addition astu



## **RESULTS**

The excassignificant difference/oundbetweenthanine vention and control groups on the PRCS substimetrie down after the faultation p=2045 (fable 1) but not before the smullation (p=3.543). There were no sprinter differences found before the smullation (p=3.543). There were no intervention or control groups (p=0.132 and p=0.588, respectively). The ability to define the notise and responsibilities of the respective discriments and enconstrated through discussions in the detrivering documents and portrayed in Table 2.



Table 1: Changes in readiness for IFE between the control and intervention groups

# DISCUSSION

The students of the intervention group having foreknowledge of their their enclose roles were prepared for the studion as inclared by the significance in post-questionnate reals. Although their were not addiscraply sportiand inferences found between the and post questionnates within each group, the data suggests a difference may be encograder the sample same increased. The students of the instruction group had annote midral group had under addition as which addition to observe medical team during the simulation as evidenced by the student elections.

The students identified the importance of understanding the scope of practice on the other provider as with a seducarity the other provider of their own scope of practice. They reflected that without this mutual understanding there are no understanding for itrust and respect in one sorther scaling to provide quality patient care.

The faculty also conducted regular reflection throughout the planning and implementation of the Fischmulation. The meed for a walthhought out and descriptive patient case was dear prior to the simulation. After the completion of the smulation thermoverance of pre-brief and ebolds was recognized. The students who received the pre-briefing exhibited better animulation with all providers, increased confidence in their own abilities, and improved collaborative patient care. The ed-brief provided all the students and potent involves increased confidence of the students one another and better unders and the minibial collocate the the students and potent involves increased confidence of the students and better projections agoing the profession.

# CONCLUSION

This study revealed that there is a lack of knowledge of different netherare professions scope of the addred in FEn to order to promote collaborative practice, leading with order order to promote collaborative practice in athletic training with order provides sar advonatic ran rener practice in a threat careform the opportunities advonatic for the practice in the order had the copportunities of a diversion of advance of the order of the the opportunities of the diversion of the order of the order in the opportunities of the diversion of the order of the interface.



Table 2: Sample of the common themestaken from several de-briefing questi

# REFERENCES

Poster Presentation: Utilizing Contralateral Exercise to Decrease pain and Increase Range of Motion in Four College Athletes: A Case Series

Æ

# Utilizing Contralateral Exercise to Decrease Pain and Increase Pange of Motion in Four College Athletes: A Case Series

Taylor Canatsey, Matthew Smitley, Lindsay Warren, MS, ATC, CSCS, Nicole MacDonald, Dr.H.I, ATC, CSCS, Jodi Baker, EdD, ATC Department of Kinestology, California Baptist University, Fiverside, CA

# ABSTRACT

Proceedings of the state of the

# BACKGROUND

It has been common practice that insurrent of any particular pathology requirest paptication transmission of any particular pathology requirest paptication transmission of the particular pathology requirest paptication transmission of the particular pathology and particular pathology and real of the particular pathology and particular pathology and particular pathology and particular pathology of their poopes. In 1984, Brivard W. Schpfure publied research on the theory to cossecutation finding clusters in strength an accuracy after transmission of the program of the particular pathology filter pathology consideration belot burther research on the program de-therary technique adard Tala Motion Release (TMR). The MRI technique that particular pathology that motion Release (TMR). The MRI technique technifies are reals both transmission by the particular particular that particular particular particular particular particular transmission particular particular particular particular particular that particular particular particular particular particular particular transmission particular particular particular particular transmission particular particular particular particular particular particular transmission particular particular particular particular particular particular transmission particular parting to particular particular particul

between the corrected of eaciding the "good belo make the "bad" side backet with each of the an and the "good and down and worket of side backet with a standard thresh in threat or and movement and activates of dayly wing ADLs apould be completed with the same activates of and range of mol on when comparing bilaterally.

Once a patient displays movement dystunction, or pain with a specific memory and the patient displays movement dystunction, or pain with a specific smearance, symmetry, is out obtabance. Symmetry for the moving the smearance of the second state of the patient is eventual, the "good" side, or such monorgic of the patient is event and, the "good" side, a such that moves with grader areas, tuesd for treatment. The display and any options (LOS) or treat turber and furtherintic and range of motion (20:3) or treat further and turbineting and range of motion (20:3) or treat further and turbineting and range of motion (20:3) or treat further and turbineting and range of motion (20:3) or treat further and turbineting and range of motion (20:3) or treat further and turbineting and range of motion (20:3) or treat further and turbineting and range of motion (20:3) or treat further and turbineting and range of motion (20:3) or treat further and turbineting and range of motion (20:3) or treat turbinet and the patient and the patient (20:3) or treat turbinet and turbineting and targe of motion (20:3) or treat turbinet and turbineting and the patient (20:3) or treat turbinet and turbineting and targe of turbineting and turbineting and turbineting and the patient (20:3) or treat turbinet and turbineting and tur

Pagional interdependence (Ft) 'demonstrates how struct ures and functions from these to characterize and influences and and utility's during et al. state that Ft refers to the concept that "seemby unleaded implaiments" is a transitional region may concide to the seasodade with, the patients primary complaint". Additionally, Thige support the premise of the reported locy inflated areas with more as the of pain will help identify and the reported locy inflated areas with the second

## PURPOSE

The purpose of this cases series was to present results of the treatment of four patients utilizing contralateral exercise in decreasing pain and increasing range of motion and function.

## METHODS

In application of procedures this study utilized the theory set forth by Tom Data Table and this TME pulseque). Concomes where measured in the other and the Numer's Bring Sate (NSS), govinent in the entremained and the Satement in the Hysically Multi CPN scale. In the Sate and Brick and Satement in the Hysically Multi CPN scale and the Sate and Brick the Satement in the Hysically Multi CPN scale and the HySical Audio the Satement of the patient's storted pain on scale of 0.10 Denign resource of Doing the Munci Satement and adapted the the Patient's storted pain on scale of 0.10 Denign and not observe the Multi Satement and adapted the the Brick Satement of Doing the Multi Satement of Joint (MDIon Wasteferrout of adjutionation resourcement of Joint (MDIon Wasteferrout of adjutionation resourcement of Joint (MDIon Wasteferrout of adjutionation resourcement of Joint (MDIon

# CASE DESORIPTIONS

Patient one sai 19-sez-sente plant al hale with achief complaint of constant flow backpain with little charge in secretly one plevious months to gate machani we creat an imported, with roying insuis from special toos after machani we creat an imported, with roying insuis it may appear toos after plant was easted with the start of the plant secret toos after actions and secret and the secret of the provide the secret on the sample, and the secret of the secret postions of the unit with secret on the secret of the secret of the secret postions.

Patient two is a 20-year-old male baseebal athlete with a chief complaint of sharp pain over the red disa ultim papeller the patient esterator patin over two weeks that was provided with radia and ultima deviation. Two tradments week and ministered in radia and ultima deviation utilizing a 3-pound weight on the uninvolved side.

Patient three isa 20-year-old male basketball athlete with a chief complaint of two bask paintrom call the day basketball athlete with a chief complaint imits, but patient reported pain with eff trunk totation and bask extension from a full feavior passion. The patient was treaded with utilizing two ests of topeatitions of the standing trunk twist and two ests of 10 repetitions of the single-teg sit-o-stand.

Patient four is a 17-year-old female swimmer with a chief complaint of two task pain. The patient spoord "shoring pain from the right posterior superior like syme to mich bioapstemotismustate beity that leaded approximately3 months? The patient as propried pain trunk freedom. The patient was treated with dripopratic manipulations that helped decrease built don teliminate symptoms. The patient as prograde paint on the order decrease with short on teliminate and with dripopratic manipulations that helped decrease with short on teliminate and the paint was treated on the occasion with short starting tign gas, and starding funktivus.



## RESULTS

Sgnificant changeswere detected in FOM (p<-0.0001) and plan (p<-0.006) in all plants in the following contralistant terment. Iblater all powers and a serge of Yafor all plants. Patient 1, glanted an average of Yafor all plants. Plantent 1, glanted an average of Yafor all plants. Plantent 1, glanted an average of Yafor all plants. Plantent 1, glanted an average of Yafor all plants. Plantent 1, glanted an average of Yafor all plantent spatient one areas and a serge of Yafor all plants. Plantent 1, glanted an average of Yafor all plantent spatient one an average of 1322% (255% 255% 265% 26016) in POM termination and average of 1322% (255% 20016) in POM termination and average of 1322% (255% 20109) in PoM termination and average of 1328% (1324.137% 2010) in POM and a complete service one treatment. Platent 4 glanted areas areage of 1988% (1324.137% 2010) in POM and a complete service on average of 1988% (1324.137% 2010) in POM and a complete service and average and the resolution of symptomes after one treatment. Platent 4 glanted areas areage of 1988% (1324.137% 2010) in POM and a complete service and average and the resolution of symptomes after one treatment. Platent 4 glanted areas areage of 1988% (1324.137% 2010) in POM and and average and the resolution of symptomes after one treatment. Platent 4 glanted area average of 1988% (1224.137% 2010) and platter all in platent and increased 28.32% (1224.137% 2010) and sampted by 4 pointing transpire platter all in the average of average and a 25% (1224.137% 2010) and and and and average and a 25% (1224.137% 2010) and and and average and a 25% (1224.137% 2010) and and average ave







# DISCUSSION

Based on the findings of this case series, there is merit in applying contradiateriteration to toberosespent and increases PAIN, Minie FOM increasesweremoterate, anarverge excreased 4 points great that increasesweremoterate, anarverge excreased 4 points great that what is required to points, Auditionally, these results contrad the encouncer application of contradients are results control into, in the clinical application of contradients exercise paint, in the clinical application of contradients exercise paint exercises the application of contradients exercise paint exercises the application of contradients exercise of regreatic conservations been avoided and pain mangement phase of rearrent wasexpaciled.

In mary Athletic Training settings difficulty exists in the management of injury the to a high pattern volume. The demand the quality care and time speat with each pattern volume. The demand the quality care tack of pattern complications elses attainable due to the pactoroles self-reatment which in turn increases patient compliance and decreases relations on the diricidan. Relatists that the promotes self-reatment which in turn increases patient compliance and decreases relations on the diricidan. Relatists that the responsibility to bring their body back to balance and decrease their symptoms. In experienting positive courses, patient the comply with their treatment using contradered sections. The TMR approxima-allows to rower time elemands on the clinician. Clinicians are able to provide quality are even with a high volume of patients as iscommon in Athletic Training.

# CONCLUSION

It first glance, contralisateral excerts an unusual frastment approach, but hist suben bund effective in his case services impoving patient-reported outcomes. The myclications of hist study suggest Ahnelic reported outcomes. The myclications of hist study suggest Ahnelic reported outcomes. The myclications of hist study suggest Ahnelic reported outcomes. The myclications of hist study suggest Ahnelic reported outcomes and the and the annual wave contralients are and options. More research meass advise and in combination with other manual-theopy interventions.

# REFERENCES

Tear office IT register, Hand Nether Land Mechanism Landon Interfacementation for the method of the m

Poster Presentation: Positional Release Therapy and its Affect on Running Economy in Male Collegiate Runners



# Positional Release Therapy and its Effect on Aerobic Capacity in Male Collegiate Runners

isebel Archuleta, ATC, Christina Brekelmans, Nicole MacDonald, DrPH, ATC, CSCS, Lindsay Warren, MS, ATC, CSCS, Johane Baker, EdD, ATC Department of Kinesiology, California Baptist University, Riverside, CA

## ABSTRACT

Contes Throped of the educe state transformed and automatic state of the educe state of t

# BACKGROUND

Athletic performance requires optimal musculosedetal function and otinit argoef motion, from Mydrasta startiction, itse obstanction, and itsaeseatensibility dystanction areal institution. Itsea obstances insusculosedetal nuclion and joint FTA. It his 2020/hymbicgames, insusculosedetal nuclion and joint FTA. It his 2020/hymbicgames, inside a partiminasti e gasem was the pathology must commonly resteration by attending pysiotherapids. Kolovech of her mydrastal gareent garain. Resistinces of her mydrastal gareent garain. Resistinces of her mydrastal unstelled, patienting procritamics in other could be attended and the starter by attending procritamics of the mydrastal garaent garain. Resistinces and a difference and attended of mydrastal a difference active of procritamics in other of mydrastal a difference actives of threas. Presistinces of mydrastal a difference actives of threas. Presistinces of the mydrastal a difference actives of the mydrastal unstelled. Patient septements attributes and the other of mydrastal a difference actives of threastal of mydrastal a difference actives of threastal unstelled. Patient septementers at the other other attributes at a difference active of threastal attributes at a difference actives of threastal attributes at a difference actives of threastal attributes at a difference active of the mydrastal attributes at a difference actives of threastal attributes at a difference active of the mydrastal attributes at a difference active attributes attributes at a difference active of the mydrastal attributes at a difference active of the mydrastal attributes at a difference active of the mydrastal attributes attributes

Postional Release Therapy (PRT) is an indirect treatment, causing no pain orderor prime indirect treatment, causing no pain orderor prime indirect treatment, causing no pain orderor denormation (PRT) is a prime or pain orderor prime causing the statement and chronic participation in patients Distribution in patients Distribution in patients Distribution in the relation of the Merchand Country and the relation of indirect treatment or participation in patients Distribution in patients Distribution and the Merchand and Country and the relation of the Merchand Dourposed the Merchand Patients Distribution and the merchand or the Merchand Dourposed the Merchand Patients Distribution and the merchand or the Merchand Patients Distribution and the merchand or the Merchand Patients Distribution and the merchand of the Merchand Distribution and thematicand Distribution and Distribution and Distribution an underlying somatic dysfunction.

Through Dr. Jones DO, first developed the therapy in the 1850s and later termore the termique as starin council are treated and the continuent needultion of helicity in the indereoised practica continuent needultion of helicity in the indereoised practica in the indereoise value the of inderation to pask in the indereoised practica the greatest state of the addition of position of comfort (PC). Two key the flactorise burken of position of comfort (PC), thou key the flactorise burken of position of comfort (PC). Two key the flactorise burken of the addition and the flactorise burken of the addition and the flactorise burken of the addition and

The SCS evaluation requires a segmental evaluation, while FHT encompass whole boy mapping and evaluation, included in both procedures however, is the use of papaton. Plapaton allows the clinicato to left the difference in traste extruct ansion, and the strength of the tesculation stitley move the instrint on the muscle towardstate acculation steps and extra the extra extra the available and actin framewer in the movement of the myoran and actin framewer the prover the instration of the myoran and actin framents are begun to pulsate because uncounting of myoran and actin framents are hold in that the FCX is being maintained.

## PURPOSE

Clinical researchers suggest that endurance athletes (a. distance runners cyclicals have smaller ender promise in the anallary muscles, muscles that ad in inspiration and expiration. The purpose of this study isto determine the effect of reducing movitascal area with PHT on the additional gender points of the ancillary musculature with PHT on the action capacity will increase and red or precaved exertion (FFB) will decrease when participants are treated with positional release therapy. Thus art of this are increase and red to precaved or exerction will decrease when participants are treated with positional release therapy. Thus arts are increase and red to precaved or the action of missional area than the article population has been tacking. This study arms to evaluare PHT as apenformance intervention in collegia errunners.

## METHODS

Wo male collegide rumers with no injury in the last 3 months, reported to the california begats University avariase approached to the on two different testing days. General information was collected including, well and age. Consent forms were signed prior to administering intervention and control tests. Subjects were instructed to remove any doming in contact with their drest and lay supine on the treatment table. The primery investigator mapped and recorded tendence response. After mapping, a control (stam) treatment was adefined by a patient reported pain on the numeric rating scale (NFS) of a minimum 51 to on a 2010 with a jump sign pressure using wor fingers by the clinician over approviaty mapped tenderpoint for two minutes. The ontoi clinician over approviaty mapped tenderpoint for wor minutes. The ontoi clinician over approviaty mapped tenderpoint for wor minutes. The ontoi clinician over approviaty mapped tenderpoint for wor minutes.

After receiving the control treatment, participants completed a After receiving the control treatment, participants completed a trainuterstandinitia warmung to the submaximal test heart rate(HR) and Brig Rate of Rensived Exertion (HF2) was recorded HSMAworks3.5. The participant strators, Cu, strate conder and the submaximal test completed, participant stators, Cu, submaximal test was completed, participant scompleted a4-minute cool down. Participants protocol and settings were used for testing, but treatment induded HT in place of the shart reatment.



## **RESULTS**

using VO, FFEListing Borg scale, and ancillary muscle tendemess using toppoint Numericating page rasket. Results were segretare diminicontrol and the FHT intervention from that einsts, bound in Table 1 and Table S. respectively. Fained 1:est was usued to do techernine significant change between control and intervention clata. There was no statistical change in aerobiocapacity (p<578) between control and intervention. FE also did not change significantly (p<434) between control and intervention. HE and VO\_ ml/kg/min where averaged for each of the three stages in the Bruce protocol. Measured outcomes included aerobic capacity





# DISCUSSION

The hypothesis was that there would be a significant difference in aerobic capacity after and railery muscles was treated with FTL. The two participants did not experience significant chargein aerobic capacity between the orontical and intervention. Unbitutuately, due to the small sample size, statistical analysis from this pilot data cannot determine for certain it aerobic performance can be enhanced in the elite athlete with PFT treatment of the ancillary muscles.

Umitations of this study include sample size, population type, lengthorithestudy,andvarablessantyszed maynoth espapropriate in measuring performance. Making a significant breagarben at acrobic capacity of togeno atter unnesis sidificant breagare the range in VQ\_\_\_\_\_ is marrow, additionally one day of intervention may not be enough. The correlation between VQ\_\_\_\_\_ and performance is not consistent: it is possible for thom a heliefer with milar VQ\_\_\_\_\_ to perform very differently. Further research should ercuit more subject allow for multiple intervention sessions over a longer period of time, and other performance outcomes should be colleded (race times).

# NOISULANON

Although there were not statistically significant findings the resultant data and procedural design of the plot research is used ut further sublistication to use PHT as a performance intervention. Additional research neess to be completed in order to determine if MTT is an effective tool in increasing performance out comessuad. as aerobic capacity.

# REFERENCES

Athanasopoulos A Kareli E Taskoniti A Karatsnis K Darantopulos K Mareli E Taskoniti A Karatsnis K Burkinstopulos K Mareli 2004 Olynpic Ganes aphysotheracy servicers in the Orynpic Milese polyclinic. B J Sports Mareli 2021;343:437-341
Biley, M. Dok L. Naciospive considerations treating with context Leget L Leget L Leget P Methods to Determine Aerobic Buduatuc. Sports Mad. 2002; 20(1):1057-0000112-163/2001-62(3):534:537-341
Bebauri, S. Dottermient, Almonka Muscle pingues Eloboly antireatinent/Antiroh-Larvinent Muscle pingues Eloboly antireatinent/Antiroh-Larvinent Muscle pingues Eloboly antireatinent/Antiroh-Larvinent Minscle antiverse Structures conduction formique (MISD): A case agromatic sproating and sprost structures and special elopertured Sprost-Samcz 1985/30(3)/307-308
Baham U, Swer TL. Manotski M, Wison K Heits H. Chronic antiverse Structures and structures and structures and approximation structures and structures and structures and approximation tesses modulation testing et al. (2005):45-50. Structures and structures and structures and approximation structures and structures and approxi

- 142

## Poster Presentation: Arythmatic Right Ventricular Dysplasia Treatment and Management: A Case Report



Arrhythmogenic Rght Ventricular Dysplasia Treatment and Management: A Case Report

Shelby Daly, Johene Baker, EdD, ATC, Nicole MacDonald, DrHJ, ATC, CSCS, Lindsay Warren, MS, ATC, CSOS Department of Kinesiology, California Baptist University, Fiverside, CA

ABSTRACT

Beforci. "The set present and an of the production of the set of t

# BACKGROUND

Arriytimogenic Fight Ventricular Dysplass(APUD)is a progressive desease that occurs in approximates, in a 500 people and is used to essential and occurs in approximates in a 500 people and is used program and a course in approximates in a 500 people and is used program and a course in approximates in a 500 people and is used to present the transmission with multiser approxed in the proteins of the heart. The multiser proteins affect to destromose best possible heart appress that there is a mutant gene code in the proteins of the heart. The multiser proteins affect to destromose best possible heart affarent heart of the heart. In the discretion of the destromance destromers are placed under mechanical stress (exercise), they destrome are placed under mechanical stress (exercise). They destrome are placed under mechanical stress (exercise) and the approximation of the heart. The observation affarts in the antimic to a stress (exercise) and the approximation of the method of the approximate affarts of the heart the advector advector advector and the approximation of the method of the approximation affarts in the stress from a stress is located by a device and the advector above and exercise and the advector advector advector and the advector above advector advector the advector advector advector and the advector advector advector advector advector advector advector above advector advecto





AFMD Patient's Pesting EOG with inverted T wave

# CASE REPORT

Initial Diagnoss Augus 201 The provide Augus 201 The provide Augus 201 The provide Augus 201 Apt/Din Augus 2011 Showsaloned in a second collegiate finalescored play addit for presentin the colligit final additional accouncil and the collection of the presenting of the part of the provide of the collection of the presenting of the part of the part of the presenting of the presenting of the part of the part of the part of the part of the warm of the presenting of the part of the part of the part of the part of the warm of the part of the warm of the part of the warm of the part of the part of the part of the part of the warm of the part of the warm of the part of the the part of the the part of the the part of the the part of the the part of the the part of the the part of the the part of the par

Tachycardic Event before Defibrillation





Tachycardic Event vith ICD Defibrillation

This case is unique due to this patient being fermele and not properiory a "three address celerative relative hardware fragmant in the network of the second second second and the ending of the second second second second and the ending of the second second second second second second and the second provided second second second second and the second provided second second second second and second second second second second second second provided to the second provided second second second provided to the second provided second provided second provided to the second second second provided second provided to the second second provided second provided to the second second provided second provided to the second second second provided second provided by the second second second provided the second provided to the second second provided second provided by the second second second second provided to the second provided by the second second provided to the second provided by the second seco 
 The Alex
 2003
 2.155
 51
 25

 File Alexes
 2003
 2.03
 3.04
 0
 3

 File Alexes
 2003
 3.04
 0
 3
 3

 Foundation
 2003
 3.04
 0
 3
 3

 Foundation
 2003
 3.04
 0
 3
 3
 Teens Abnormalities At Risk Screened Found REFERENCES DISCUSSION Third Episode: November 20 2. Third Episode: November 20 2. Third exact course in November 20 2: The patient reported the week prior as being highly streads. She walked, up two fights of stars to her commass boom, where they were lating and the peinded har was laying on her bed. After about 3 minutes she began to have beloved breathing and her of stars (phineut). The she had to come of the breathing and her of stars (phineut) are here to come are the breathing but then she atted having storing palpations in her ches. The lated down on the hoo when here the hildow work: The sheet to come of the here hildow atted having storing palpations in her ches. The held down on the hoo when here the hildow work: The species are add and unite to a store the codor parabet Matrixoto 25 mg on a day at duraget in the hoo steaded for anxiet. One she was having sympons of an wey. The base and and are was having anyton as a day at duraget in the hildow at a steaded for anxiet. One she was having sympons of an wey. The base and a down on the for anxiet. The species are add at duraget in the hildow here the steaded the anxiet. The species are was having sympons of an wey. The base add at the species are want home for winke head she men with here priors.

**Farth Bjecke: February 2014** The **Carth Bjecke: February 2014** The answers as a was a prime au turk how the the experiment a study that part and a string au turk how the the experiment a study the result plear trade wash matreved. She affect when the experiment a study that part and wash and the vision matreved She affect and the rest result plear trade wash matreved She affect multi- built she are not shored a gradually lowered to a somewing multi- built she are not shored a gradually lowered to a somewing multi- built she are not shored a fradually lowered to a somewing the area of the plear trade of 89 after a fradual plear trade wash multi- built she are not sourced in heart at a 2.52 beats frammatered clinical. The second she heart and a 2.55 beats frammatered clinical that to come in the related as wash in and out of tarby area of the rest of the plear and wash of the string block and the medication of Amodeane 200 mL. Alrendo 12 am Mediatine 120 m a deal of procedure which would called at the sourced she and a string the area which would called at the source shored have the opportment to interograde for CDD official the sources and notive photoment of plear strage of the sources and a follow up appointment to interograde for CDD official the sources and a follow up appointment of the sources of the sources of the sources of the sources the onter and a sole of the sources of the sources

ICD Pacing during Tachy cardia

THEATMENT

Surgical implantation of an ICD was preached, which monitors heart are and runggar sodering that on a laberation state of 220 bases per minute. There is usually at word manber lead in state of 220 bases per minute. There is usually at word manber lead in state of 220 bases are want experienting at final titulation at a historial anon externation elevation preventide. Through the treatment she was eventually prescribed to breventide. Through the treatment she was eventually prescribed bases and an entities the most mean effection. Made state of 250 bases and at a treatment she was eventually prescribed to breventide. Through the treatment she was eventually prescribed to the prescription of the most part of the first part of the 30 beats per minute. She insequent of the contrate is the was to the first state of the other words the state of the other manber at the first state. We drage at a state of the state that the Foltssaum, and hydrafon are weat if an tools state that the Foltssaum, and hydrafon are weat if a mounts of states. The partial state of the state of the other state of the state that the Foltssaum, and hydrafon are weat if mounts of states. The partial state of the states of the other state that the Foltssaum, and hydrafon are weat if mounts of states. The states to keep a low stress at disolution are able of at mounts of states. The these many in the states is a state of the other states of the states and storeable.

Ennan C, Takang L, Galani X, e. & Maligona et Phylymapinic Rynt Vertrolar Dypland Comparison of the structure for phylometry of Phylometry (2014).
Canado M, Santa M,

### Poster Presentation: Injury Rate of Dancers and Need for Athletic Trainers in Dance Programs



# Injury Rate of Dancers and Need for Athletic Trainers in Dance Programs

Holly Hartley, Erin Bremond, Nicole MacDonald, DrPH, ATC, CSCS, Jolene Baker, EdD, ATC, Lindsay Warren, MS, ATC, CSCS Department of Kinesiology, California Baptist University, Riverside, CA

## ABSTRACT

Correct Manual Sectors and consider that additionation and doubt date and calculated and and additional additaditaditiona additaditional additional additi

# **CLINICAL SCENARIO**

Drace Medicine is the use of medical knowledge for the enhancement of more Medicine is the use of medical knowledge for the enhancement costatewent. Drace Medicine and yost Medican endarge the MHMedic Training clinic. Both Medic focus on studying the adhities of adhet medical and approximation is comprove perior pre-perties and approximation in the province of a prevent and manage injunes and conditions. Anyone who spends three in a darce environment, whether it is texting releasand or a performance venue will have filter clouds about the athletican of darces: however, half clanated is a strated and the influence of advects. Towever, MHMedic Trainers has instancially three in different darces or properties provide holy a strate for a darbeet unifiered in darces of this instance component. Canners are evolventment, exceeder of this instance component darkets are feedily abilities of the properties of this instance component darkets are feedily abilities of the presense of this instance component darkets are dealy abilities of three injury finds a way to become a part of the proces.

Balkt, Modern and Contemporary dance are the three most popular forms support and practiced in a collegite dance popular. This study compared these three different dance forms. Classical ballet him study compared these three different dance forms. Classical ballet him study compared these three different dance forms. Classical ballet him study compared these three different dance forms. Classical ballet him study compared these three different dance forms. Classical ballet him study compared these three different dance forms. Classical ballet him and contemporary dancers typically do not wear shoes, and their attree may range from minimate dathing to the excetting ballet and modern dancers proformation dething to the excetting ballet and modern modern dances much different han ballet. Modern can be under modern and contrain the section manufacture work performed in moder dances including them and macroscipation with more upper-extremity weight beand manufacture and dances perform minimate and the dome the part of the body during a preserial or patients in the anset section the poly that mile dances following them and manufactures that to dance an be under contrained and frame of them and the section that dancers perform much and the section that the anset mode the poly of the daring and the section that the anset were though the daring and the work ethic, dancing and performing up to 35 hours a work.

# PURPOSE

The objective of this review was to determine the injury rate of dancers and the need for athletic trainers in the collegiate setting.

# SEARCH STRATEGY

A database search was conducted in Dovepress MEDLINE, CINAH, complex Lubbled, Helshource, and SORTINGLISS, Kayoods included were dance medicine, pain, mjury, dance, collegate athlete, polessional dance, and cevetron. The search was interfate to research published from 1970 to present day. The literature was searched for studies with Odrod Gentre of Foldence Easter Meditine (CEM) level 3 cardios with Odrod first studies were identified and appraised for intusion in this review. East studies were identified and appraised for intusion in this review. East studies were identified and appraised stand short 500b appraised for studies. The ardios introl of the Quadas and "Stoube appraised medien and contemporary.

Idule 1. FLCO dealch	
Patient/Client group	Dancers AND athletic trainers ballet OR modern OR contempocury
Intervention	dance medicine OR risk management OR self reported injuries OR prevention AND training
Comparison	injury rates AND types of dance
Outcomes	injury rates AND modical help

# RESULTS OF SEARCH

Out of the eight articles identified, four were utilized because they distinguished between anious boby parties and injurius annoys the three dance forms (see Table 2). Injuries annoys balles and modern dance have receiveding the production the provinsical comparison and by participants affected is high. Iterature shows that it is not uncommon for 95% of dancers in a prosticular progrem by boyolay of participants affected is high. Iterature shows that it is not uncommon a contemporary compary to be injured. Table 3 provides the overall mjury of the four studies analyzed. Injuries, to the not compary of additional and extended analyzed in progrem by boyolay the compase about 20% or more of mjoures. In dances, coveruse injuries, were found to be more common that nature of dance monor that the trut or (untuble spine compose about 20% or more of mjoures.)

Among the three forms of dance, all need special attention to the specific movements they use in their practice. It is common to dranees involved in each form to lack the tissue strength, flexibility and biomechanical capability that is levessery for them to be successful as a dranee. Diarces spend far more hours addy in the studio than traditional atheters, spend on the field, court, or track. Particularly that lack requesters are we regimented and can be tracked with a lack requester states. The after the topes of the most device and the tracked of the atheter data can be untrography to the musculosidefeld system. Bield and the tope to attemty since modern dance is a more parenter contact on the tope to attemty since modern dance is a more parenter contact on the tope to attemty since modern dance is a more parenter contact on the tope to attemty attrace modern dance is a more parenter contact on the tope to attemty since modern dance is a more parenter contact on the tope to attemt or the attrace attraction of the model attrace at the tope to attemt or the attrace attraction of the model attrace attraction attraction attraction to attraction of the since attraction of the parenter data can be untrography and form the attract state more ensurement attraction theory attraction of the model attract attraction attraction attraction theory attraction attraction attraction attraction at the parenter attraction attraction

The four articles also included specific type of injuries occurring in dance, workland of Bances, san of the dances as performing after. Banc et al. compared saff reported injuries and reported injuries. by their appointed physiontespist, among lancers, Results in thuded the highers percentage textwem saff-eported and reported injuries. In the ankle and foct. Other similarities included a higher percentage of reported injuries in the lower lightmaseff reported. Furthers studies from the lightmase in the lower lightmaseff reported. Furthers studies after highers in the lower lightmaseff reported. Furthers and and the lightmase intervences and whether or norther would include the relative provided on and whether or norther would utilize a health physiologues and whether or norther would utilize a health physiologues.



In the collegible arbitrary networks and provide the start mercerstany of the deconnect performance of the start starts became the provident and correspondent and corresponde





This study has showed that there is a significant injury rate for ballet, moder, and contemport dancers and need for Ather Traners to provide care for these individuals. Therefore, if Ather ther Traners to accore physes and trans program dancers and need for Ather traners to inter. The amount of load placet on the joints and functions of the upper and lower externities of a dancer are substantial placet comparable to other collegate a hilder. Within the ather the necessity for dance medicine within the ather training clinic the necessity for dance medicine within the ather training clinic the necessity for dance medicine within the ather training clinic the measure and expanding by the dancer and able action of the strategic date are substantial and are extremely be a misunderstanting by the dancer of the skills and abilities of the ather trainer and the types of care to the substant and adhilling of the provident rane meeds to have an adhill trained the adhilling and the specialized requirements of dance.

Through examination of the literature, prevalence of injury has been relatively in the ancers. Proper remeds to be med available to facilitate the dancers overall best performance. Althetic trainers who availy openuine interest in dance as a physical and artistic activity could be the first steps to beginning a world wide change in athletic training and dance medicine.



# REFERENCES

Harr, M., Menil, A., Bussek, J., Sopradikav, G. Myran, M. (2012). Billet higher-light predenter and the second seco

Poster Presentation: Treatment of Iliotibial Band Friction Syndrome Utilizing Positional Release Therapy



Treatment of Iliotibial Band Friction Syndrome Utilizing Positional Release Therapy

Jilian Helvey, ATC, Lindsay Warren, MS, ATC, CSCS, Nicote MacDonald, Dr.H.I, ATC, CSCS, Iblene Baker, EdD, ATC Department of Kinesiology, California Baptist University, Riverside, CA

# PURPOSE

ABSTRACT

The purpose of this case report was to assess the effectiveness of FHI in treating ITEFS Counsels included the hollowing. (D D patinatis with ITEFS present with TFP3 (b) Does FHT effectively decrease inclamess to palpation measured by the Numerical FHIng Scale NFB7(c) Does FHT decreases the level of dissubment as measured by the NFB and the D scalement in Fhysically Active (PPA) scale?

# **CASE REPORT**

Beground: This regort presentation examples of a 20 year out for the corresponding and congretation of the instance of the corresponding of the corresponding with interaction congretation of the instance of the corresponding of the corresponding of the instance dependion consenties in the matter control of the corresponding on the corresponding of the instance dependion consenties in the matter control of the corresponding on the corresponding of the instance dependion consenties in the matter control of the corresponding on the corresponding of the corresponding of the corresponding of the corresponding on the corresponding o

This case report involves a 20 year old, female cross country and track runner diagnosed virth IIIObia Bard Fiction syndrome. The patient reported complarities increased pain over the lateral fermoral extornit eported complarities increased pain over the lateral fermoral epicondyle with intrainor increased pain over the lateral fermoral epicondyle with intrainor increased pain over the lateral fermoral epicondyle with relation the lateral lateral film ann real on. The patient reported normality and the lateral fermoral epicondyle with significant pain of 7/10 at the ITB and 0/10 at the TLL muscle and where the ITB passes over the lateral emoral epicondyle with significant pain of 7/10 at the ITB and 0/10 at the TLL muscle and where the ITB passes over the lateral emoral epicondyle with significant pain of 7/10 at the ITB and 0/10 at the TLL Pange of motion assessment was within normal intent in all directions turb pain was positive for ITB lateses over the balance apicondyle with significant pain of 7/10 at the ITB and 0/10 at the TLL Pange of motion assessment was writhin formal intent in all directions turb pain was positive for ITB lates and the head emoral epicondyle with significant pain of 7/10 at the ITB and 0/10 at the TLL Pange of motion assessment was writhin normal intent in all directions turb and was positive for ITB lates and the head emoral epicondyle with significant pain of 7/10 at the patient reported an initial score of 21 on the Dissubiement in the Physically Active (DR), scale.

to normal activity without participation restriction. The patient was instructed not to perform any additional treatments (e.g., i.e. stretching) or take any pain medications (e.g. actaminophen, ibuprotein) FHW as appled for the soon and think interament and the patient wassistragged following an symptomatic re-examination that mached the initial exam. NHS scores were taken prior to and following each treatment, while DPA scale scores were recorded at initial evan and discharge. The patient wastreated using only RTT after the conclusion of practice. The corresponding RTT technique was applied for at otal of 3 minutes at the 2 Ths found. After treatment, the patient was allowed to return

It hasbeen suggested in the lite rature that over use injuries account by 2039's of the partologies treated in sports machine, yet an each prevatenes insolvoidens treated in sports machine, yet an friction at the latest homoria convig and lioticital Bao (TIE), has commony been diagnosed with lioticita Bao (TIE), has commony been diagnosed with lioticita Bard Friction Syndrome (TIES). The TIBas alto provisional consideration that and the originates at the latest consideration call and each showen the tibal treates considered consol them as a bail/test originates at the liatest considered consol them as a bail/test and prevents with its swelling partore that and free that is important the use and inclurance that actives the chemical hour all and mack of cardos of somatic listes organizations.

BACKGROUND



Postional Pelaess Therapy (FRT) is an indirect therapy designed to rear acute, suscention: somatic dystunction. FRT uses lender points (TPS) and a position of combort (POC) to relax the muscle-grindle mechanism by placing (Issue in a relaxed stortened stab.h. TimSpecirerepandod on thisconceptivith the Mechanical Coupling Theory which states that the POC allows for the restoration to the placed mechanism by placing (Issue) mechanical Coupling Theory which states that the POC allows for the restoration the placed mechanism by placing (Issue) mechanical Coupling Theory which states that the POC allows for the restoration the placed mechanism placed and the most severe PTrist followed by the more proximated to the most severe PTrist followed by the more proximated renetating of TBs. PRT has ndatewhy few contrandications and offres the potential to effectively free contrandictions and offres the potential to effectively free contrandictions and offres the

## RESULTS

The initial FFT reatment reduced the TP-from a 7 to a0 where the ITD assessors when the TP-inton a 6 to a0 where the large all more algobrough ead reduced the TP-from a 6 to a0 at the origin of the TL-muscle. These conditions the resulted in a docesse from a 6 to a 1 at the ITL-miscle. These conditions the result of the advectory of the TL-miscle. The advectory ad

In this case, the patient experienced a clinically significant change on the NES when reporting great again, a pain with patient, pain with motion, and pain during manual music testing (MMT) following each treatment session. A clinically significant change was also experienced by the patient from initial examplicitorate gas ameasured by the DRA scale. Additionally, the improvements were maintained from contreatment session to the next, at discharge, and taking examination post-discharge (i.e., at end of season) without attering the patient slevel of activity.



# DISCUSSION

Currently, a "gold-standard" for treating ITES does not exist. A review of the literature indicatestinatine application correctancia therapies (e.g., eccentric senders, pulsed ultrascund, massage) can be effective treatments when papied over several weeks for reducing pain and dystunction. Non-service and several anti-inflammatoris and on-week and exist. A new work weeks and a several anti-inflammatoris and on-week and exist of the pain anti-inflammatoris and on-week and exist of the pain anti-inflammatoris and other modilines (e.g., ointohoness continue to beased with limited access. Adminiation are evaluated the effectiveness of an intervention by determining it adjustion that patient. The DRA scale has a continue of the patient of the patient service of point sector with parsesting three and a MCD value of 6 point soft patients with existing exposed and with a patient suffection and anti-adjundent and associated with a patient suffection and anti-adjundent of a patient soft and a suffection and antices. The DRA scale and a MCD value of 6 point soft and a suffection and antices in the patient soft and a suffection and antices with acute patients with acute inputes. On the NRS, a 30% change of a relation of the massure and a mCD value of 9 points for an acutement and a sector on the NRS as a sport of relating software and a patient software and a patient software and a patient software and a mCD with a patient software and a model with a patient software and a patient software and a patient software and a software and a patient software and a softwa

In the present case, FFT produced an immediate clinically significant improvement and reserved the pattant's symptomes in three treatment assistors. The pattant was able to complete the entire cross county season and transition in that and field season without a return of patin or dysfunction. Further research is readed to determ the true reflectiveness of this technique in the treatment of ITEPS as well as on the mechanism that allows FFT to be assocreated in intervention.

# REFERENCES

00

TFL

1 0

Poster Presentation: The Effectiveness of Hip Strengthening to Address Patellofemoral Pain Syndrome in the Active Population

А

The Effectiveness of Hip Musculature Strengthening to Address Patellofemoral Pain Syndrome in the Active Population Daniela Medina, Nicole MacDonald, DrH4, ATC, CSCS, Jolene Baker, EdD, ATC, Lindsay Warren, MS, ATC, CSCS Department of Kinesiology, California Baptist University, Prverside, CA

# ABSTRACT

Correr is herebrands are provinted. THE correct HTE correct the medic correct to the medic co

# **OLINICAL SCENARO**

Part elofemoral pari syndrome (FFP3 is one of the most common three particular graph syndrome (FFP3 is one of the most common three particular strainty the hystochi variants of the population. It is estimated to cour in meany 40% of the population common to a higher incidence in framast a Heinstin may compliant of periopateliar and/or retropateliar pain aggraated by activities involving susting, ascending and essending and essending and essending and straintig and running, Athlough at true etiology continues to remain unknown several factorist severe and reacting and essending and essendin

Traditional dirical interventionsfor HTS/haveprimarily addressed patella: adjarment and motion with quadricops strengthening primarily focused on the oblique fiber storing, patellar taping, soft approaches have included patellar brenzing, patellar taping, soft tassuemobilization and stretching. Recent studies have presented acometizion between phi musculaure econtric contraction and HTS. Studies have shown that thip muscle weekness may lead to increased lated force acting more prominently on the patella therefore direction and thin threat for allow and may result in an increased lated force acting more prominently on the patella threefore direction and the investigation of hip musculature training to improve symptoms and function in individual with HTS.

# **CLINICAL QUESTION**

Can hip musculature strengthening help improve function and decrease pain for physically active individuals with patellofemoral pain syndrome?

# SEAROH STRATEGY

A database search wasconducted in SPCPTIDISLAS, Physical Etucation Index (Probase), Ascardone, Search Paneris, CMAH, and PubMe, Key words includes: Patient, active or physical stratementor, hip strengthening or hip exercise, culorone, decrease patient appropriation of the presense culorone, decrease patient appropriate of the patient of the patient used intrinsi abjects. The Interature was searched for studies with Oxford Carrier of Exidence Based Moderies (CEM) aveil 1 evidence, includence audies involved hip strength and PFSTinvestigation and excluded studies involved hip strength and PFSTinvestigation and excluded radios involved hip strength and PFSTinvestigation and excluded radios for audies and the studies and and astudies excluded hip strength and PFSTinvestigation and excluded radios and a start and a strength and PFSTinvestigation and excluded radios and a start and a strength and PFSTinvestigation and excluded radios and a strength and PFSTinvestigation and excluded radios and a strength and PFSTinvestigation and excluded radios and a strength and the PFSTinvestigation and excluded radios and radios and radios and radios and radios and radios radios and radios and radios and radios and radios and radios and radios radios and ra

8 mail et al (2013) Dolak et al (2011) Razeghi et al (2010) Nakagawa (2008)

CHARACTERISTICS OF STUDIES

	Ke ywords
Population (P)	active or physical
Intervention (I)	hip grengthening or hip conrcise
Compara tor (C)	N/N
Outcome (O)	decrease pain or ds crease symptoms or increase hip muscle strength

# **RESULTSOF SEARCH**

Hip Sterophening Esercise All four studies lowket all pstrengthening with exercises targeting mainly all four studies lowket and the strengthening with exercises targeting mainly the lateral hip rotators and the advance set the intervention. Exercises preserved water for include strengtoint movements at called whet chain exercises and reasted exercises. All four studies reported sprintcarily restorated part of the strengto strengto and set of the intervention. See Bytue 1) when compared to their respective ornitrol groups. Dotaket at reported a significant introdom on the momentating a chronol and a significant introdom on the momentating a chronol guides medicise 51.2-23.51 to 12.7-43.65 R. P.-0.003 and a significant increases in eccentricitor exert error prest torque (284.4-84.81 to 318.9-96.8, P-0.04).

Cuationaris/fices Strengthering Earch or knees strengthening excises as Mourt audie-utilized quartinespand/or knees strengthening variables accomparison. Exercises and instant of the strengthening variables accomparison. Exercises and instant or such as demonstrated a significant decreases in applicable right of a block applicable of the strengthening of the strengthening variable applicable of the strengthening of the strengthening variable decrease in part (See Figure 1). Variagement at insportation of decrease in part (See Figure 1). Variagement at insportation of decrease in part (See Figure 1). Variagement at insportation of decreases in part (See Figure 1). Variable of the sport as decreases in part



DISCUSSION

All four studies demonstrated a sgrificantly greater or more consistent reduction of pain or an increase in strateght when compared to other trypesolstrengtheming exercises to address PFTs. The findings in flour studies increate interuse of this enginesing programm information of PFTs (pain and function) for the physically active population. Although different programs were developed with virtualors in exercises, spetitions; sets or program duration, every study toused on thestrangtheming of the physically active address and extra programs were addressing and activations and exercises, spetitions; sets or program duration, every study toused on thestrangtheming of the packuctors and external rotators andes have verified the role of the packuctors and external rotators for nonal adduction and internal ordation; which cantered to later a patieliar tracking thus possible development of PFTS.

It is suggested that dinicians considered implementing any hip programming compared with FFS in addition to quarkness rateors for patients diagrows with FFS in addition to quarkness experiphening. Programs should begin with blass and regressed services and gadualty progress to functional services incorporating themost used (the hip missifications) and a sound service from a the form of the service of the hip missification of the service theorem and programs are preventiative measure towards FFS

Control group - quad sets; SLR, mini squats; wall slide s, step-ups, forward lunges

Knee group-terminal and 90° to 50° knee extension and mini squats

Quad group-quad sets; short-arc quads; SLR; terminal knee extension

ed Kinetic Chain E Exercise group-wall squat, archlateral store n, ral step – kne e

Intervention group-hip abductors and lateral rotators isometrics invarious positions, forward lunge with diastic resista nce

Hip /Konee group: terminal and 90° to 50° hi three externation and minid three externations size resistive evencions for hip musculature to hip

14 males and females

33 females

12 males and females 33 females 4 weeks

Study Design Participants Intervention

In the subject of hip strengthening and PFRS future research should bound and phenolic beams are accesses to subard hip exercises. Domparing therworypeesor beactises to subard hip exercises are accesses programs for specific physical extra phonolic and thornal exercises should include the investigation of other pelvice or hip muscless that may influence interatement of PFRS. In regarding the accession design, thure research should contain agreater samples are and contuct follow up periods in order to increase and the pelvice of hip musculature strengthening exercises. The influence and the applies should also be implemented in order to increase and large

# REFERENCES

Secondary: Eccentric pask torque; Gluteus MediusEMG activity

Primary: Pain- VAS

116

Primary: Pain-

Outcome Measures

electronic and service and ser

Sec ondary strength

1. Banas M. Kuala, D. Amang Tong, S. Sanasang Kong, S. Mayang Yun, Y. Sanasang Kong, S. Sanasang Kong, Sanasang

Significant increase in gluteus medius BMG activity (51.7±29.5 to 127.8±145.6; p+0.03]

Significant increase in 11 is connetric strength of hip fleeton (p-0.003), hip 51 hip external rotation to hip external rotation 13 (p-0.004) 33

Lefs-overtime 5 improvement from 15 bas dirre (56.5 ± 12.2) ft to 4 weeks (6.3 ± 12.7) a (p=0.006) h

us de strength =0.25; p=0.28; -0.43; p=0.17]

1. Significantly lesspain in hip/knee group (p=0.032) gl

Significantly less pain Si, in hip group than quad hi group (p=0.035) kn

In tervention group -significant de crease la pain (5.0±2.1 to 1.4±1.3; p=0.03)

Hip group- significant s pain docrease (4.6±2.5 (t to 2.4±2.5; p=0.001) p

An and a strong of the strong

Control group - no significant de creas ei pain (5.5±1.5 to 3.4±1.9; p±0.20)

Knee group significant C pain decrease (6.3±1.3 s to 4.8±1.8; p=0.005) p Hip/Koree group: significant pain decrease in (6.7±1.6 to 3.6±1.5; s p=0.001) p

Secondary: is ometric strength Quad group: no K significa nt pain decrease(4.2±2.3 to 1 4.1±2.5; p=0.88)

Ma in Findings

Bernson J. Boundario and K. Jiman. Set and A. Bonnali A. Bonnali

Supple menting hip aboutors and laveral rotator strengthen hig rotator strengthen hig program provides benefits for greater pain relief and pa

Hip group significant increase in strength increase in strength (6.5.3 ± 38, pe0.009) in misking in strengthening in any help with pain relief as opposed to and strengthening quad strengthening

Sk weeks of a CCC hip into and knee strengthering program ind with isolated hip strengthering has an reli increased effect on pain relief hin ene pain relief hin ene

150

Core Concepts: Understanding the Complexity of the Spinal Stabilizing Systems in Local and Global Injury Prevention and Treatment

Manuscript Submitted for Publication to the International Journal of Athletic Therapy and Training, April, 2014 Core Concepts: Understanding the Complexity of the Spinal Stabilizing Systems in Local and Global Injury Prevention and Treatment

Lindsay Warren, MS, ATC, CSCS, lwarren@calbpatist.edu; Russell Baker, DAT, russellb@uidaho.edu; Alan Nasypany, EdD, LAT, ATC, alann@uidaho.edu; Jeffrey Seegmiller, EdD, ATC, jeffreys@uidaho.edu, *University of Idaho* 

Correspondence should be directed to: Lindsay Warren 8432 Magnolia Avenue, Riverside, CA, 92604 951-552-8820 (p) 951-343-4343 (f) Iwarren@calbaptist.edu

#### Key Points:

- 1) Stabilization of the spine is a dynamic and complex task.
- Poor dynamic core stabilization results in increased risk of injury to the spine and extremities.
- 3) A patient will be unable to complete ideal movement patterns without proper muscular control, coordination, timing, strength, and endurance.

#### Abstract:

The core is central to almost all extremity movement, especially in athletics. Running, jumping, kicking and throwing, are dependent on core function to create a stable base for movement. Poor core strength, endurance, stiffness, control, coordination or a combination thereof can lead to decreased performance and increased risk of injury. Due to the core's many complex elements, none of which are more or less important than the next, it is imperative that athletic trainers have a systematic and comprehensive plan for assessing and treating patients with stability or motor control dysfunctions of the entire spinal stabilizing system. The purpose of this clinical commentary is to outline the structural (anatomical) components of the core and their functions, establish the elements of core stability (functional), review their importance in decreasing the risk of injury, and discuss the application of this information in athletic training. Despite the common use of the term "core" in rehabilitation, its definition, structure, purpose, and role in rehabilitation is still disputed among healthcare professions. The discussion of its importance to clinical practice continues as more is learned, through analysis of regional interdependence, about the role the core plays in injury management and prevention. To move forward, understanding is needed on the foundational purpose of the core in movement. Many agree that the core's primary function is to act as a singular unit, provide a stable foundation for movement, with or without the extremity, and provide local and global balance and strength. During movement, this task is accomplished with the use of passive and active core structures.<sup>1</sup>

While researchers in this area agree on the function of the core, debate continues as to what anatomical structures truly encompass the core. Many researchers propose the core is an integrated system, comprised of the passive spinal column of bony and ligamentous structures, the active spinal muscles and thoracolumbar fascia, and the neural control unit.<sup>1-5</sup> Kibler, Press, and Sciascia<sup>2</sup> postulate the core contains the musculoskeletal structures of the spine, hips, pelvis, abdomen, and the proximal lower limb. Akuthota and Nadler,<sup>1</sup> in contrast, define the core as a box, with the diaphragm as the roof, the pelvic floor and hip girdle as the floor, and the abdominals, spinal, and gluteal muscles serving as the walls.

Attempting to use a more holistic approach, Pavel Kolar<sup>6</sup> coined the term Integrated Spinal Stabilizing System (ISSS). The ISSS is comprised of the deep cervical flexors, deep spinal extensors of the cervical and thoracic regions, diaphragm, pelvic floor, and all sections of the abdominals and spinal extensors of the lower thoracic and lumbar regions.<sup>6</sup> Kolar's inclusion of the cervical spine is unique, as traditional models of the core focused on the lumbar and pelvic regions. The inclusion of the cervical spine, however, is important as the cervical spine plays an integral role in global stabilization. An example to illustrate this point is provided is demonstrated through the relationship between the progressive nature of the developmental kinesiology of infants and their developing central nervous system (CNS).<sup>6,7</sup> Newborns, for instance, are only able to stabilize their head in a sitting position for a few seconds<sup>.7</sup> While a more developed infant, with a more developed ISSS, is able perform more elaborate movements (e.g., reaching while sitting upright) while simultaneously maintaining the stability of the entire spinal column. To control extremity movement, the ISSS must brace in order for movement to be achieved against gravity, while providing protection for the cervical spine. Under ideal conditions, synergy of neck flexors and spinal extensors is in balance, allowing for controlled movements, and stabilization of the cervical and thoracic spine.<sup>6,7</sup>

#### **Core Stability- Theory in Practice**

With the purpose and components of the core identified, a clinician can begin to evaluate and apply the concept of "core stability." Core stability is another commonly used term with variation in its application. Most agree that proper functioning of the core is necessary to create stability and that dysfunction creates instability,<sup>1-4</sup> but identifying the key elements is necessary for implementation in practice. Much of the recent focus in the literature regarding core stability has focused on the following elements: muscular capacity, motor control, and coordination and stiffness.<sup>3-4</sup>

Muscular capacity is a muscle's ability to generate and/or maintain force.<sup>8</sup> Endurance and strength are components of muscular capacity, which are necessary for the spinal stabilizing musculature to achieve movement and sustain postures. The anatomical orientation of a muscle's origin and insertion determines its performance during certain tasks, whether strength or endurance oriented. The trunk muscles may be classified by their function into local or global muscles. The local muscles (e.g., intertransversarii, rotatores, multifidus) have direct attachments to the vertebrae, and are limited in their ability to generate torque. The primary contribution of local muscles is precise control of the individual spinal vertebrae. Due to their small moment arm and Type I fibers, the local muscles are well equipped to sustain postures and are resistant to fatigue.<sup>9</sup>

Conversely, global muscles (e.g., rectus abdominis, longissimus thoracis, external obliques) cross several spinal joints and attach to the hip and the thorax. As the global muscles have a larger moment arm with which to create torque, the ability to resist greater external forces is provided through these structures. Without sound muscular capacity in local and global muscle groups, the risk of injury and incidence of pain increases. Poor endurance of the trunk muscles is a predictor of occurrence of low back pain in men<sup>10</sup> and is commonly found in patients suffering from chronic low back pain.<sup>11,12</sup> Lehman,<sup>13</sup> Faries and Greenwood,<sup>9</sup> and McGill<sup>14</sup> believe endurance to be more important than strength in the spinal stabilizing musculature.

To improve muscular capacity of the core, many clinicians chose to design comprehensive strengthening programs. A common solution to muscular capacity issues in the core is comprehensive strengthening programs, which have been advocated for the prevention of various musculoskeletal disorders,<sup>15</sup> as well as performance enhancement.<sup>3</sup> However, there are problems with traditional core strengthening programming.

Firstly, assessing for and diagnosing muscle weakness is not as simple as strength or endurance testing. Individuals without proper CNS integration, for example, may be unable to adjust muscle strength to the demands of a movement or recruit accessory muscles for stabilization, making movement patterns inefficient and weak. A strengthening program then does not target what may be the primary etiology. Consequently, balance or strengthening exercises prescribed to a patient with poor stabilization or motor control may promote pathological movement patterns, increase the patient's pain, and ultimately be unsuccessful.<sup>1,6-7</sup>

Secondly, the activation of specific trunk muscles is dependent on several factors. Completing an exercise or maintaining a position on a stable or unstable surface results in differing muscle activation patterns and contraction intensities, as studied by intra-muscular EMG.<sup>17</sup> The body segment initiating motion during an exercise (e.g., trunk or pelvis) also changes the activation of trunk musculature.<sup>18</sup> The overload principle of strengthening is not advocated for the core musculature due to lumbar spine involvement. For example, the traditional sit-up increases compressive load on the lumbar spine and is considered an unsafe exercise.<sup>16</sup> Pelvic tilts also create increased spinal loading, as do back extensor strengthening machines. As a result, traditional strengthening often creates an unsafe load of the spine and may cause injury.<sup>1,16</sup> Several researchers, including Saal and Saal,<sup>19</sup> McGill,<sup>20</sup> and Sahrmann,<sup>21</sup> have recommended safer programs that are focused on sparing the spine in progressive stabilization exercises to address these problems.<sup>1</sup> Unfortunately, some

programs emphasize a rigid, rod-like spine during activity,<sup>20</sup> instead of promoting functional dynamic movement patterns.

Researchers studying muscle weakness patterns associated with injury have discovered weakness in the load transferring muscles (i.e., hip abductors and hip external rotators), not the local stabilizing or global mobilizing core musculature, as the primary predictor of injury<sup>8</sup> and low back pain.<sup>22</sup> Most studies report muscular recruitment changes of the core muscles, such as timing and control, both prior to and resulting from injury.<sup>8,15,23-25,27-28,30-31</sup> The implication of such findings suggests neuromuscular control (i.e., motor control) is of more importance that strength .<sup>3-4,8,15,</sup> 23-32,34,40,42,45

Motor control, an unconscious action, is the process of the CNS's generation and monitoring of movement commands, through feed-forward (e.g., anticipation) and sensory feedback mechanisms (e.g., proprioception, vision).<sup>32</sup> The brain plays an important role in spinal stability in anticipatory and reactive capacities. During this process, the brain subconsciously adjusts and adapts to internal and external forces, as well as anticipates movements of the extremities and the trunk. In fact, motor control performance is more efficient when subjects are not focusing on the movement being measured and instead have an external focus.<sup>33</sup> Training to improve motor control is accomplished by using the motor learning approach to retrain the *unconscious* use of a more functional pattern over the dysfunctional pattern. For the core, this involves preactivation of the deep trunk muscles and integration of the global trunk muscles in a progression from static to dynamic to functional tasks.<sup>34,35</sup> Any extremity movement is preceded by an anticipatory contraction of the core musculature to create the stable base for that movement.<sup>36</sup> Therefore, in order for a movement progression to be successful, this pre-activation must be attained. Co-contraction exercises, balance training, proprioceptive training, plyometrics, and sport specific skills have been identified as essential components in re-establishing and strengthening motor control.<sup>37</sup>

Dynamic core function is of paramount importance in injury prevention and rehabilitation. Sensory-motor control deficiency and neuromuscular imbalances of the core have been linked to the occurrence of low back and lower extremity injuries,

157

especially in females.<sup>25,30,31</sup> Inadequate motor control and poor muscular recruitment are among the causes of non-specific low back pain. The reduced stability of the segments of the spine creates altered and dysfunctional distribution of loads.<sup>38,39</sup> Additionally, neuromuscular imbalances result in poor control and decreased stability, which in turn cause compensatory movement patterns and poor motor recruitment down the chain, in an attempt to maintain function.<sup>16</sup> Motor re-learning of inhibited core muscles in patients with low back pain<sup>28</sup> and restoration of core motor control in patients at risk of anterior cruciate ligament injury<sup>37</sup> is more important than strengthening and endurance training of the core musculature.

The importance of proper motor control in preventing and treating extremity injuries is often associated with the term regional interdependence. Zuzulak et al.<sup>30</sup> demonstrated that proprioceptive deficits in the core contributed to decreased neuromuscular control of the lower extremity. Decreased motor control of the lower extremity led to increased valgus moment and strain to the ligaments of the knee.<sup>25</sup> Poor proximal neuromuscular control is one etiological factor in patellofemoral pain syndrome (PFPS). Earl and Hoch<sup>40</sup> determined that improving neuromuscular control of the core decreased pain and increased functional ability in female patients with PFPS. Nadler and colleagues also demonstrated that patients complaining of lower extremity overuse injuries were significantly more likely to seek treatment for low back pain within the following year.<sup>28,29</sup> In a systematic review, Macedo, Maher, Latimer, and McAuley<sup>39</sup> reported the outcomes of motor control exercise compared with other interventions for the treatment of patients with non-specific low back pain. The researchers indicated that motor control exercise was favored over minimal intervention and produced clinical outcomes that equaled the success of surgical L4-L5 fusion.39

Appropriate motor control allows for the last element, a combination of coordination and stiffness, to produce core stability. Through coordinated contraction of the spinal stabilizing system, stiffness is produced in the core and that determines joint stability. Stiffness of the spinal column is increased with the coordinated co-activation of the core musculature, which protects the structures of the spine during any activity.<sup>41</sup> Even under heavily loaded conditions, such as a heavy dead lift, spinal

ligaments are not strained and stability is the responsibility of the musculature.<sup>3</sup> For example, the coordinated and balanced co-activation of the internal obliques, transverse abdominis, and external obliques, tensions the thoraco-lumbar fascia and creates stiffness like a stabilizing corset. Coupled with the regulation of intraabdominal pressure (IAP) and control of the pelvic floor, spinal stability is created that precedes any conscious movement and is under autonomic control.<sup>23,30</sup> Immense, albeit unconscious, coordination of muscle activation is needed to successfully create uniform stiffness necessary to stabilize the spine in all three cardinal planes. If contractions were not coordinated, an imbalance in force or direction would arise resulting in movement dysfunction and compromised spinal stability.

#### **<u>Clinical Assessment Implications</u>**

The correlation between inappropriate core stabilization and injury, at the core and in the extremities, provides evidence for treating the core as the center of the foundational kinetic chain. The utility of the core is dependent on the coordinated action of the ISSS structures. The dynamic relationship of these structures makes the assessment and treatment of patients with core stability or motor control dysfunctions difficult to address. As a result, some have shifted clinical evaluation to focus on movement screens and the regional interdependence paradigm.<sup>6,7,42</sup> The goal of any movement pattern analysis is not to isolate structures, but to achieve a global understanding of a system and how structures interact with one another on a functional level to achieve a movement.<sup>42</sup>

Using the knee as an example, a clinician could attempt to isolate the different structures needed to perform a movement (e.g., seated knee extension), to determine potential involvement in a patient presenting with knee pain. In its simplest form, the knee would need functioning local bone (e.g., medial and lateral femoral condyles, tibial epicondyles), articular (e.g., capsule, ligaments) and muscular components (e.g. quadriceps muscle and tendon) to perform the movement, given proper neuromuscular control and balance with the antagonistic hamstrings. The local exam, however, would ignore the feed forward anticipation of the weight of the leg and the force needed to create the movement against gravity; the feed-back sensory information of the proprioception of the leg in space, communicating with the central nervous system to control the speed and direction of the movement, would also be missed. If any element of the system were damaged or inhibited, a dysfunctional movement would be created. The dysfunctional movement pattern would, in turn, begin affecting the other surrounding structures at the knee and along the kinetic chain. In short, dysfunction at the core could produce dysfunction, pain, and impairment at the knee. A physical exam evaluating the knee in isolation would create a local patho-anatomic diagnosis that would not address that cause of the pathology and would produce an insufficient rehabilitation program.<sup>6,42</sup>

The belief that the body does not function in isolation and dysfunction in one part of the body has direct implications for other parts of the body, is the premise of regional interdependence.<sup>42</sup> Motion at one segment will influence that of all other segments in the chain.<sup>19</sup> Thus, it is fitting that the dynamic system that comprises spinal stability would be best assessed using a movement assessment, to help create a complete picture of a patient's core motor control function.<sup>43-45</sup>

#### **Conclusion**

Based on the literature evidence, a logical conclusion is core performance is a comprehensive task comprised of multiple elements, of potentially equal importance, that have significant implications in the prevention and management of injury. Performance of the core is not simply determined by its strength or endurance, but also the coordination, timing, and control of multiple structures. As more is learned about the core stabilizing system, less emphasis is being placed on the passive structures in rehabilitation and more focus is being placed on the motor control and muscular capacity of the lumbo-pelvic complex<sup>8,46,47</sup>. With its complex nature, and significant implications in the management of injuries, it is important for athletic trainers to have a comprehensive understanding of core motor control and stability. It is critical to understand the function of each structure, the coordination of each structure to those related to it, and the role the brain plays in controlling those structures to provide effective prevention and rehabilitation programs to our patients. Implementation of assessment and rehabilitation strategies that incorporate motor

control and stability dysfunctions of the spine has the potential to positively improve patient care across a variety of clinical setting and patient presentations.

#### References

- 1) Akuthota V and Nadler SF. Core strengthening. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil.* 2004;85:86-92.
- 2) Kibler BW, Press J, Sciascia A. The role of core stability in athletic function. *Sports Med.* 2006;36(3):189-198.
- 3) Panjabi MM. The stabilizing system of the spine. Part I. Function, dysfunction, adaptation, and enhancement. *J Spinal Disord Tech*. 1992;5(4): 383-389.
- 4) Panjabi, Manohar M. "The stabilizing system of the spine. Part II. Neutral zone and instability hypothesis." *J Spinal Disord Tech.* 1992;5(4): 390-397.
- 5) Liemohn WP, Baumgartner TA, Gagnon LH. Measuring core stability. *The J Strength Cond Res.* 2005;19(3): 583-586.
- 6) Frank C, Kobesova A, Kolar P. Dynamic neuromuscular stabilization & sports rehabilitation. *Int J Sports Phys Ther*. 2013; 8(1): 62.
- Kobesova A, Kolar P. Developmental kinesiology: Three levels of motor control in the assessment and treatment of the motor system. *J Bodyw Mov Ther*. 2014;18(1):23-33.
- 8) Leetun DT, Ireland ML, Willson JD, Ballantyne BT, Davis IM. Core stability measures as risk factors for lower extremity injury in athletes. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*. 2004;*36*(6): 926-934.
- 9) Faries MD, Greenwood M. Core training: stabilizing the confusion. *Strength Cond J.* 2007;29(2): 10-25
- 10) Bering-Sorensen F. Physical measures as risk indicators for low-back trouble over a one-year period. *Spine*. 1984;9:106-19.
- 11) Holmstrom E, Moritz U. Trunk muscle strength and back muscle endurance in construction workers with and without low back disorders. *Scand J Rehabil Med* (1992);24:3-10.
- 12) Salminen JJ, Maki P, Oksanen A, Pentti J. Spinal mobility and trunk muscle strength in 15-year-old schoolchildren with and without low-back pain. *Spine*. 1992;17(4):405-11.
- 13) Lehman GJ. Resistance training for performance and injury prevention in golf. J Can Chiropr Assoc. 2006;50(1): 27-42

- 14) McGill SM, Childs A, Liebenson C. Endurance times for low back stabilization exercises: clinical targets for testing and training from a normal database. *Arch Physical Med Rehabil.* 1999;80(8): 941-944.
- 15) Willson JD, Dougherty CP, Ireland ML, Davis IM. Core stability and its relationship to lower extremity function and injury. *J Am Acad Orthop Surg*. 2005;*13*(5):316-325.
- 16) Juker D, McGill S, Kropf P, Steffen T. Quantitative intramuscular myoelectric activity of lumbar portions of psoas and the abdominal wall during a wide variety of tasks. *Med Sci Sports Exerc.* 1998;30:301-10.
- 17) Imai A, Kaneoka K, Okubo Y, Shiina I, Tatsumura M, Izumi S, Shiraki H. Trunk muscle activity during lumbar stabilization exercises on both a stable and unstable surface. *J Orthop Sports Phys Ther.* 2010;40(6), 369-375.
- 18) Vera-Garcia FJ, Moreside JM, McGill SM. Abdominal muscle activation changes if the purpose is to control thorax motion or pelvis motion. *J Electromyogr Kinesiol*. 2011;21(6):893-903.
- 19) Saal JA, Saal JS. Nonoperative treatment of herniated lumbar intervertebral disc with radiculopathy. An outcome study. *Spine* 1989;14:431-7.
- 20) McGill S. Low back disorders: evidence-based prevention and rehabilitation. Champaign (IL): Human Kinetics; 2002.
- 21) Sahrmann S. Diagnosis and treatment of movement impairment syndromes. St. Louis: Mosby; 2002.
- 22) Nadler SF, Malanga GA, Bartoli LA, Feinberg JH, Prybicien M, Deprince M. Hip muscle imbalance and low back pain in athletes: influence of core trengthening. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*. 2002;34(1):9-16.
- 23) Hodges, Paul W., and Carolyn A. Richardson. Contraction of the abdominal muscles associated with movement of the lower limb. *Phys Ther*. 1997;77(2): 132-142.
- 24) Hodges PW, Richardson CA. Delayed postural contraction of transversus abdominis in low back pain associated with movement of the lower limb. *J Spinal Disord*. 1998;11(1):46-56.
- 25) Zazulak BT, Hewett TE, Reeves NP, Goldberg B, Cholewicki J. The effects of core proprioception on knee injury a prospective biomechanical-epidemiological study. *Am J Sports Med*. 2007;*35*(3), 368-373.

- 26) Kavcic N, Grenier S, McGill SM. Determining the stabilizing role of individual torso muscles during rehabilitation exercises. *Spine* 29.11 2004;29(11): 1254-1265.
- 27) Cholewicki J, McGill SM. Mechanical stability of the lumbar spine: implications for injury and chronic low back pain. *Clin Biomech.* 1996;11.1: 1-15.
- 28) Nadler SF, Malanga GA, DePrince M, Stitik TP, Feinberg JH. The relationship between lower extremity injury, low back pain, and hip muscle strength in male and female collegiate athletes. *Clin J of Sport Med.* 2000;10(2): 89-97.
- 29) Nadler SF, Wu KD, Galski T, Feinberg JH. Low back pain in college athletes: a prospective study correlating lower extremity overuse or acquired ligamentous laxity with low back pain. *Spine*. 1998;23(7): 828-833.
- 30) Zazulak BT, Hewett TE, Reeves NP, Goldberg B, Cholewicki J. Deficits in neuromuscular control of the trunk predict knee injury risk a prospective biomechanical-epidemiologic study. *Am J Sports Med. 2007;* 35(7): 1123-1130.
- Zazulak BT, Cholewicki J, Reeves NP. Neuromuscular control of trunk stability: clinical implications for sports injury prevention. *J Am Acad Orthop Surg.* 2008;16(9): 497-505.
- 32) Van Vliet M, Heneghan N. Motor control and the management of musculoskeletal dysfunction. *Man Ther*, 2006;11: 208-213.
- 33) McNevin NH, Wulf G. Attentional focus on supra-postural tasks affects postural control. *Human Movement Science*. 200;*21*(2): 187-202.
- 34) Ferreira ML, Ferreira PH, Latimer J, Herbert RD, Hodges PW, Jennings MD, Maher CG, Refshauge KM. Comparison of general exercise, motor control exercise and spinal manipulative therapy for chronic low back pain: a randomized trial. *Pain.* 2007;131:31-37.
- 35) O'Sullivan PB, Phyty GD, Twomey LT, Allison GT Evaluation of specific stabilizing exercise in the treatment of chronic low back pain with radiologic diagnosis of spondylolysis or spondylolisthesis. *Spine.* 1997;22: 2959-2967.
- 36) Marshall P, Murphy B. Delayed abdominal muscle onsets and self-report measures of pain and disability in chronic low back pain. *J Electromyogr Kinesiol*. 2010;*20*(5): 833-839.
- 37) Caraffa A, Cerulli G, Projetti M, Aisa G, Rizzo A. Prevention of anterior cruciate ligament injuries in soccer. A prospective con- trolled study of proprioceptive training. *Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc* 1996;4:19-21.

- 38) Ebenbichler GR, Oddsson LI, Kollmitzer J, Erim Z. Sensory-motor control of the lower back implications for reha- bilitation. *Med Sci Sports and Exerc.* 2001;33(11): 1889e1898.
- 39) Macedo LG, Maher CG, Latimer J, McAuley JH. Motor control exercise for persistent, nonspecific low back pain: a systematic review. *Phys Ther.* 2009;89(1): 9-25.
- 40) Earl JE, Hoch AZ. A proximal strengthening program improves pain, function, and biomechanics in women with patellofemoral pain syndrome. *Am J Sports Med*. 2011;39(1): 154-163.
- 41) Arokoski JP, Valta T, Kankaanpa M, Airaksinen O. Activation of lumbar paraspinal iand abdominal muscles during therapeutic exercises in chronic low back pain patients. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil*. 2004;85: 823-832.
- 42) Cook G. Movement: Functional movement systems: screening, assessment, corrective strategies. On Target Publications. 2010.
- 43) Hibbs AE, Thompson KG, French D, Wrigley A, Spears I. Optimizing performance by improving core stability and core strength. *Sports Med.* 2008;38(12): 995-1008.
- 44) Myer GD, Chu DA, Brent JL, Hewett TE. Trunk and hip control neuromuscular training for the prevention of knee joint injury. *Clin Sports Med*. 2008;27(3): 425-448.
- 45) McGill SM, Grenier S, Kavcic N, Cholewicki J. Coordination of muscle activity to assure stability of the lumbar spine. *J Electromyogr Kinesiol*. 2003;13(4): 353-359.
- 46) Lee DG, Lee LJ, McLaughlin L. Stability, continence and breathing: the role of fascia following pregnancy and delivery. *J Bodyw Mov Ther*. 2008;12(4): 333-348.
- 47) Lee, Diane. *The pelvic girdle*. New York: Churchill Livingstone, 1989.

Lasater Clinical Judgment Rubric

RUBRIC	
SATER CLINICAL JUDGMENT	Noticing and Internating
Ľ	

		sunving and micipicing		
Effective NOTICING	Exemplary	Accomplished	Developing	Beginning
involves:				
Focused Observation	Focuses observation appropriately; regularly observes and monitors a wide variety of objective and subjective data to uncover any useful information	Regularly observes/monitors a variety of data, including both subjective and objective; most useful information is noticed, may miss the most subtle signs	Attempts to monitor a variety of subjective and objective data, but is overwhelmed by the array of data; focuses on the most obvious data, missing some important information	Confused by the clinical situation and the amount/type of data; observation is not organized and important data is missed, and/or assessment errors are made
Recognizing Deviations from Expected Patterns	Recognizes subtle patterns and deviations from expected patterns in data and uses these to guide the assessment	Recognizes most obvious patterns and deviations in data and uses these to continually assess	Identifies obvious patterns and deviations, missing some important information; unsure how to continue the assessment	Focuses on one thing at a time and misses most patterns/deviations from expectations; misses opportunities to refine the assesment
Information Seeking	Assertively seeks information to plan intervention: carefully collects useful subjective data from observing the client and from interacting with the client and family	Actively seeks subjective information about the client's situation from the client and family to support planning interventions; occasionally does not pursue important leads	Makes limited efforts to seek additional information from the client/family; often seems not to know what information to seek and/or pursues unrelated information	Is ineffective in seeking information; relies mostly on objective data; has difficulty interacting with the client and family and fails to collect important subjective data
Effective INTERPRETING involves:	Exemplary	Accomplished	Developing	Beginning
Prioritizing Data	Focuses on the most relevant and important data useful for explaining the client's condition	Generally focuses on the most important data and seeks further relevant information, but also may try to attend to less pertinent data	Makes an effort to prioritize data and focus on the most important, but also attends to less relevant/useful data	Has difficulty focusing and appears not to know which data are most important to the diagnosis; attempts to attend to all available data
Making Sense of Data	Even when facing complex, conflicting or confusing data, is able to (1) note and make sense of patterns in the client's data, (2) compare these with known patterns (from the nursing knowledge base, research, personal experience, and intuition), and (3) develop plans for interventions that can be invitiend of encres	In most situations, interprets the client's data patterns and compares with known patterns to develop an intervention plan and accompanying rationale; the exceptions are rare or complicated cases where it is appropriate to seek the guidance of a specialist or more experienced nurse	In simple or common/familiar situations, is able to compare the client's data patterns with those known and to develop/explain intervention plans; has difficulty, however, with even moderately difficult data/situations that are within the expectations for students, inappropriately requires advice or assistance	Even in simple of familiar/common situations has difficulty interpreting or making sense of data; has trouble distinguishing among competing explanations and appropriate interventions, requiring assistance both in diagnosing the problem and in developing an intervention
© Developed by Kathie Lasater, Ed.D	0. (2007). Clinical judgment developmen	t: Using simulation to create a rubric. Jo	nurnal of Nursing Education, 46, 496-50	3. January 2007

<sup>©</sup> Developed by Kathie Lasater, Ed.D. (2007). Clinical judgment development: Using simulation to create a rubric. Journal of Nursing Education, 46, 496-503.

Effective <b>RESPONDING</b>	Exemplary	Accomplished	Developing	Beginning
involves:				
Calm, Confident Manner	Assumes responsibility: delegates team assignments,	Generally displays leadership and confidence, and is able to	Is tentative in the leader's role; reassures clients/families in	Except in simple and routine situations, is stressed and
	assess the client and reassures	control/calm most situations;	routine and relatively simple	disorganized, lacks control,
	them and their families	may show stress in particularly	situations, but becomes stressed	making clients and families
		difficult or complex situations	and disorganized easily	anxious/less able to cooperate
<b>Clear Communication</b>	Communicates effectively;	Generally communicates well;	Shows some communication	Has difficulty communicating;
	explains interventions;	explains carefully to clients,	ability (e.g., giving directions);	explanations are confusing,
	calms/reassures clients and	gives clear directions to team;	communication with	directions are unclear or
	families; directs and involves	could be more effective in	clients/families/team members is	contradictory, and
	team members, explaining and	establishing rapport	only partly successful; displays	clients/families are made
	giving directions; checks for understanding		caring but not competence	confused/anxious, not reassured
Well-Planned	Interventions are tailored for the	Develops interventions based on	Develops interventions based on	Focuses on developing a single
Intervention/Flexibility	individual client; monitors client	relevant patient data; monitors	the most obvious data; monitors	intervention addressing a likely
	progress closely and is able to	progress regularly but does not	progress, but is unable to make	solution, but it may be vague, $\mathbf{B}$
	adjust treatment as indicated by	expect to have to change	adjustments based on the patient	confusing, and/or incomplete; p
	the client response	treatments	response	some monitoring may occur X
Being Skillful	Shows mastery of necessary	Displays proficiency in the use	Is hesitant or ineffective in	Is unable to select and/or 12
	nursing skills	of most nursing skills; could	utilizing nursing skills	perform the nursing skills
		improve speed or accuracy		
Effective REFLECTING	Exemplary	Accomplished	Developing	Beginning
involves:				
<b>Evaluation/Self-Analysis</b>	Independently evaluates/	Evaluates/analyzes personal	Even when prompted, briefly	Even prompted evaluations are
	analyzes personal clinical	clinical performance with	verbalizes the most obvious	brief, cursory, and not used to
	performance, noting decision	minimal prompting, primarily	evaluations; has difficulty	improve performance; justifies
	points, elaborating alternatives	major events/decisions; key	imagining alternative choices; is	personal decisions/choices
	and accurately evaluating	decision points are identified	self-protective in evaluating	without evaluating them
	choices against alternatives	and alternatives are considered	personal choices	
Commitment to	Demonstrates commitment to	Demonstrates a desire to	Demonstrates awareness of the	Appears uninterested in
Improvement	ongoing improvement: reflects	improve nursing performance:	need for ongoing improvement	improving performance or
	on and critically evaluates	reflects on and evaluates	and makes some effort to learn	unable to do so; rarely reflects;
	nursing experiences; accurately	experiences; identifies	from experience and improve	is uncritical of him/herself, or
	identifies strengths/weaknesses	strengths/weaknesses; could be	performance but tends to state	overly critical (given level of
	and develops specific plans to	more systematic in evaluating	the obvious, and needs external	development); is unable to see
	eliminate weaknesses	weaknesses	evaluation	flaws or need for improvement
The purpose of this survey is to and self efficacy.	gain insight into your participation in	the DAT as it pertains to changes in yo	our clinical reasoning skill, perceptions,	
--	---	--	--	
Your input is greatly appreciate provide here will be used to imp confidential and will not effect	ed. There is so much to learn about th prove the program for future DAT stud your academic standing in any way.	e student experience in such a new an ients. So please take your time and ans	d unique degree. The information you wer honestly. Your answers will be	
Thanks again!				
1. What is your age	?			
•				
2. What is your sex				
3. What is the high	est level of education y	ou have completed?		
O Bachelors	Entry Level Masters	O Post Professional Masters	O Doctorate/PhD	
4. What was your b	achelors degree area o	f study?		
Athletic Training				
Kinesiology				
Communication				
Exercise Science				
Nutrition				
Other (please specify)				
5. If you completed	a masters degree, wha	it was the area of your st	tudy?	
Athletic Training				
Education				
Exercise Physiology				
Kinesiology				
Other (please specify)		_		
6. If you completed	a Doctorate or PhD, wh	hat was your area of stu	dy?	
7. How many years	have you been practici	ng as a certified athletic	trainer? (please round	
up to the nearest ye	ear)			

. How many year				
141 11 - 41 4	s have you spent in	each setting? (If in	a dual role, pleas	e select both
ositions listing t	he secondary positi	on in the "Dual Rol	e" drop down)	
	#Years Spent	Туре	Dual Role?	Setting
Setting 1			-	•
etting 2				•
etting 3			<b>_</b>	•
etting 4			<b>_</b>	•
etting 5		<b>•</b>	<b>•</b>	<b>_</b>
etting 6		-		<b>_</b>
etting 7		-	•	<b>•</b>
etting 8		<b>_</b>	•	•
etting 9		<b>•</b>		•
etting 10		•	•	-
1. About how lor	ig have you been in	your current positi	ion?	
ears				
onths				
-	ow many hours per v	week do you spend	l acting as an edu	cator (in a

Clinical Reasoning	9	
16. During a typical o	lay, how many patients do yo	ou treat?
0-10	O 21-30	O 41-50
0 11-20	31-40	51 or more
Other (please specify)		
17. During a typical w	veek, how many patients do	you treat?
0-20	41-60	81-100
O 21-40	61-80	O 101 or more
18. About how much	time on average do you spe	nd completing a patient evaluation? (in
minutes)		
•		
19. About how much	time on average do you spe	nd performing a patient intervention? (in
minutes)		
•		
20. On average, what	t percentage of your time is s	pent on patient oriented documentation?
(e.g. SOAPs, EMR inp	utting, insurance, etc.)	
21. On average, what	t percentage of your time is s	pent performing administrative duties?
(e.g. staff meetings,	practice coverage, non-patier	nt care, etc.)
22. How often do you	attend national, regional, oi	r state meetings/symposia?
One per year		
Manual the state of the state o		

23. What seminars, courses, or other continuing education opportunities (offering a certificate of completion) have you taken outside of what has been offered at a national, regional, or state meetings/symposia? Please select all that apply.

None
Mulligan Concept, Upper Quadrant
Mulligan Concept, Lower Quadrant
Mulligan Concept, Advanced
McKenzie Institute MDT Part A
McKenzie Institute MDT Part B
McKenzie Institute MDT Part C
McKenzie Institute MDT Part D
Dynamic Neuromuscular Stabilization, Part A
Dynamic Neuromuscular Stabilization, Part B
Dynamic Neuromuscular Stabilization, Part C
Dynamic Neuromuscular Stabilization, Advanced
Total Motion Release
Myofascial Decompression (cupping)
Myofascial Release
Active Realease Technique
Instrument Assisted Soft Tissue Mobilization (Grastin, Gavilan, Guasha, etc.)
Primal Reflex Release Technique
Functional Movement Screen
Selective Functional Movement Assessment
Strain Counter-strain (Jones), I-Spine
Strain Counter-strain (Jones), II-Extremities
Strain Counter-strain (Jones), Upper Quarter
Strain Counter-strain (Jones), Pelvic Pain
Positional Release Technique (PRT-i), Spine and Pelvis
Positional Release Technique (PRT-i), puper Extremity
Positional Release Technique (PRT-i),d_wer Extremity
Positional Release Technique (PRT-i), Advanced Techniques
Other (please specify any other courses)

# 24. Self Efficacy is defined as the belief that one is capable of accomplishing a behavior or developing a competency.

#### How would you rate your self efficacy in the following areas?

	Very Low	Low	Moderate	High	Very High
Prevention	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	0	0
Clinical Evaluation and Diagnosis	0	0	0	0	0
Immediate Care	0	0	0	0	0
Treatment, Rehabilitation, and Reconditioning	0	0	0	0	0
Organization and Administration	0	0	0	0	0
Professional Responsibility	0	0	0	0	0
Research Implications in Clinical Practice	0	0	0	0	0
Patient Outcomes	0	0	0	0	0
Statistics	0	0	0	0	0
Basic Science	0	0	0	0	0
Scholarship	0	0	0	0	0
Mentorship	0	0	0	0	0

25. Self Efficacy is defined as the belief that one is capable of accomplishing a behavior or developing a competency.

# How would you rate your self efficacy in the following areas as compared to the entry level athletic trainer?

	Very Low	Low	Moderate	High	Very High
Prevention	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$
Clinical Evaluation and Diagnosis	0	0	0	0	0
Immediate Care	0	0	0	0	0
Treatment, Rehabilitation, and Reconditioning	0	0	0	0	0
Organization and Administration	0	0	0	0	0
Professional Responsibility	0	0	0	0	0
Research Implications in Clinical Practice	0	0	0	0	0
Patient Outcomes	0	0	0	0	0
Statistics	0	0	0	0	0
Basic Science	0	0	0	0	0
Scholarship	0	0	0	0	0
Mentorship	0	0	0	0	0

26. Self Efficacy is defined as the belief that one is capable of accomplishing a behavior or developing a competency.

How would you rate your self efficacy in the following areas as compared to an athletic trainer with your same number of years experience?

	Very Low	Low	Moderate	High	Very High
Prevention	$\bigcirc$	0	0	0	0
Clinical Evaluation and Diagnosis	0	0	0	0	0
Immediate Care	0	0	0	0	0
Treatment, Rehabilitation, and Reconditioning	0	0	0	0	0
Organization and Administration	0	0	0	0	0
Professional Responsibility	0	0	0	0	0
Research Implications in Clinical Practice	0	0	0	0	0
Patient Outcomes	0	0	0	0	0
Statistics	0	0	0	0	0
Basic Science	0	0	0	0	0
Scholarship	0	0	0	0	0
Mentorship	0	0	0	0	0

27. Self Efficacy is defined as the belief that one is capable of accomplishing a behavior or developing a competency.

How would you rate	e your self effi	cacy in the fo	llowing areas as	compared to	an expert?
	Very Low	Low	Moderate	High	Very High
Prevention	$\bigcirc$	0	$\bigcirc$	0	$\bigcirc$
Clinical Evaluation and Diagnosis	0	0	0	0	0
Immediate Care	0	0	0	0	0
Treatment, Rehabilitation, and Reconditioning	0	0	0	0	0
Organization and Administration	0	0	0	0	0
Professional Responsibility	0	0	0	0	0
Research Implications in Clinical Practice	0	0	0	0	0
Patient Outcomes	0	0	0	0	0
Statistics	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	0	$\bigcirc$
Basic Science	0	$\bigcirc$	0	0	0
Scholarship	$\bigcirc$	0	0	0	0
Mentorship	0	0	0	0	0

# 28. What do you project to be your top 5 challenges in the next year of coursework? (order from most challenging to least challenging)

1.	
2.	
3.	
4.	
5.	

29. What aspects of the program have you had the most difficulty with thus far?

-

<b>Clinical Reasonin</b>	g				
30. On average, how	/ much time p	er week do yo	u spend refle	cting on your cl	inical
practice?					
I have not had time					
less than 1 hour					
1-2 hours					
3-4 hours					
5 or more hours					
31. How satisfied ar	e you regardi	ng mentorship	o you have red	ceived during ye	our career?
	Very dissatisfied	Dissatisfi	ied	Satisfied	Very Satisfied
Professionally (prior to becoming a Certified Athletic Trainer)	0	0		0	0
Post Professionally (after becoming a Certified Athletic Trainer)	0	0		0	0
32. In questions 30 a month. In each case	and 31 you ar , you will be a	e asked about Isked to indica	your feelings ite how often	and thoughts o you felt or thou	luring the last ght a certain
way.	Never	Almost Never	Sometimes	Fairly Often	Very Often
In the last month, how often have you been upset because of something that happened unexpectedly?	0	0	0	0	0
In the last month, how often have you felt that you were unable to control the important things in your life?	0	0	0	0	0
In the last month, how often have you felt nervous and "stressed"?	0	0	0	0	0
In the last month, how often have you felt confident about your ability to handle your personal problems?	0	0	0	0	0
In the last month, how often have you felt that things were going your way?	0	0	0	0	0

33					
	Never	Almost Never	Sometimes	Fairly Often	Very Often
In the last month, how often have you found that you could not cope with all the things that you had to do?	0	0	0	0	0
In the last month, how often have you been able to control irritations in your life?	0	0	0	0	0
In the last month, how often have you felt that you were on top of things?	0	0	0	0	0
In the last month, how often have you been angered because of things that were outside of your control?	0	0	0	0	0
In the last month, how often have you felt difficulties were piling up so high that you could not overcome them?	0	0	0	0	0
34. What do you feel	guides you	r clinical decisio	on making at tl	nis time?	

35. When considering	ng the clinical rea	asoning process		
	Fully Disagree	Disagree	Agree	Fully Agree
I feel generally familiar with the problem solving approach	0	0	0	0
I feel at ease with the different steps of the process	0	0	0	0
I have no problems defining the context of a patient's problem	0	0	0	0
I feel capable of summarizing the main features of a patient's problem	0	0	0	0
I feel competent generating working hypotheses	0	0	0	0
I have no problem in re- evaluating my hypotheses in the light of new findings	0	0	0	0
I feel capable of organizing my hypotheses hierarchically	0	0	0	0
I have no difficulties in applying newly acquired information to a problem	0	0	0	0
I feel at ease managing patient problems	0	0	0	0
I feel competent applying the clinical reasoning process in patient care	0	0	0	0

36. Please answer the questions as honestly as possible, in a way that shows your current state AT THIS TIME, not how you would like to be, or how you think you should be. The first answer that pops into your head is what is needed.

Using the scale provided, decide how much you either agree or disagree with each statement. Next to each statement, mark the answer that BEST indicates how you feel.

	Strongly Disagree	Somewhat Disagree	Somewhat Agree	Strongly Agree
When I find an inconsistency between patient care and my knowledge, I take the time to get the answer.	0	0	0	0
Reflection has very little to do with critical thinking.	0	0	0	0
Even if I have complete assessment information, I find it difficult to choose an appropriate intervention.	0	0	0	0
I pride myself in thinking —outside the box in the clinical setting.	0	0	0	0
When something negative happens in the clinical area, I try to forget about it.	0	0	0	0
37				
I am confident about the rationale for my choice of athletic training interventions when caring for patients	Strongly Disagree	Somewhat Disagree	Somewhat Agree	
If I have adequate patient assessment information, I can choose an appropriate intervention.	0	0	0	0
When I know I'm right about a patient issue, I don't care what other team members think.	0	0	0	0
When I get new information, I carefully evaluate the reliability of the source.	0	0	0	0
I don't have trouble prioritizing the needs of my patients.	0	0	0	0

#### **Clinical Reasoning** 38. . Strongly Disagree Somewhat Disagree Somewhat Agree Strongly Agree If an athletic trainer or Ο Ο ()()clinician with more experience says I should do something, I do it, even if I'm not sure why. Ο Ο Ο Ο I know the strengths and limitations of my clinical practice. Ο Ο The only thing I focus on in Ο Ο the clinical area is the patient's physical condition. Ο Ο Ο Ο I don't mind putting in extra effort to be sure I'm giving safe care. Ο Ο Ο Ο I routinely look for new information that I can use

in the clinical setting.				
39	Strongly Disagree	Somewhat Disagree	Somewhat Agree	Strongly Agree
It's important to me to support my conclusions about patients with evidence.	0	0	0	O
I set goals to address my areas for improvement in the clinical setting.	0	0	0	0
When I learn something new, I share it with team members and peers.	0	0	0	0
I like to consider alternative solutions to difficult patient problems.	0	0	0	0
I am willing to change my viewpoint, if there is evidence to support a different one.	0	0	0	0

0	0	0	0
0	0	0	0
0	0	0	0
0	0	0	0
trongly Disagree	Somewhat Disagree	Somewhat Agree	Strongly Agree
0	0	0	0
0	0	0	0
0	0	0	0
0	0	0	0
	trongly Disagree	C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C	O O   O O